Getting the Wheels Rolling

A Guide to Using Policy to Create Bicycle Friendly Communities









ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Written by Sara Zimmerman, JD, and Karen Kramer, JD.

We would like to thank the many people who assisted in the development of this resource, some of whom are listed below. Our dedicated reviewers gave us detailed feedback that added immeasurably to the accuracy, scope, and content of this guide. Many others spoke with us and provided information that contributed to the examples and technical information in the report. Errors that remain are our own.

- Eric Anderson, Board of Directors, Association of Pedestrian and Bicycle Professionals (Bicycle and Pedestrian Planner, City of Berkeley, CA)
- Annick Beaudet, Bicycle Program Manager, City of Austin, TX
- Andy Clarke, Executive Director, League of American Bicyclists
- Mary Ebeling, Transportation Policy Analyst, State Smart Transportation Initiative Center on Wisconsin Strategy
- Ben Epperson, Program Manager, Knox County Health Department, TN
- Preston Jordan, Albany Rollers & Strollers
- Bill Nesper, Vice President of Programs, League of American Bicyclists
- Sandra Padilla, Land Use Program Director, TransForm
- Martha Roskowski, Director, Green Lane Project, Bikes Belong Foundation
- Hamzat Sani, Equity Fellow, League of American Bicyclists
- Nicole Schneider, Transportation Commissioner, Berkeley, CA
- Robert J. Schneider, Professor, University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, Department of Urban Planning
- Dave Snyder, Executive Director, California Bicycle Coalition
- Sahra Sulaiman, Communities Editor, Boyle Heights and South L.A., Streetsblog Los Angeles
- Midori Tabata, President, Alameda County Transportation Commission Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee
- David Vega-Barachowitz, Sustainable Initiatives Program Manager, National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO)

Graphic design & illustrations by Karen Parry | Black Graphics

Photos courtesy of Sara Zimmerman (pages 21, right 27, 36, 77, 84, 88, 97, bottom 103); Karen Parry (pages 31, 53, 81); Allan Crawford at Bike Long Beach (pages 11, 24, 59, 62, 63, 76); Flickr Creative Commons: Gregraisman (pages 36, 39), Elvert Barnes (page left 27), and Steven Vance (pages 37, top 47); and pedbikeimages.org: Bill Daly (page 31), Carl Sundstrom (page top 38), Adam Fukushima (pages bottom 38, bottom 47, top 103), Steven Faust AICP (page top 46), Laura Sandt (bottom 46), Dan Burden (pages 57, 91), East Bay Bicycle Coalition (page 78), and Mendulous Shank (page 79).



FOREWORD

Bicycling is a simple solution to many of the complex problems facing our communities today. We know that if more people rode bikes, our nation would be healthier and our quality of life would improve. We all remember the joy and sense of freedom and discovery we experienced riding bikes when we were young. We want to ride more, and we know it would be good for us.

The big question is, how do we do it? Generations of Americans have largely given up riding their bikes and can't imagine riding in the traffic they see driving to work every day. How can we make bicycling safe and fun again?

That's where bicycle friendly policy comes in. ChangeLab Solutions has developed a guide to help communities make the changes that will allow us to enjoy bicycling to work, to school, and around town. This guide feeds directly into the League of American Bicyclists' Bicycle Friendly Community program, which offers a roadmap, or blueprint, of a community where riding a bike is safe, convenient, and FUN. Becoming a Bicycle Friendly Community isn't complicated – especially with the clear thinkers at ChangeLab Solutions explaining what you need to know about the policies it takes to create lasting improvements.

Getting the Wheels Rolling: A Guide to Using Policy to Create Bicycle Friendly Communities lays out the DNA of a Bicycle Friendly Community, making it easy to implement the policies that will make a difference. Together we can get the wheels rolling for millions of Americans who are waiting to be invited back out on the road.

Let's roll!

ndy Claby

Andy Clarke President, League of American Bicyclists

3

CONTENTS

- **6** INTRODUCTION
- 9 WHAT'S IN THIS GUIDE?

12 CHAPTER ONE: BICYCLING – THE BIG PICTURE

- 13 Why Should Communities Care About Bicycling?
- 13 Bicycling on the Rise
- 19 Bicycling's Tremendous Potential for Growth
- 20 Who Is Bicycling and Who Is Not?

23 CHAPTER TWO: THE ROLE OF POLICY IN INCREASING BICYCLING

28 CHAPTER THREE: THE FOUR REQUIREMENTS – AN ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK

- 29 Requirement 1: Safety
- 29 Requirement 2: Convenience
- 30 Requirement 3: Social Acceptability
- 30 Requirement 4: Access

34 CHAPTER FOUR: POLICIES THAT MAKE TRAVEL BY BICYCLE SAFER

- 36 STRATEGY: Safer Bikeways
- 40 POLICY: Complete Streets
- 41 POLICY: State Bikeway Laws
- 45 POLICY: Road Design Guidelines
- 46 POLICY: Bicycle Friendly Traffic Control Devices (Bicycle Signals, Bike Boxes, and Bicycle Detectors)
- 47 POLICY: Traffic Calming
- 48 POLICY: Road Diets: Retrofitting Existing Roads with Bike Lanes
- 49 POLICY: Multi-Modal Level of Service Standards
- 50 STRATEGY: Encouraging Safer Driving
- 51 POLICY: Require Safe Passing of Bicyclists
- 52 POLICY: Anti-Harassment Ordinances
- 52 POLICY: Anti-Dooring Protection
- 53 POLICY: Right Hook Turn Protection
- 54 POLICY: Prohibit Obstruction of Bicycle Lanes
- 54 POLICY: Police Training on Bicycle Safety

56 CHAPTER FIVE: POLICIES THAT MAKE TRAVEL BY BICYCLE MORE CONVENIENT

- 57 STRATEGY: Bicycle Parking
- 58 POLICY: Require Bike Parking in New Development and Major Remodels
- 58 POLICY: Require Parking Lots and Garages to Provide Bicycle Parking
- 59 POLICY: Commuter Bicycle Parking in Office Buildings
- 59 POLICY: Require Large Civic Events to Provide Bicycle Parking
- 59 POLICY: Local Government Installation of Bike Parking
- 60 POLICY: Support Bicycle Parking through Requiring LEED Certification
- 60 POLICY: Tax Incentives for Bike Parking
- 60 STRATEGY: Bicycling and Public Transit
- 62 POLICY: Bicycles on Board
- 63 POLICY: Transit-Focused Bicycle Parking
- 64 POLICY: Bikeways to and from Transit
- 64 STRATEGY: Bicycle Flow at Intersections
- 64 POLICY: Stop as Yield

- 65 POLICY: Adjusting Signage to Support Bicycle Flow
- 65 POLICY: Adjusting Enforcement Priorities
- 65 STRATEGY: Financial Incentives for Bicycling
- 66 POLICY: Bicycle Commuter Reimbursement
- 66 POLICY: Matching Bicycle/Transit Subsidy
- 66 POLICY: Parking Cash-Out Law
- 67 POLICY: Reimbursement for Work Travel by Bicycle
- 67 STRATEGY: Reflecting the True Costs of Driving
- 68 STRATEGY: Making Everyday Destinations Bikeable

70 CHAPTER SIX: POLICIES THAT PROMOTE BICYCLING AS SOCIALLY ACCEPTABLE

- 72 STRATEGY: Drivers and Bicycle Safety
- 72 POLICY: Incorporate Bicycling Safety into Driver Education and Training Courses
- 73 POLICY: Incorporate Bicycle Safety into Driver Licensing Requirements
- 73 POLICY: Require Bicycle Safety Training for Professional Drivers
- 74 POLICY: Incorporate Bicycle Safety into Traffic School Curriculum
- 74 STRATEGY: Bike Education in Schools
- 74 POLICY: Requiring Bicycle Education in Elementary Schools
- 75 POLICY: Requiring Bicycle Skills and Vocational Training in High Schools, Adult Schools, and Community Colleges
- 76 STRATEGY: Encouragement Activities
- 76 POLICY: Establish "Open Streets"
- 76 POLICY: Bicycle Friendly Business Districts
- 77 POLICY: Support Safe Routes to Schools
- 78 POLICY: State and Local Government Sponsorship of "Bike to Work Day/Week/Month"
- 79 POLICY: Police Bicycle Patrols

80 CHAPTER SEVEN: POLICIES THAT INCREASE ACCESS TO BICYCLES

- 81 POLICY: Bike Share
- 85 POLICY: Bike Fleets for Government Employees
- 86 POLICY: Encourage Private Employers to Provide Bike Fleets
- 86 POLICY: Bike Distribution and Maintenance

87 CHAPTER EIGHT: COUNTERPRODUCTIVE POLICIES

- 88 Mandatory Bike Licensing or Registration
- 89 Bike Bans

90 CHAPTER NINE: PUTTING IT ALL TOGETHER – THE ROLE OF BICYCLE PLANS AND OTHER GOVERNMENT PLANS

- 91 STRATEGY: Bicycle and Multimodal Plans
- 95 STRATEGY: Comprehensive Plan
- 95 STRATEGY: State Level Transportation Plans

96 CHAPTER TEN: FUNDING BICYCLE FRIENDLY POLICY

- 97 Federal Transportation Funding
- 98 State and Local Funding

102 CONCLUSION

- **104 APPENDIX**
- **111 ENDNOTES**

5

INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

Bicycling improves our health, benefits the local economy, and helps create more vibrant, sustainable communities. But even as more and more people are getting around by bicycle, there is still tremendous room for growth in the numbers of people who bicycle. One of the most powerful ways to increase the amount of bicycle travel is the adoption of bicycle friendly laws and policies. Policies can remove obstacles to bicycling, create incentives for bicycling infrastructure, and make it easier and safer to bicycle. That means that state and local policymakers have a pivotal role to play in the future of bicycling. But some policymakers aren't sure where to start. Others are daunted by the challenge of how to effectively use policy to promote bicycling, especially in light of the vast array of state and local policy options.

This resource is intended to be a practical guide to using policy to support bicycling. In describing the universe of bicycle-supportive policies, this guide provides a toolkit for decision-makers, government officials, community groups, and others interested in making all types of communities more bicycle friendly.

The experience of Austin, Texas, demonstrates just how much can be accomplished with bicycle friendly policies, dedicated city staff, a clear vision, and community involvement. In 1990, Austin was like many American cities: there were few bike lanes, there was little consideration for bicycling, and the percentage of commuters bicycling to work was a dismal 0.79 percent.

Austin's transformation into one of the best American cities for bicycling started with policy. A series of bicycle plans enabled Austin to spell out the policies and strategies necessary to achieve the community's vision of increasing bicycle use and making bicycling safe. Austin also implemented a "complete streets" policy, which ensures that bikeways are efficiently installed during planned road construction and routine maintenance. Austin hired a bicycle program manager and gradually increased bicycle program staff, creating a team that vets bicycling infrastructure proposals with stakeholders and balances them with other city priorities. The result: some Austin neighborhoods now have a bicycle mode share of over 10 percent, and Austin has more than 200 miles of bikeways, including innovative bikeway designs that protect bicycle riders from traffic.

But Austin didn't stop there. To increase convenience for people bicycling, Austin passed a law requiring bike parking for all new development. Austin installed 3,600 bike racks at existing businesses and requires bicycle parking at all city-sponsored special events. In addition, Austin zoning laws encourage the installation of showers in commercial buildings, mixed-use development near transit, and tree-lined commercial corridors, all of which make it easier and more comfortable to bicycle. Other Austin policies also show the city's dedication to bicycling and support a citywide understanding that bicycling is a normal, socially

"One thing that people say most in regard to how they feel about biking is that they feel this sense of joy. So, when we talk about investments in things, when we invest in something and one of the returns on that investment is joy, I can't think of a better utilization of resources — in addition to how it fits into our transportation system, and the positive effects it can have on our environment, our neighborhoods, and the health of everyday people who partake of the opportunities to cycle to get from one place to another."

Marc Ott, Austin City Manager¹

STREET CLOSED TO CARS EVERY SAT & SUN

beneficial way to get around. Five percent of Austin police officers ride bicycles. Moreover, city employees have access to a city bike fleet, and a city-wide bike share program is underway. Austin also hosts fun city events like bike-to-work-day breakfast stations and happy hours, bicycle commuter challenges, and Viva!Streets, an "open streets" festival in which streets are closed to car traffic. Today, Austin has increased the number of bicycle commuters by 250 percent, doubling the national average. Austin has been awarded Silver Level Bicycle Friendly Community status by the League of American Bicyclists, has attained its target of a 2 percent bicycling rate ahead of schedule, and is well on its way to realizing its goal of a 5 percent bicycling rate by 2020.

Creating a bicycle friendly community is a significant commitment. But as the Austin experience shows, it can be done – even where communities are starting with low bicycling rates and little existing bicycle infrastructure. And the rewards are high. Not only is bicycle use rising in Austin, but crash rates are going down. Using policy to make bicycling an integral part of daily life is a win for everyone, as individuals become active and healthy, neighborhoods grow to be more lively and sustainable, and local economies and the environment benefit.

WHAT'S IN THIS GUIDE?

WHAT'S IN THIS GUIDE?

CHAPTER ONE: BICYCLING - THE BIG PICTURE

Chapter One provides an overview of bicycling, documenting the many ways bicycling benefits each individual's personal health as well as the health and vitality of the community at large. While a bicycling resurgence is underway in many places around the country, the number of trips made by bicycle in the United States is still only a tiny fraction of all trips made, and lags far behind rates achieved in many other countries. This chapter also looks at the many obstacles to bicycling that exist, how to overcome them, and the huge gains that can result from the right set of policies.

CHAPTER TWO: THE ROLE OF POLICY IN INCREASING BICYCLING

Chapter Two explains our focus on policy, describing why policy change provides an effective approach to bringing bicycling out of the margins and into the mainstream of our transportation system. Numerous aspects of governance – from education to planning to taxation – have the potential to support bicycling. This chapter introduces policy makers and stakeholders to the wide array of available policy options, and describes how state and local governments can employ policy to create bicycle friendly communities and increase bicycle ridership.

CHAPTER THREE: THE FOUR REQUIREMENTS - AN ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK

There are four key requirements that must be in place before people will choose to get around by bicycle:

- SAFETY: Travel by bicycle must feel sufficiently safe;
- CONVENIENCE: Travel by bicycle must be sufficiently convenient;
- ACCEPTABILITY: Travel by bicycle must be viewed as a normal and socially acceptable form of transportation;
- ACCESS: People must have access to bicycles when they need them.

This chapter discusses each requirement, and how policies can help establish the conditions to satisfy these requirements in a community. The policies presented in this guide are organized according to the requirements that they help achieve (though some policies may facilitate more than one requirement). This format not only helps readers understand how each policy supports bicycling, but also enables policy makers to determine whether they are taking steps to meet all four necessary conditions.

Chapters Four through Seven present the policy options for bicycle friendly policies, with one chapter devoted to each of the above-listed four requirements. Since communities around the country are developing and adopting new bicycle friendly policies at an enthusiastic pace, this guide does not purport to cover every possible policy option. It does, however, review many kinds of policies that jurisdictions can consider, whether they are simply interested in tweaking existing codes, laws, and plans, or are looking to adopt new policies altogether.

- **CHAPTER FOUR** describes policies that improve **safety** for people bicycling.
- **CHAPTER FIVE** sets out policies designed to make bicycling convenient.
- **CHAPTER SIX** describes policies that help people see bicycling as a normal, **socially acceptable** activity.
- **CHAPTER SEVEN** provides descriptions of policies that are designed to increase **access** to bicycles.

Policy examples are provided from every region of the country and all types of communities, from small towns to mega cities. These chapters provide many resources, including links to existing policies, extensive footnotes, model policies where available, and additional examples and resources.

Sometimes it is just as important to know what policies to avoid as what policies to adopt. This chapter describes some types of laws and policies that should be avoided because they will likely undermine efforts to increase bicycle ridership.

CHAPTER NINE: PUTTING IT ALL TOGETHER - THE ROLE OF BICYCLE PLANS AND OTHER GOVERNMENT PLANS

This chapter brings it all together by describing how to effectively make use of the policy options discussed in Chapters Four through Seven, exploring how jurisdictions can engage their communities in the process of creating a customized bicycle plan. This big picture thinking and planning can allow communities to select which bicycle friendly policies will overcome identified obstacles, tailor approaches to meet the specific needs of the community, and set forth strategies for policy adoption, implementation, and enforcement.

This chapter provides a brief overview of funding issues, including a general description of how funding can be made available for bicycling infrastructure projects and what innovative sources of funding may exist to support bike friendly policies and approaches.

The appendix includes charts that allow readers to review all the bike friendly policies at a glance.



Communities around the country are developing and adopting new bicycle friendly policies at an enthusiastic pace.

CHAPTER ONE: BICYCLING — THE BIG PICTURE

CHAPTER ONE: BICYCLING — THE BIG PICTURE

WHY SHOULD COMMUNITIES CARE ABOUT BICYCLING?

he average American drives more than 13,000 miles every year.² We use our cars to do just about everything, from picking up milk a few blocks from home, to commuting to work, to visiting friends. Our heavy reliance on cars for transportation is a legacy of extensive public investment in suburbs, highways, and roads designed for cars, and little investment in public transit, bikeways, and walkways. In recent years, the cost of our auto-dependency has become increasingly stark. Motor vehicle emissions pollute the air; increase asthma and respiratory illness, particularly among children and older adults; and contribute to climate change.³ Constant travel by car eliminates many opportunities for routine physical activity, which is one reason why two-thirds of American adults today are overweight or obese, and so at higher risk for heart disease, diabetes, strokes, cancer, and other health problems.⁴ Our carcentered lifestyle has other negative byproducts as well: car crashes are one of the leading causes of death in the country, and dependence on a volatile oil market creates economic uncertainty and foreign policy vulnerability.⁵ In addition, congestion is a serious problem in most urban areas, and each year we waste \$87 billion on lost productivity and fuel while stuck in traffic.⁶

There are also less measureable social impacts. Time lost to daily rush-hour traffic jams is time that could be spent with family or friends. And unlike bicycling or walking, which allows for interaction with passing friends and neighbors, traveling by car can be an isolating experience.

BICYCLING ON THE RISE

Today, bicycling is getting a fresh look as a practical alternative to driving. Bicycling is being welcomed back as part of a movement toward creating lively, sustainable neighborhoods and city centers where streets are designed to be used not just by cars, but also by people bicycling and walking. Americans' insatiable demand for cars is, for the first time, beginning to flag. After decades of steady growth in driving, the number of miles driven by each American per year has dropped for almost 10 years in a row.⁷

At the same time, bicycling rates are once again on the rise. Between 1977 and 2009, the total number of annual bike trips in the United States more than tripled.⁸ Almost twice as many commuters biked to work in 2009 as in 2000.⁹

"

"I have traveled all over this country in the past 14 months, and everywhere I go people want better [transportation] options. Options that offer reduced greenhouse-gas emissions. Options that offer reduced fuel-consumption. Options that offer better health. Options that bring communities together."

Former US Secretary of Transportation, Ray LaHood¹⁰

BICYCLING: AN AMERICAN TRADITION

As more and more Americans are rediscovering the benefits of bicycling, it is worth remembering that bicycling has a long history in the United States. More than one hundred years ago, a bicycling craze swept across the country with the advent of the modern bicycle. In the 1880s, millions of Americans exalted in the mobility that affordable bicycles provided. Bicycle social clubs were popular, along with bicycle track racing on oval-shaped cement tracks called velodromes.¹¹ Soon, bicycling organizations started lobbying for the paving of dirt and gravel roads to make bicycling easier, literally paving the way for the automobile.¹² But once cars began to be mass produced, car manufacturers and motorist clubs led



campaigns to redefine the street as a place for cars, not bicycles or pedestrians, and bicycles became relegated to the status of a toy for children.¹³

This trend accelerated following World War II, as the federal highway system, supported by federal housing and urban development policies, created an era of suburban sprawl, and communities were designed around the automobile, with little regard for people biking or walking. In the early 1970s, the oil crisis ignited renewed interest in bicycling, but in the absence of policy change and investment in infrastructure, interest eventually waned.



"

"Biking has always been part of my life. However, it wasn't until I became president [of an advertising agency] that I discovered that biking is also good for the bottom line. During the past few years, our agency has steadily added infrastructure and other ways to make it a cinch to bike, walk or run to work Sure, these changes were the right thing to do. But a funny thing happened along the way: Our employees are healthier, happier and more productive. We're attracting some of the best talent in the industry. And, most important, we're attracting new and exciting clients to fuel the bottom line."

Christine Fruechte, CEO of Colle+McVoy²⁶



"As the number of bicyclists and bicycle trips in Wisconsin increases, so does the impact of bicycling on our state and local economies.... [We now know] what we've suspected all along: that our investments in bicycling and transportation in general generate significant returns in the form of public health and safety, economic development and job growth."

Governor Jim Doyle of Wisconsin (introducing report on economic benefits to Wisconsin related to bicycling, which exceeded \$500 million not including tourism)²⁷ Multiple factors underlie this bicycling renaissance. Many people who bicycle are motivated by an appreciation of how bicycling can improve individual health and quality of life. Local communities are investing in bicycling because they see how bicycling assists local businesses, protects public health and the environment, creates vibrant communities, and strengthens budgets. The benefits of bicycling include the following:

HEALTH: Numerous studies have shown that "active transportation" travel by bicycle, walking, or similar means - supports better health. Active transportation provides people with a convenient opportunity to engage in aerobic, low-impact exercise while simultaneously accomplishing the tasks of daily living, such as commuting to work or taking care of errands. Physical activity is key to good health, but Americans aren't getting enough. Adults who bicycle enjoy lower weight and blood pressure, and are less likely to become diabetic.¹⁴ These benefits show up in state-by-state statistics as well, as states with the highest levels of bicycling and walking have the lowest rates of obesity, high blood pressure, and diabetes.¹⁵ Biking supports long-term health too - adolescents who bicycle are 48 percent less likely to be overweight as adults.¹⁶ Bicycling also contributes to health in other ways. Poor air quality causes a range of health problems, from asthma to cancer, and bicycling reduces the vehicle emissions that are prime contributors to air pollution.¹⁷ Moreover, physical activity has benefits beyond just physical health; it is linked to higher cognitive functioning and greater emotional wellbeing, and can help prevent mental health disorders.¹⁸ In other words, regular physical activity such as bicycling helps people think better and feel better.

LOCAL BUSINESSES: Bicycling is good for local business. Unlike drivers, people bicycling travel at a speed that allows them to slow down and interact with their surroundings, making them more likely to stop, shop, and explore an area. Research concludes that "bicyclists riding through town will stop and spend money."⁹ In fact, multiple studies show that people who visit shopping districts by bicycle spend more on a weekly basis than those who visit such districts by car.²⁰ After New York City installed protected bicycle lanes on 8th and 9th Avenues in Manhattan, retail sales for locally-based businesses on 9th Avenue increased up to 49 percent, compared to a 3 percent average increase in the rest of the borough.²¹ The overall economy in Wisconsin has significantly benefitted from investments in bicycling.²² In Davis, California, shops along major bicycling routes rent at a premium because people bicycling bring in so much business.²³ Employers can also benefit when employees bicycle to work. One employer in Minneapolis, Minnesota, reduced health care costs 4.4 percent after offering incentives to employees to commute by bicycle.²⁴

STATE AND MUNICIPAL BUDGETS: Bicycling can provide two types of benefits for state and municipal budgets: higher revenues and lower costs. On the revenue side, bicycle friendly shopping districts can yield higher sales tax revenue. In Madison, Wisconsin, for example, sales tax revenue increased 3 percent in shopping areas in which new bicycle racks were located.²⁵

Bicycling also enhances transit revenue, because people who would otherwise be deterred from public transit, due to long distances between transit stops and destinations, may find public transit a viable option when combined with a bicycle. As a result, bicycling has the potential to improve the finances of public transit systems. In addition, homes located near bike routes or in bike friendly communities show higher property values, providing communities with a stronger tax base.²⁸ Strong bicycling infrastructure has also been shown to attract new development, businesses, and skilled employees, further contributing to the tax base.²⁹

On the cost side, bicycling reduces expensive street repairs, since bicycles cause virtually no wear and tear on roads.³⁰ Indeed, skyrocketing asphalt costs have become a serious challenge for governments operating with limited resources.³¹ Replacing car trips with bicycling trips can ease congestion for motorists, decreasing the pressure on local governments to build costly new roadways or expand existing roads. Because gas tax revenues do not cover even half of the cost of new roadways, lessening the amount of construction is beneficial for general funds.³²

QUALITY OF LIFE: Because people bicycling travel more slowly than cars and can easily engage with their community, bicycling facilitates more social contact and lively, thriving neighborhoods. Not surprisingly, bicycle ridership is typically associated not only with vibrant neighborhoods, but with a community's livability rating.³³ Where traffic is congested or parking is scarce or expensive, bicycling saves time and money.³⁴ And, for most people, bicycling is fun.

TRANSPORTATION EQUITY: While often overlooked, transportation costs and challenges are a significant aspect of poverty.³⁵ Transportation is necessary for basic life functions, including finding and keeping jobs, accessing medical services, getting to school, obtaining food, and carrying out many other requirements of daily life. The cost of motor vehicle transportation, generally the second largest household expense after housing, can be a significant burden for low-income households. In 2011, the average cost of operating a car (not including the cost of the vehicle itself) was close to \$9,000 per year – almost 20 percent of the median family income, and an even higher percentage of income for low-income families.³⁶ These costs make car ownership prohibitive for many low-income families. While 96 percent of middle or upper middle income families own cars, the rate of car ownership among welfare recipients is under 40 percent, and perhaps as low as 20 percent.³⁷ Similarly, 20 percent of older adults do not own cars.³⁸ Disparate access to cars also falls more heavily on people of color. Nineteen percent of African-Americans and 14 percent of Latinos lack access to cars, compared with only 5 percent of whites.³⁹ Frequently, public transportation is not a practical alternative. Because of long-term underinvestment and sizable budget cuts to public transit, bus and rail service to many destinations is inadequate and regular fare hikes have made public transit increasingly expensive.40

"

"Biking is definitely part of our strategy to attract and retain businesses in order to compete in a mobile world."

Minneapolis Mayor R.T. Rybak⁴¹

"

"Cities that want to shine are building... better bike facilities as part of a suite of assets that attract business. And they find that bike infrastructure is cheap compared to new sports stadiums and light rail lines, and can be done much faster."

Martha Roskowski, Director Green Lane Project, Bikes Belong Foundation⁴² Because unreliable transportation is a common cause of job loss for lowincome families, perpetuating poverty, policies that support bicycling as a form of transportation can advance social justice and economic opportunity. Bicycles are reasonably reliable and far more economical than cars. They can be purchased relatively cheaply, do not require gasoline or insurance to operate, and can be maintained much more affordably.⁴³ A survey in San Francisco found that although only 12 percent of low income women owned cars, 34 percent owned bicycles – but they didn't feel safe riding them without additional bicycle infrastructure.⁴⁴

TRANSPORTATION FOR YOUTH, OLDER ADULTS, AND OTHER

NON-DRIVERS: Bicycling also offers an important transportation alternative for people who don't drive for other reasons. Children and teens too young to obtain a driver's license can use a bicycle to travel to school, jobs, extra-curricular activities, and appointments. Also, many older adults lack cars or no longer feel comfortable driving, but are still able to bicycle. Other adults may not be able to drive because of medical restrictions. Individuals who have suffered a brain injury, for example, may be precluded from driving (or find it uncomfortable), yet be able to bicycle.⁴⁵ Others may have had their licenses suspended or revoked.

Bicycling also provides an alternative for people who choose not to drive. In recent years, more young adults have chosen to drive less for a variety of reasons, including higher fuel prices, additional licensing requirements, more opportunities to socialize via social media networks rather than in person, and changing values.⁴⁶ The number of miles driven by people under 30 has dropped by 23 percent between 1994 and 2009, while the general public's driving increased by 9 percent.⁴⁷

INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES: Recent advances in the area of "adaptive bicycles" have made bicycling an important source of physical activity and independence for many people with disabilities.⁴⁸ Adaptive bicycles are available for adults and children who face physical challenges such as difficulty balancing or poor lower body strength. Specially designed bikes compensate for challenges with balance and allow people who have lost a foot or limb to bicycle.⁴⁹ Other bicycles are recumbent, allowing a person to recline in a chair-like seat and power the bicycle with hand pedals.⁵⁰ For many individuals with disabilities, bicycling can open up vital new opportunities for physical activity and mobility. As an important source of physical activity, bicycling can also help improve mental health and mood disorders.⁵¹

THE ENVIRONMENT: Gasoline-powered vehicles are one of the largest emitters of greenhouse gases, which are linked to rising global temperatures and climate change. Since bicycles do not emit air pollutants, shifting to bicycle transportation saves nearly one pound of carbon dioxide emissions for every mile.⁵² Gas-powered vehicles also emit nitrogen oxide, a cause of acid rain, which harms fish, pollutes lakes and streams, and damages trees.⁵³ Bicycling is particularly beneficial for air quality because people are most likely to substitute bicycling for driving when traveling short distances

"

"For some reason not fully understood, some people with Parkinson's disease can ride a bike, but have trouble walking and balancing. A friend couldn't drive anymore and had to move into town, but still had trouble getting around walking. Got her to try a three-wheeler, and soon she was all over town with that thing. It was a great sense of freedom for her and she loved the exercise."

Tim Young, Wyoming Pathways

(less than three miles), and short trips are responsible for a disproportionate share of polluting emissions.⁵⁴ Substituting bikes for cars during congested peak commute hours has a similar impact, since stop-and-start driving is particularly emission-intensive.⁵⁵

LESS DEPENDENCE ON FOSSIL FUELS: Bicycling also reduces dependence on fossil fuels, which creates more stability for the US economy and foreign policy.⁵⁶ Replacing a moderate number of short motor vehicle trips with bicycling and walking could save approximately 2.4 billion gallons of oil each year; a more ambitious number of replaced trips could save as much as five billion gallons.⁵⁷

In short, bicycling provides substantial benefits for individuals, businesses, government budgets, public health, and the environment.⁵⁸ Yet bicycling infrastructure is inexpensive compared to the cost of building new roads and freeways. A look at Portland, Oregon, illustrates this fact. Portland is widely regarded as having one of the best bicycling infrastructure systems in the country, but the total amount spent on its bicycle friendly infrastructure was roughly equivalent to the cost of building just one mile of a four-lane urban freeway.⁵⁹ Bicycling provides enormous benefits for a low cost.

BICYCLING'S TREMENDOUS POTENTIAL FOR GROWTH

While the many benefits of biking have helped inspire a bicycling resurgence over the last 20 years, bike trips still make up only a very small fraction of all trips in the United States – roughly 1 percent nationally (up from 0.6 percent in 1977).⁶⁰ Yet a substantial number of trips currently made by cars are within easy biking distance. Studies show that 28 percent of all car trips are one mile or less, and 40 percent are two miles or under.⁶¹ Moreover, around 40 percent of commuters travel five miles or less to work.⁶²

An international view reveals that much higher bicycling rates are achievable. In Curitiba, Brazil, 5 percent of trips are by bicycle; in Tokyo, 14 percent are; in Beijing, 32 percent are. In Europe, even less bike-oriented countries like Great Britain have rates that are double or triple the American rate. The Netherlands and a few other countries have rates as high as 26 percent, and many are in the mid-range of 7–10 percent, including Sweden, Austria, and Germany.⁶³

Lower bicycling rates in the United States reflect the fact that many obstacles deter would-be bicyclists and hamper local governments seeking to make their communities more bike friendly. These obstacles include the widespread lack of bike friendly infrastructure (such as bikeways and bike parking), which contributes to concerns about traffic safety and bicycle theft. Distance from destinations and sprawling development patterns also discourage bicycling. In addition, existing codes and laws can hinder bike friendly goals. Other barriers include lack of access to bicycles, lack of available funding for bicycle infrastructure and programs, and social and cultural barriers.⁶⁴

THE LEAGUE OF AMERICAN BICYCLISTS' BICYCLE FRIENDLY AMERICA PROGRAM

Recognition can be a key factor in encouraging communities to become more bicycle friendly. The League of American Bicyclists' Bicycle Friendly America Program awards qualifying communities, businesses, and universities with ratings that range from bronze to diamond, to commend them for making significant progress towards creating a safe and welcoming environment for bicycling. Bill Nesper, who directs the Bicycle Friendly America program, explains, "At its core, the BFA program sets a standard and presents a way for communities, businesses, and universities to make bicycling a real option for people of all ages and abilities. This program builds a true partnership between advocates and decision makers to take action on tried and true bicycle friendly policy solutions."

Over the past 10 years, the program has worked with 600 applicant communities and recognized the achievements of 242 different communities throughout the United States. To receive recognition, communities must go through a stringent application process, demonstrating achievement in five different categories. The program not only provides recognition for the strides that communities have made, but also gives applicants a roadmap to further improve bicycling in their communities. For more information, go to www.bikeleague.org.

Countries with high biking rates bring an integrated set of bicycle friendly policies, laws, and infrastructure to bear on these obstacles. This approach works equally well in the United States. In fact, American cities that are taking this approach – cities such as Portland, Oregon; Davis, California; Chicago; New York City; and Washington, DC – have all seen their bicycling rates dramatically rise.⁶⁵ From 2000 to 2008, for the largest American cities, the bicycle commuter share increased by 70 percent in designated Bicycle Friendly Communities cities (see sidebar), but by only 23 percent in comparable cities that had not invested in bicycling – evidence that investment in policy and infrastructure makes a real difference on the ground.⁶⁶

WHO IS BICYCLING AND WHO IS NOT?

To understand how we can increase bicycling rates, we need to understand who is bicycling, who isn't, and why. When it comes to bicycling, people generally fall into one of four categories:

- 1) the "fit and fearless," who will bicycle under any conditions
- 2) the "comfortably confident," who are already comfortable traveling by bicycle, but who may increase their amount of riding for transportation if improvements occur in bicycle-oriented facilities and conditions
- those who are unlikely to ever consider riding a bicycle for transport (the "no way, no how" group)
- 4) the "willing but wary," who are currently hesitant to use a bike for transport due to various obstacles, but for whom bike friendly policies and robust infrastructure can make a substantial difference.⁶⁷

Four Attitudes Toward Transportation Bicycling Percentages based on data from Portland, Oregon



According to a study in Portland, Oregon, a significant majority of residents – 60 percent – fall into the "willing but wary" category, which is heavily weighted toward women, youth, and older adults.⁶⁸ To achieve meaningful increases in bicycling, we need to address the barriers that cause concern among this group.⁶⁹

We also need to better understand how these different categories are composed. Bicycling rates and habits vary significantly among demographic groups in the United States. Women in the United States, for example, only bicycle one-third as much as men, and most of the recent growth in bicycling rates has occurred among male riders.⁷⁰ Given the size of the gender gap, obstacles deterring women from bicycling must be addressed if overall bicycling rates are to substantially increase. Data show that the countries with the highest ridership rates, such as Denmark, the Netherlands, and Germany, have virtually eliminated, or in some cases reversed, the gender gap.⁷¹ The same pattern occurs across cities: where the gender gap decreases, overall ridership rates increase.⁷² This has led some commentators to deem the percentage of women riding as a key indicator of the presence of factors that support bicycling for the general population.

While the cause of the American gender gap has not been definitively studied, and many factors affect women's bicycling rates, available research indicates that safety issues are a significant impediment to women bicycling. Overall, women show higher levels of concern about safety than men.⁷³ Thus, improving bicycle safety is an important strategy for reducing obstacles that deter women from bicycling.⁷⁴ Surveys also show that, as a whole, women feel less confident bicycling and enjoy bicycling less. Bicycling education and promotion among children and adults may increase confidence and appreciation for bicycling.⁷⁵

In contrast, overall bicycling rates do not appear to vary significantly by racial group.⁷⁶ Some data suggest that recent immigrants, Latinos, and whites have the highest bicycling rates, but bicycling trips make up less than 2 percent of all trips for all racial groups.⁷⁷ Growth in bicycle ridership appears to be occurring most rapidly among African-Americans and Asians, with Latinos and whites following.⁷⁸ In communities of color and low-income communities, bicycling is sometimes negatively viewed, and may be seen as an unfashionable activity, a sport for affluent whites, or a mode of last resort for those who cannot afford a car or who have lost their license for driving under the influence.⁷⁹ Thus, targeted outreach may be an important component of increasing bicycling in communities of color. A number of organizations around the country are already dedicated to this goal.⁸⁰

Police harassment of people of color riding bicycles can also be an issue.⁸¹ In Eastpointe, Michigan, for example, a lawsuit was successfully settled after it was shown that a local police department had a policy of stopping black youth on bicycles.⁸² Ensuring that communities of color do not experience police harassment is an important component of increasing bicycle ridership.

"

"The Mujeres en Movimiento program came from our core value of inclusiveness. WE realized that many Latina women weren't being engaged in cycling because the literature wasn't in Spanish. Furthermore, the majority of literature and photos out there were of white women in spandex, so how do Latina women picture themselves as cyclists if the photos are telling them they are not?"

Liz Jose, Founder, WE Bike NYC⁸³



Improving bicycle safety is an important strategy for increasing the number of women bicycling.

A SAMPLING OF ORGANIZATIONS FOCUSED ON BICYCLE RIDERS OF COLOR

Black Women Bike

CicLAvia SouthEast LA/Southeast Bicycle Alliance

Cycles and Change

East Side Riders

Local Spokes: Lower East Side and Chinatown Bicycling Coalition

Los Ryderz

Major Tyler Bicycling Club of Minnesota

Milwaukee Bicycle Works

Mississippi Low-Income Empowerment Initiative for Livable Communities

Multicultural Communities for Mobility

Ovarian Psyco-Cycles

Red, Bike and Green

Richmond Spokes

Seattle Bike Justice Project

The National Brotherhood of Cyclists

Communities of color also experience higher injury and fatality rates for those bicycling, underscoring the need for equitable availability of safe infrastructure in all communities.⁸⁴

Bicycle mode share remains fairly constant among all income levels. The purpose of trips, however, varies by income, with the percentage of recreational trips rising, and the percentage of utilitarian trips falling, as income increases.⁸⁵

Population density is a major factor. Rural and suburban residents are much less likely to bicycle than urban residents.⁸⁶ Destinations are generally closer in cities, making bicycling more convenient, and bicycle friendly cultures are more likely to exist. However, as demonstrated by the numerous examples provided from around the country, suburban and rural areas can also substantially increase bicycling rates with a carefully tailored and coordinated set of policies.

Finally, bicycling rates vary significantly by region. Western states have the highest bicycling rates while in Southern states, from Texas up to North Carolina, bicycling rates are extremely low.⁸⁷ However, climate is clearly not a material factor in bicycling rates.⁸⁸ Two of the coldest states, Alaska and Montana, have some of the highest commuter bicycling rates.⁸⁹

From this overview of the benefits, obstacles, and demographics of bicycling, we proceed to a discussion of how policy can increase bicycling rates.

CHAPTER TWO: THE ROLE OF POLICY IN INCREASING BICYCLING

CHAPTER TWO: THE ROLE OF POLICY IN INCREASING BICYCLING



Safe and highly visible bike lanes influence people's perception that bicycling is a normal and expected behavior. C ommunities around the country are taking up the challenge to become more bicycle friendly and less auto-dependent. In 2010, 64 percent of the largest cities in the United States had formal goals to increase bicycling; by 2012 the percentage had jumped to 90 percent.⁹⁰ Many jurisdictions, however, may not be aware of the multitude of ways that local and state policy can help achieve the goal of increasing bicycling rates. Indeed, policy in areas as diverse as traffic law, zoning, school curriculum, road design, and taxation can have an impact on bicycle ridership.

This guide provides an overview of the many tools jurisdictions can employ to develop a comprehensive and coordinated set of bicycle friendly policies at the state and local level. Together, such policies can play a critical role in overcoming obstacles to bicycling, creating bicycle friendly communities, and increasing bicycle ridership.⁹¹

What do we mean when we say policy? A policy is a written commitment by a governmental entity that has some level of enforceability. The quintessential policy for our purposes is a formal law, but policies can also take other forms. They can be regulations, resolutions, or contracts, which may or may not be as enforceable as laws. Policies can also include internal agency protocols, which can be very effective, even if not enforceable. However, the general "policy statements" found in many transportation and community planning documents generally function as aspirations or goals, rather than specific policy directives.

WHY POLICY?

Why focus on policies related to bicycling, instead of simply promoting educational campaigns to convince people to bicycle? While appeals to change personal behavior can be an important supplement to policy, we focus on laws and policies because they are generally more effective in creating lasting change in people's behavior, and more sustainable from a financial and a practical perspective.

Policy is an effective way to change behavior because of a concept known as social norm change.⁹² People's actions are highly influenced by what they view as normal, expected behavior.⁹³ People understand what is normal according to cues in the physical world and the social expectations of both peers and strangers. Trying to persuade people to make a conscious decision to alter their behavior is an uphill battle. Even when people accept the message and desire to behave differently, it can still be very difficult to actually modify

behavior and sustain that change.⁹⁴ Thus, campaigns exhorting people to eat healthier foods and exercise more are not usually enough, by themselves, to achieve significant changes in behavior.⁹⁵ In contrast, with social norm change, the behavior of a large population of people can be transformed because social and environmental cues and reactions encourage and reward healthy decisions, while discouraging unhealthy ones.

Cigarette smoking rates illustrate how this process works. In the 1970s, smoking was common and accepted behavior throughout the United States. Smokers were welcome everywhere, including restaurants, bars, workplaces, and the like. But over the next 30 years, changes in the law altered the environment so smokers were excluded from many public areas and workplaces. These policy changes, along with other factors, led to a wholesale reversal of the social acceptance of smoking.⁹⁶ Smoking went from being perceived as an acceptable personal choice, widely accommodated by workplaces and public venues, to being viewed as an unhealthy and somewhat repellent activity that could be conducted only in limited locations. Smoking rates fell dramatically and thousands of lives were saved. The state of California, which took forceful action to de-normalize smoking, has saved \$86 billion dollars to date.⁹⁷

The overall lesson is that it is often more effective to change people's behavior by changing the environment around them, rather than just trying to influence their personal beliefs.⁹⁸ As a result, policy can have an enormous impact on bicycling levels. States and local jurisdictions that do not adopt and implement bike friendly policies generally see little or no rise in bicycling, while those that do implement such policies experience substantial increases.⁹⁹ Significantly, many European cities now enjoying high bicycling rates historically had much lower bicycling rates. With a mix of policy and programs, these cities overcame their auto-centrism, achieving bicycling rates now in the double digits.¹⁰⁰

In short, policy plays a critical role for any jurisdiction seeking to increase bicycling, because it creates the conditions that support bicycling. Over time, such policies can establish a new social norm in which not just a daring minority, but the solid majority of residents see bicycling as a practical and appealing way to travel short distances. This is not to say that education designed to affect beliefs plays no role. To the contrary, particularly when institutionalized through policy, education plays a key supplementary role in transforming attitudes and helping to shift social norms.

THE KEY STEPS TO MAKING POLICY WORK

So how do communities go about making policies that successfully create change? A multi-step process is involved.

First, policymakers and stakeholders must identify the types of policies they wish to pursue to make bicycling more safe, convenient, accessible, and socially acceptable in their community. Reviewing this guide will help communities undertake this important first step. The process of developing and adopting a bicycle plan (discussed in Chapter 9) can build community support and help communities identify which policies are most appropriate for local needs and might realistically be adopted.

Second, potential policies must be tailored to local needs. After identifying policies that are of interest, communities can find models (such as those developed by ChangeLab Solutions for bicycle parking, complete streets, and other topics, many of which are referenced in sidebars), or look to communities that have passed such policies.¹⁰¹ This guide includes references to many such examples. Policy language should then be crafted to provide a strong policy that appropriately addresses local needs and conditions, and also covers implementation, enforcement, and evaluation. For example, if public education about a new policy will be needed to ensure effective implementation, the policy should include provisions providing such education.

Third, the policies must actually be adopted. At the state level, the legislature can adopt policies by enacting legislation, and state agencies (e.g. the state department of transportation) can adopt policies through regulations, issuance of formal policies, and so on. Similarly, at the local level, the governing body can pass local ordinances and resolutions, and local agencies or departments can adopt formal policies. For many of the policies discussed in this guide, adoption may take the form of simple amendments to existing laws. Communities will need to consider the form of the policy – whether a law, resolution, internal policy, or other approach – as well as the pros and cons that may accompany each form.

Four, the policies must actually be implemented and enforced. Otherwise, even the most carefully crafted policies will not create change. Implementation is most likely to be effective when someone is made responsible for carrying out the needed steps. Setting a timeframe and providing sufficient funding are also key to implementation. In most cases, enforcement is the responsibility of a government agency, in which case it is critical that the agency understand the new requirements. Creating the political will to enforce new policies is also crucial, and may sometimes require ongoing campaigns by local organizations. Some policies provide for citizen enforcement, in which case individuals in the community can set the enforcement process in motion.¹⁰²

Fifth, the policies should be evaluated, assessed, and amended or supplemented as needed. This can be built into a policy itself by including requirements for data collection and follow up reports, such as written staff

TIP

Model implementation and enforcement language for local ordinances is available from ChangeLab Solutions: www.changelabsolutions.org/ publications/implementationenforcement-clauses reports or presentations to the legislative body. By regularly assessing the real effects of policies and modifying them to make them more successful, we can learn from experience and more effectively use limited resources to make bicycling a safe, practical, and convenient transportation choice. While all laws benefit from this process, reevaluation and amendment are particularly important to bicycle friendly policy, since our knowledge about what works is still developing.





It is critical that policymakers and stakeholders identify the types of policies they wish to pursue to make bicycling more safe, convenient, accessible, and socially acceptable in their community.

CHAPTER THREE: THE FOUR REQUIREMENTS — AN ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK

CHAPTER THREE: THE FOUR REQUIREMENTS - AN **ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK**

s we described in Chapter One, there are people who will ride bicycles despite all obstacles, and people who will refuse to ride bicycles under any circumstances. And then, there are the vast majority of people: people who will ride bicycles if the barriers to bicycling - lack of safety, convenience, and access - can be overcome. To increase levels of bicycling, communities need to focus bicycle friendly policies on the "willing but wary." In addition, members of the "comfortably confident" category do currently bicycle for some trips, but are likely to increase their bicycling trips as the barriers diminish.

What prevents people from bicycling? There are four key requirements that must be met for someone to choose to make a trip by bicycle.¹⁰³ If any one of the requirements is not satisfied, a person will choose another mode of transportation, if he or she has a choice. These requirements are all important, and each one is independently necessary. In most communities, significant obstacles exist in all four areas.

REQUIREMENT 1: SAFETY

Travel by bicycle must feel sufficiently safe. Safety concerns, particularly the fear of riding in traffic, are often a primary obstacle for those in the "willing but wary" group, especially women, youth, and older adults.¹⁰⁴ Crime can also be a significant barrier, especially in neighborhoods with gang activity or high crime rates, and this concern may be a particular barrier for women and in communities of color. Addressing the issue of crime in detail, however, is not the focus of this report.



Travel by bicycle must be sufficiently convenient. Convenience requires that the trip must not take too long and there must be a secure place to park a bike at the destination. If riding to work makes people sweaty, they need a place to shower. Travel by bicycle must be as, or more, convenient than other travel methods in terms of time, money, and effort.



Pearless Ride long distances without dedicated bike facilities



Comfortably Confident Prefer short to medium trip distances and may be willing to ride in traffic where there are bike lanes or other good facilities



Nilling But Warv Not comfortable in traffic, even with conventional bike lanes, but will ride on low traffic streets and paths



No Way No How No interest in bicycling won't consider bicycling without major changes in social norms and street conditions

WHAT PEOPLE NEED TO BICYCLE – THE FOUR REQUIREMENTS

To create a bicycle friendly community — one that encourages people to take up bicycling and supports those who currently bicycle — there are four requirements:¹⁰⁵



SAFETY Travel by bicycl



CONVENIENCE Travel by bicycle is



SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY

Travel by bicycle feels socially acceptable and worthwhile



ACCESS Bicycles are available

REQUIREMENT 3: SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY

Bicycling for transportation must be viewed as a normal, legitimate, worthwhile activity. If this belief is lacking, most people will not even consider bicycling to their destination. People are most likely to view bicycling as a legitimate transportation option if their built environment encourages bicycling, there is community support for bicycling, and they see peers (friends, neighbors, and coworkers) bicycling to destinations. Some communities and demographic groups already have active bicycle friendly cultures that embrace bicycling as a transportation option, whereas acceptance of bicycling as a form of transportation may be almost nonexistent in other communities.

et REQUIREMENT 4: ACCESS

Finally, people must have access to bicycles. If no bicycle is available, a person cannot even consider bicycling. Access issues may be most acute in areas that are low-income or lack bicycle shops. Access issues can also arise, however, when individuals do not have a bicycle with them at their point of origin or when trying to combine bicycle travel with other forms of transit, such as trains, buses, and subways.

The policies in this guide are organized around these four requirements. This framework allows the guide to illustrate how each policy affects the decision to bicycle and demonstrate how different policy tools can work together to encourage bicycling. Policies that primarily affect one requirement may also help to achieve another, of course. A bicycle parking law, for example, is chiefly designed to make bicycling more convenient; it also, however, indirectly helps to normalize bicycling, because bicycle racks in front of businesses signal that bicycling is a legitimate and welcomed form of transportation.

By presenting the policies in light of their ability to address the four requirements, the guide helps policymakers and stakeholders ensure that they are removing obstacles that exist in their community with respect to *each* of the four requirements.

The experience of Austin, Texas, highlighted in the introduction, illustrates this point. In Austin, it wasn't enough just to make bicycling safer by passing a complete streets policy and installing bicycle infrastructure, such as bike lanes and paths. While safe bicycle infrastructure was critical, people also needed shops and workplaces within easy biking distance, and places to safely park a bike upon arrival; amended zoning laws and a comprehensive bicycle parking ordinance achieved these goals. People also needed to know that bicycling was a socially accepted transportation option and they needed access to bicycles. So Austin established a broad swath of institutions and events to affect these outcomes. By taking this comprehensive approach, Austin created the conditions that allowed bicycling to flourish.

In sum, achieving a successful bicycle friendly community involves creating a set of conditions that make bicycling safe, convenient, acceptable, and accessible enough that people will choose to travel by bicycle. Not surprisingly, studies show that a coordinated package of policies and programs that support and reinforce each other is "the trademark of every city that has succeeded at significantly raising cycling levels and improving safety."¹⁰⁶



A bicycle friendly community requires all four requirements to be met. When bicycling is safe, convenient, acceptable, and accessible, more people will choose to make a trip by bicycle.



Let's Ride!



Safety

Travel by bicycle is sufficiently safe

APPROACHES INCLUDE



BIKE-FRIENDLY TRAFFIC CONTROL & STREET DESIGN Special bike signals, lanes, and other features keep bicyclists safe



BIKES

COMPLETE STREETS New and renovated streets are required to accommodate everyone, including bikes, cars, and pedestrians



TRAFFIC CALMING Streets include features like median islands, speed bumps, and roundabouts to reduce speed and other hazards



Convenience

Travel by bicycle is convenient

APPROACHES INCLUDE



BIKE PARKING New housing and commercial developments must have bicycle parking



BICYCLES ON BOARD Bikes can be brought on public transit, and vehicles include storage racks



20 MINUTE NEIGHBORHOOD Plans and zoning codes ensure that everyday destinations (work, school, stores, services)

are within convenient biking



Access

People have access to bicycles

APPROACHES INCLUDE



BIKE SHARE Affordable programs make bicycles available to people for short trips around town, especially to and from transit



BIKE FLEETS FOR GOVERNMENT Local government agencies provide employees with bikes for short-distance work travel

4 Requirements for a Bikeable Community

To decide to bicycle, people need biking to be safe and convenient. They need access to a bicycle, and they won't bike unless it seems like something normal and worthwhile. Here are a few of the many approaches that can help get people bicycling around town.

Social Acceptability

Travel by bicycle is seen as socially acceptable and worthwhile

APPROACHES INCLUDE



OPEN STREETS Communities designate certain roadways as "car-free" on select days



SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOLS Kids are encouraged to bike and walk to school through education and infrastructure improvements



Share-a-Bike

DRIVERS' ED Bike safety principles and rights are included in traffic school, drivers' manuals, and written license tests

i — i

STREET CLOSED TO CARS EVERY SAT & SUN

CHAPTER FOUR: POLICIES THAT MAKE TRAVEL BY BICYCLE SAFER



SAFER BIKEWAYS

Complete Streets

State Bikeway Laws

Road Design Guidelines

Bicycle Friendly Traffic Control Devices (Bicycle Signals, Bike Boxes, and Bicycle Detectors)

Traffic Calming

Road Diets: Retrofitting Existing Roads with Bike Lanes

Multi-Modal Level of Service Standards

ENCOURAGING SAFER DRIVING

Require Safe Passing of Bicyclists

Anti-Harassment Ordinances

Anti-Dooring Protection

Right Hook Turn Protection

Prohibit Obstruction of Bicycle Lanes

Police Training on Bicycle Safety

CHAPTER FOUR: POLICIES THAT MAKE TRAVEL BY BICYCLE SAFER

INTRODUCTION

F or most people, the biggest deterrent to choosing a bicycle over a car is concern for personal safety – specifically, fear of motor vehicle traffic.¹⁰⁷ Indeed, the prospect of riding a bicycle in close proximity to fast-moving vehicles weighing 4,000 pounds keeps many of the "willing but wary" population off their bikes. As a recent study found, where bike lanes don't exist, "traffic play[s] a major role in discouraging bike riders."¹⁰⁸ Other studies confirm that real and perceived traffic dangers are the main reason that people who bicycle infrequently do not bicycle more often.¹⁰⁹ Although studies show that the health benefits of bicycling exceed the risks, the dangers are nonetheless real.¹¹⁰

Traffic-related safety concerns are a particular deterrent for women, older adults, youth, and people of color, who are more likely to fall within the segment of the population that is "willing but wary" with regard to bicycling.¹¹¹ In a national survey, 26 percent of respondents of color said they would like to bicycle more but worry about safety, compared to 19 percent of white respondents.¹¹² In a survey conducted in Portland, OR, 52 percent of women reported that "too much traffic" was a deterrent, compared to only 34 percent of the men.¹¹³ Safety concerns likely explain, at least in part, the major gender gap in bicycle ridership in the United States.¹¹⁴ Countries where bicycling is safer don't have a gender gap in bicycling rates.¹¹⁵

What makes bicycling safer? Separation from medium- and high-speed motor vehicle traffic significantly increases safety for people bicycling, and creates a far more comfortable environment for bicycling for people of all ages and skill levels.¹¹⁶ A study in Los Angeles found that the percentage of women riding was twice as high at locations with bicycle infrastructure as those without bicycle infrastructure.¹¹⁷ Investing in better infrastructure can increase bicycling safety and numbers, as shown in four American pilot communities, where bicycling numbers rose in response to significant investments in bicycling infrastructure, while injuries and collisions held steady or decreased.¹¹⁸ Also, slow traffic creates a safer environment for bicycling and walking, and can be achieved through traffic calming measures or by creating bike routes on streets with very low and slow traffic.

"

"Survey after survey and poll after poll has found again and again that the number one reason people do not ride bicycles is because they are afraid to be in the roadway on a bicycle. They are generally not afraid of other cyclists, or pedestrians, or of injuring themselves in a bicycle-only crash. When they say they are 'afraid' it is a fear of people driving automobiles."

Robert Geller, Portland Bicycle Coordinator¹¹⁹

Slower Car Traffic Is Safer for Pedestrians Too

As vehicle speed increases, a pedestrian's chance of surviving a collision decreases.



Source: Richards, D.C., 2010. "Relationship between Speed and Risk of Fatal Injury: Pedestrians and Car Occupants." Transportation Research Laboratory. Road Safety Web Publication No. 16. Department for Transport: London, UK. http://assets.dft.gov.uk/publications/pgr-roadsafety-researchrsrr-theme5-researchreport16-pdf/rswp116.pdf There are many policies that specifically aim at making streets safer and more comfortable for people on bicycles. These policies fall into two general categories: policies that create safer bikeways, and policies that change drivers' behavior.

STRATEGY: SAFER BIKEWAYS

Just as drivers rely on streets designed for cars to get around safely, people on bikes need streets designed for safe bicycling. State and local governments can encourage biking by creating a network of routes designed to help people bicycle around safely. Providing such routes – bikeways – is the fundamental building block of creating a safe bicycling environment.¹²⁰

Before setting out the policies that support safe bikeways, it is worth describing the different types of bikeways. Currently, bikeways fall into five different categories (with new options emerging as improvements and innovations occur):

- Bike paths
- Basic bike lanes
- Enhanced bike lanes
- Protected bike lanes
- Shared roads

The type of bikeway appropriate in any given location depends on street conditions. Some bikeways are best for streets with little traffic and low speeds, while others are crucial for providing a safer experience where speed limits and traffic volume are high. Additional factors influencing which type of bikeway is better for a given route include whether the street is narrow or wide, whether parallel parking is allowed, and the surrounding landscape.



Bicycle paths allow people to bicycle without contending with the stress of car traffic.

Bike Paths

Bike paths are off-road, paved pathways. They may be located in parks, along old rail right-of-ways, or adjacent to waterways. They provide people bicycling with the greatest separation from traffic and parked cars, although if not well designed, they can present hazards when people biking emerge from the separated path onto a street with cars. A genuine bike path is limited to people bicycling. In many cases, however, such paths are actually multi-modal paths that are shared with pedestrians, joggers, skaters, and other users, which can significantly reduce the speed at which a bicycle can safely travel.¹²¹

Basic Bike Lanes

A bike lane is a portion of the roadway that is designated, by a stripe of paint and other markings, for exclusive use by bicycles. Bike lanes are generally used on roadways with posted traffic speed limits of 25 mph or higher and a traffic volume of 3,000 or more cars per day.¹²²



A network of routes designed to help people bicycle around safely encourages bicycling.
Basic bike lanes are created by using a single solid stripe to set aside a portion of the road solely for the use of bicycles. Studies show that a basic bike lane is superior to no bikeway at all, and can substantially boost ridership.¹²³ Bike lanes, however, still place people bicycling in close proximity to vehicular traffic, leaving many who are willing but wary about bicycling feeling unsafe, particularly on main arterials where traffic is fast moving and cars or buses frequently move in and out of the bike lane. Unless properly designed, bike lanes on streets with parallel parking also subject people bicycling to the risk of "dooring," which occurs when the door of a parked car is opened immediately in front of a person bicycling, causing a collision.

Enhanced Bike Lanes

The weaknesses of basic bike lanes have led to the emergence of enhanced bike lanes, which employ more paint to provide the bike lane with a bit more visibility and prominence.

Green bike lanes

Green bike lanes are basic bike lanes that are filled in with green paint. They are particularly useful in intersections or conflict zones. The green lanes increase the visibility of the bike lane and make it clearer that bicycles have priority in these zones. Studies have shown that green lanes encourage people bicycling to position themselves in the right place, and both people bicycling and those driving are positive about the effectiveness of green lanes in ensuring awareness of bicycles.¹²⁴ While a relatively new development in the US, green bike lanes are increasingly common around the country.

Buffered bike lanes

Like green bike lanes, buffered bike lanes are an enhanced version of the basic bike lane. They include an additional painted striped area immediately adjacent to the basic bike lane that buffers people bicycling from traffic. They can be one-way or bi-directional. A buffer zone may be placed between the bike lane and traffic, or may be placed between the bike lane and parked cars to provide a door-zone buffer. Buffered bike lanes are in use in at least 15 cities around the country.¹²⁵



Enhanced bike lanes are more visible and prominent.





Protected bike lanes (above) provide a physical barrier between the bicycle lane and traffic and therefore a substantially more comfortable bicycling experience than conventional bike lanes. Shared roads (below) are streets in which bicycles and cars share the traffic lane.

Protected Bike Lanes (Cycle Tracks)

Like other bike lanes, protected bike lanes provide an exclusive space for people bicycling on the roadway. They are fundamentally different, however, because they also provide a physical barrier between the bicycle lane and traffic. This barrier can involve elevating the protected bike lane slightly above the roadway, typically at the level of an adjacent sidewalk (sometimes known as a vertical cycle track), or physically separating the protected bike lane from the car traffic lane with posts, bollards, or parked cars (a horizontal cycle track).¹²⁶ Protected bike lanes can be one-way or bi-directional. Roadways with high speeds, high volume, frequent double parking, or parking lanes with high turnover are particularly good candidates for protected bike lanes.

Protected bike lanes provide a substantially more comfortable bicycling experience than conventional bike lanes.¹²⁷ Studies also indicate that protected bicycle lanes may be dramatically safer than basic bike lanes, with only one-ninth the risk of comparable streets.¹²⁸ Protected bike lanes, along with buffered bike lanes, are the predominant bikeways used in cities in the Netherlands and Denmark, with their high levels of bicycling.¹²⁹ Protected bike lanes are currently in use in at least 15 cities in the United States, including New York City, Austin, Long Beach, San Francisco, Seattle, Chicago, Missoula, Minneapolis, and Portland, Oregon.

Shared Roads

Shared roads are streets in which bicycles and cars share the traffic lane and there is no exclusive space set aside for bikes. Most roads in the United States currently operate as shared roads. There are two types of shared roads, however, in which the streets are given special treatments to make a safer and more comfortable environment for people bicycling.

Bike Boulevards/Neighborhood Greenways

Bike boulevards are low-traffic, low-speed residential streets that have been optimized to make bicycling comfortable via relatively minor modifications that increase bicycle safety and convenience and discourage car traffic. Infrastructure modifications to reduce traffic include roundabouts, bulb-outs, traffic diverters, landscaping, and other traffic calming features. Bicycle boulevard intersections are often optimized for continuous bicycle movement by moving stop signs from the bicycle boulevard onto cross-streets. Finally, bike boulevards include special signage and pavement markings, such as sharrows (see below), that clearly notify drivers and bicyclists that the route is a bike boulevard.¹³⁰ Jurisdictions can use bike boulevards to create a network of routes and to connect to other bikeways, such as conventional and protected bike lanes. One study comparing bicycle boulevards with nearby arterials in Berkeley, California, showed that bicycle-car collision rates were two to eight times lower on bicycle boulevards than on parallel, adjacent arterials.¹³¹

Portland, Oregon, has taken bicycle boulevards to a new level. Portland has redesigned bike boulevards to also address the needs of pedestrians and stormwater drainage, adding landscaping and pocket parks, and dubbing them neighborhood greenways. The new name is intended to expand the program's appeal and emphasize the greenways' broader use and benefits.¹³² Portland anticipates that by 2015, 80 percent of households will be within half a mile of a neighborhood greenway.¹³³ San Francisco and Seattle have also embraced neighborhood greenways.

Bike boulevards and neighborhood greenways tend to be very comfortable environments for those who are comfortably confident and willing but wary about bicycling. However, two caveats are in order. First, as a general matter, creating a useful network of bike boulevards will require some crossing of large arterials. Good intersection treatments are particularly important at these locations to provide safe and comfortable crossings. Second, despite the general utility of bike boulevards, they may not be a good approach for high-crime areas or areas with significant gang activity. In these neighborhoods, people may be safer from crime and better able to bicycle to their destinations if they stay on main arterials, where there are more people keeping an eye on things. Ensuring that arterials have adequate bicycling infrastructure, such as enhanced and protected bike lanes, may be a better way to support bicycling in these environments.

"

"In our neighborhood greenway system to date, we have about 45 miles completed. We're averaging about \$141,000 a mile. To give you a sense of that, \$250,000 buys one traffic signal. Building this network is a great value – that's why people continue to support it."

Greg Raisman, Traffic Safety Specialist, Portland Bureau of Transportation¹³⁸

Sharrows

Sharrows (a combination of the terms "share the road" and "arrow"), or shared lane markings, are road markings that consist of a bicycle stencil and double chevron (a double inverted V).¹³⁴ Their preferred placement is in the center of the traffic lane. Greenbacked sharrows are sharrows that are placed on a painted green background, which significantly increases their visibility. The purpose of sharrows is to alert drivers that bicycles may be present and remind them of the need to share the road. Sharrows have been shown to improve interactions between bicycles and cars by decreasing aggressive behavior by motorists and increasing passing distance and following distance.¹³⁵ They are also intended to identify where on the road people bicycling should position themselves so as to avoid the door zone.¹³⁶

Because sharrows are relatively new, and many drivers and bicyclists are not familiar with them, explanatory signage may help ensure that they achieve their intended purpose. Useful applications of the sharrow include:

- 1) pavement markings for bicycle boulevards
- 2) filling short gaps in an otherwise continuous bike path
- providing legitimacy for bicycling on streets that cannot accommodate a bike lane.¹³⁷



Sharrows alert drivers that bicycles may be present and remind them of the need to share the road, while providing information about where bicycles should ride.

BICYCLES AND PEDESTRIANS

"[B]icyclists and pedestrians [are] an integral element of the transportation system. In support of this commitment, transportation agencies and local communities should go beyond minimum design standards and requirements to create safe, attractive, sustainable, accessible, and convenient bicycling and walking networks....

Because of the benefits they provide, transportation agencies should give the same priority to walking and bicycling as is given to other transportation modes. Walking and bicycling should not be an afterthought in roadway design."

US DOT Policy Statement on Bicycles and Pedestrian Accommodation (March 11, 2010)¹⁴⁶ Sharrows should not be used as a cheap substitute for bike lanes or bike boulevards, and are generally not advised for streets that have speed limits above 35 mph.¹³⁹

State and local policies designed to encourage or require a safe network of bikeways are a critical component of any plan to increase bicycle mode share.¹⁴⁰ State and local jurisdictions can play a key role in improving bicycle safety, and the US Department of Transportation ("DOT") has strongly encouraged jurisdictions to do so.

POLICY: COMPLETE STREETS

Complete streets policies are one of the most basic, and yet one of the most important, types of policies that communities can adopt to create more bikeways. Complete streets policies set out a fundamental governmental commitment to the principle that streets are meant for everyone, not just cars.¹⁴¹ Because these policies function as a general commitment, they don't get sidetracked by the details of which streets need bikeways or what technical requirements must change for better street design. Complete streets policies usually have language stating that all new or renovated streets will be designed to provide safe, comfortable, and convenient travel for all categories of users, including pedestrians, bicyclists, people with disabilities, transit users, and motorists.¹⁴²

Complete streets policies provide a key first step for communities that want their streets to become more supportive for people bicycling and walking. More than 450 jurisdictions have adopted complete streets policies in the United States to date.¹⁴³ Complete streets policies are appealing because they present a vision that allows small steps. They move the community in a new direction without requiring that every long-term change be identified at the onset. Nor do they require a major up-front financial investment. What they do require is a shift, looking forward, to incorporating bicycle and pedestrian needs whenever streets are built or work is done on existing streets.

These policies can be adopted at all jurisdictional levels. When adopted by local jurisdictions, complete streets policies focus on changing how roads are built or rebuilt, requiring incorporation of bicycle and pedestrian facilities as part of these projects. For example, in 2008 New Haven adopted a complete streets policy, which led different departments to work together to create a larger vision for a sustainable, reliable roadway system for everyone.¹⁴⁴ When complete streets policies are adopted by states or regional transportation agencies, they not only affect these agencies' own road-building practices, but also usually change their standards for selecting and funding local projects. One of the earliest complete streets policies was Oregon's "Bike Bill," enacted in 1971, which requires local governments to include walkways and bikeways whenever a road, street, or highway is built or rebuilt.¹⁴⁵ More recently, in 2012, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (the regional transportation

agency for the nine-county San Francisco Bay Area) required all local jurisdictions to pass a complete streets policy to be eligible for transportation funding, which led to the enactment of more than 50 new policies.¹⁴⁷

Communities must think through local needs in drafting a complete streets policy. While a strong commitment to complete streets is crucial, it is also necessary to allow some exceptions to provide flexibility and accommodate other important values, such as historic preservation or environmental concerns. Communities should design a flexible approach to exceptions that ensures accountability by being specific about when exceptions will be granted and provides a process that requires documentation and written approval of a senior official.

POLICY: STATE BIKEWAY LAWS

States can use their legislative powers to enact a state bicycle program that carries out state-level bicycle planning or that supports local bike planning. Illinois takes the first approach, with the state taking the lead for the development of new bikeways. Emphasizing the "urgent need for safe bikeways" for transportation, the Illinois Bikeway Act makes the state Department of Transportation responsible for developing and coordinating a statewide bikeways program and designating bikeways throughout the state.¹⁴⁸ The agency is authorized and instructed to acquire land and construct bikeways, and also oversees an interagency task force to coordinate efforts.

An alternative approach for states is to facilitate local bike policy. California's Bicycle Transportation Act of 2009 provided state funding to incentivize local bicycle planning.¹⁴⁹ The Act established as state policy the goal of creating a bicycle transportation system serving the bicycling commuting needs of students, employees, shoppers, and others of all ages. The Act also set up a Bicycle Transportation Account that local jurisdictions could tap to fund bikeways, bicycle parking, and so on. To be eligible for this funding, however, local jurisdictions were required to adopt a bicycle plan complying with specific requirements.¹⁵⁰ Hundreds of California cities have adopted bike plans complying with the California Bicycle Transportation Act.¹⁵¹

North Carolina's Bicycle and Bikeway Act represents a combined approach.¹⁵² The Act established a state bicycle program to undertake comprehensive bicycle planning and programming for the state. The program takes an active role in developing state bikeways, and also assists with local planning.¹⁵³ TIP

Model Complete Streets Policies: ChangeLab Solutions has developed models to help communities adopt strong complete streets policies. Models include local and state laws and resolutions, as well as comprehensive plan language.¹⁵⁴ www.changelabsolutions.org/ publications/laws-resolutions-cs

BIKEWAYS, GENTRIFICATION, AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

While providing bicycle infrastructure in communities of color or lowincome communities may deliver an important and long-needed service, such projects should be approached with a full understanding of the perspective of neighborhood residents. Oftentimes, these communities have seen their neighborhoods neglected and their efforts to improve transportation infrastructure largely ignored for decades.

At the same time, bikeway projects in urban areas have become associated with gentrification because they are often sited in neighborhoods with growing concentrations of young professionals and artisans — groups who may be enthusiastic about bicycling, but may also be seen as causing higher rents and displacement of long-time residents.¹⁵⁵ As a result, community residents may view new bike lanes suspiciously, as an unwelcome harbinger of gentrification that is designed for the enjoyment of outsiders, not a positive community benefit for long-time inhabitants.¹⁵⁶

Recent projects to build new bikeways in low-income communities of color in Chicago and in Portland, Oregon, illustrate this potential dynamic, underscoring the critical importance of substantial outreach from the earliest planning stages, as well as the successes that can take place with full neighborhood involvement.¹⁵⁷

ANTI-DOORING ROAD DESIGN

Dooring occurs when a driver or passenger swings a car door open directly in front of a person bicycling. (See pages 52–53 for a more complete discussion of dooring.) State and local jurisdictions can use road design to substantially reduce or eliminate the hazard of dooring. Some bikeways (e.g. protected and buffered bike lanes) are inherently designed to avoid the danger of dooring by separating people biking from parked cars and vehicle traffic. For all other bikeway designs, jurisdictions can adopt road design policies that require that

 bike lanes be wide enough to allow people bicycling to comfortably avoid the door zone without riding on the very left edge of the bike lane;¹⁵⁸

- pavement markings indicate the area of the bike lane that falls outside of the door zone;¹⁵⁹ and
- parking lanes be wide enough that car doors can open without intruding onto the bike lane.

The NACTO Bike Guide provides guidance on these issues, recommending that bicycles lanes be a minimum of 6 feet wide and that parking lanes be 8.5 feet wide.

Another way to reduce the danger of dooring is through route choice, by encouraging bicycle traffic to use roads that minimize the danger of dooring – roads with light traffic, no parallel parking, or little turnover of parking.

43



THE NITTY GRITTY ON ROAD DESIGN STANDARDS

W hat are the rules that control jurisdictions' ability to adopt bicycle friendly road design guidelines? While federal law requires road designs to comply with a uniform national standard for roads that are part of the National Highway System (which includes the interstate highway system and designated principal roads), states may select their own set of road design guidelines for building and improving other roads.¹⁶⁰ However, federally funded projects are also often required to comply with national standards.¹⁶¹ Many states grant local jurisdictions autonomy over their local roads, so cities and towns are often authorized to adopt local road design guidelines as well.

Standard Road Design: The Green Book

Most states use the same set of road design guidelines (or a variation thereof), entitled "A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets," which is prepared and periodically updated by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO).¹⁶² These guidelines, nicknamed "The Green Book" (after the color of the cover), traditionally have focused on designing roads to maximize fast auto travel, with little regard for the impact on bicycle or pedestrian travel. For example, the Green Book historically has favored wide street widths to accommodate high-speed traffic, at the expense of people bicycling and walking.¹⁶³ However, more recent editions of the Green Book incorporate more bicycle- and pedestrian-supportive aspects.¹⁶⁴

AASHTO also has a companion guide, the Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities, newly updated in 2012 ("2012 Bike Guide").¹⁶⁵ This 2012 edition is more bike friendly than its predecessor, including more information and support for bike lanes (including buffered bike lanes), bike parking, and bike boulevards. This edition still does not discuss road designs that provide physical separation of people bicycling from traffic, such as protected bike lanes, which are common in Europe, with its better bicycling safety record.

However, the AASHTO Green Book and 2012 Bike Guide do not prohibit engineers from adopting bicycle treatments that are not addressed by the books. As the Green Book explains, it is "not intended to be a detailed design manual that could supersede the need for the application of sound principles by the knowledgeable design professional."⁶⁶ Thus, where engineers can demonstrate that a particular situation justifies use of a different or new bikeway design, they can proceed in a manner consistent with the Green Book even if the design is not specifically discussed. Nonetheless, many engineers are reluctant to use a design that is not addressed by engineering guidelines for the jurisdiction.

The NACTO Urban Bikeway Design Guide

The National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO) developed an Urban Bikeway Design Guide in 2011 to provide cities with bike designs not yet addressed by AASHTO.¹⁶⁷ The guide supplies similar engineering guidance to that provided by AASHTO, but also covers many bike friendly road designs and traffic control devices, including protected bike lanes (cycle tracks), other bike lanes, bike boxes, bike-only traffic signals, and sharrows. The NACTO Bike Guide, which is deemed by some to be a major turning point for American bicycling, focuses specifically on urban areas and is intended for adoption by individual cities, counties, or states.¹⁶⁸ It can be adopted either as a stand-alone document or as a supplement to the AASHTO Green Book or 2012 Bike Guide.¹⁶⁹ Significantly, the Federal Department of Transportation has announced that it intends to develop its own walking and biking friendly road design standards, rather than continue to use the AASHTO guide, and will likely draw significantly on the work of the NACTO Bike Guide.170

As noted, many road design engineers will not use a bikeway design unless it is specifically addressed by the pertinent road design guidelines. Thus, state and local policy regarding approved road design guidelines can make a major difference in the types of bikeway designs that will be used in any given community. A policy implementing the NACTO Bike Guide is a powerful way to expand the available menu of innovative, safe bikeway designs for urban communities.

POLICY: ROAD DESIGN GUIDELINES

State and local jurisdictions can set policy that encourages or requires transportation engineers to use road designs that maximize bicycle safety and convenience. Road design guidelines have a major impact on what kinds of bike friendly bikeways and infrastructure can be built. Road design guidelines cover everything from street width, grade, and curvature to overpasses, roundabouts, bikeways, and sidewalks. Jurisdictions often revise road design guidelines as a first crucial step in implementing complete streets policies.

Traditionally, the national standards for road design have been very car-oriented, and have not recognized many types of bikeway design and infrastructure. Although these standards are improving, there remain significant deficits in their approach to bicycle supportive infrastructure. While jurisdictions must follow national standards for many roads that are part of the National Highway System or are federally funded, for other roads, states may use their own road design guidelines. Many states authorize localities to do the same.

Consequently, states and local jurisdictions can, where permitted, adopt road design guidelines that improve safety, comfort, and convenience for bicycles. The National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO) has developed an Urban Bikeway Design Guide to serve this purpose, with a focus on bikeway design for urban areas.¹⁷¹ (See insert, page 44, "The Nitty Gritty on Road Design Standards," for details.) The NACTO Bike Guide can be formally adopted as a supplement to existing road design guidelines by states seeking to promote bicycling. States should work with cities and counties to implement these guidelines. Where permitted, local jurisdictions in urban areas can also adopt the NACTO Bike Guide.¹⁷² States and local jurisdictions can also develop their own street design guidelines that are supportive of bicycling and other uses, and many have begun this process.¹⁷³

A number of cities around the country have adopted the NACTO Bike Guide (e.g., Austin, Atlanta, Portland, Oregon, Salt Lake City, Syracuse, and Moses Lake, WA), and 39 cities have endorsed the guidelines.¹⁷⁴ In some jurisdictions, the city council has adopted NACTO guidelines via an ordinance or resolution;¹⁷⁵ in others, the department of public works or planning has put them into place.¹⁷⁶ The NACTO Bike Guide can be adopted as part of a comprehensive review of transportation policy or on a standalone basis.

State and local jurisdictions may recommend use of the NACTO Bike Guide or other bicycle friendly street design revisions when adopting complete streets policies or bicycle plans, or when revising comprehensive plans. Georgia's Complete Streets policy, for example, expressly recommends use of the NACTO Bike Guide, as does the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan for La Crosse, Wisconsin.¹⁷⁷

NORTH CAROLINA'S BICYCLE AND BIKEWAY ACT

"The Department [of Transportation] will: Assist and cooperate with local government and other agencies in the development and construction of local and regional bikeway projects.... Develop and construct a state bikeway system."

N.C. Gen. Stat. §136-71.10

AUSTIN'S RESOLUTION RECOGNIZING THE NACTO BIKE GUIDELINES

In Austin, the adoption of a resolution recognizing the NACTO guidelines was instrumental in facilitating an upgrade of previously approved basic bicycle lanes to protected bike lanes in a public-private development agreement.¹⁷⁸



There are several policy options for states and local jurisdictions that want to endorse safety-promoting bicycle traffic control devices.

POLICY: BICYCLE FRIENDLY TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES (BICYCLE SIGNALS, BIKE BOXES, AND BICYCLE DETECTORS)

While the design of the road itself is governed by road design guides (discussed above), a separate set of national requirements controls all "traffic control devices," such as traffic signals, signs, markings, and anything else that controls the flow of traffic. These requirements are contained in the Federal Highway Administration's Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices ("MUTCD"), which imposes a largely mandatory uniform national standard. This uniformity ensures that people traveling around the country are not surprised or confused by variations in traffic signs.

However, traffic control at intersections is a very important area for bicycle safety, and the current MUTCD restricts some types of bicycle signals and markings that have been shown to improve safety. For example, countries in Europe have had noted success in reducing injuries by installing separate bike signal lights at intersections, which use signal lights to control right turn traffic and through traffic.¹⁷⁹ Another traffic marking that can mitigate safety challenges at signal intersections is the "bike box" (or advance stop line), which positions people bicycling ahead of other traffic at an intersection in a striped or shaded box-shaped area.¹⁸⁰ Bike boxes provide a designated, visible place for people bicycling to wait prior to proceeding straight, turning right, or in some cases, left. This priority wait area allows bicycles to avoid conflicts, particularly the dangerous conflicts that can occur between bicycles proceeding straight through an intersection and right-turning vehicles. Bicycle boxes are not just beneficial for people bicycling. People walking benefit because the advance stop line also provides an extra safety buffer for them. In addition, bike boxes remove uncertainty for drivers about where bicycles may be, reducing risk of collisions.

While neither of these types of bicycle traffic control devices is approved as of date of publication by the MUTCD, the Federal Highway Administration has granted both "experimental" status (see below),¹⁸¹ and is considering draft language that would permit bicycle-specific signals in the next edition of the MUTCD.¹⁸²

There are several policy options for states and local jurisdictions that want to endorse safety-promoting bicycle traffic control devices that are not permitted in the MUTCD. First, although states must be in "substantial conformance" with the MUTCD to receive federal highway funds, this standard provides states with a certain amount of freedom to deviate from the federal model.¹⁸³ Both Oregon and California have taken advantage of this flexibility, and allow bicycle signals on their state lists of approved traffic control signals.¹⁸⁴ The NACTO Bike Guide provides detailed design guidance on both bike signals and bike boxes. Local jurisdictions that adopt the NACTO Bike Guide will be in a position to pursue innovative bike infrastructure. Local jurisdictions will also want to develop effective working relationships with their state departments of transportation to avoid conflicts between state and local standards.

In addition, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) has a procedure to allow jurisdictions to conduct pilot projects with unapproved traffic control devices. Such projects, referred to as "experimentations," can provide a powerful tool for jurisdictions to try new bicycle friendly traffic control devices.¹⁸⁵ Currently, bicycle signal experimentations are underway in at least 16 cities around the country, and bike boxes are also being tried out in various locations pursuant to this process.¹⁸⁶ Local jurisdictions can use this experimentation process to be on the forefront of promoting bicycle friendly intersection design and control.

Another bicycle friendly traffic control device that helps bicycles get safely through intersections - and is fully approved by the MUTCD - is signal detection for bicycles. Some intersections are controlled by "demandactuated signals." These types of signals are particularly common in rural or lightly trafficked suburban areas, but are also common at many urban intersections. These types of signals only turn green when traffic is detected, usually by a sensor installed in the pavement that detects metal. The problem is that the traditional old-style sensors only detect cars and trucks. Bicycle riders are left with the unfortunate choice of crossing against the signal, which can be unsafe (in addition to being illegal), or waiting indefinitely for a car to trigger the signal change, which is highly inconvenient.¹⁸⁷ A number of options exist for addressing this problem, including loops that detect bicycles, video camera detectors, and the newest technology - radar detectors.¹⁸⁸ If there is a pedestrian crosswalk with a signal, a bicycle push button (which allows a person bicycling to press a button from a normal bicycling position to trigger the signal) is also an option. State or local jurisdictions can adopt policies to ensure that demand-actuated intersections are safe and convenient for people riding bicycles. California and Washington both have laws requiring that all new and upgraded demand-actuated signals be designed to detect bicycles (and motorcycles).¹⁸⁹ LaCross, Wisconsin, requires the installation of video detection systems at all new fully actuated traffic signals.¹⁹⁰

<image>

Studies show that traffic calming treatments are very effective in reducing speed, increasing comfort for people bicycling and walking, and decreasing motor vehicle collisions.

POLICY: TRAFFIC CALMING

Local jurisdictions can also enact policies supporting traffic calming designs that reduce vehicle speed, decreasing the dangers posed by fast cars to bicycles and pedestrians. At its core, traffic calming simply involves designing streets to encourage vehicles to travel safely, without speeding or engaging in dangerous maneuvers. The key to traffic calming is that it decreases traffic dangers through a self-enforcing approach, by creating physical and visual cues that lead motorists to drive more slowly.¹⁹¹ Studies show that traffic calming treatments are very effective in reducing speed, increasing comfort for people bicycling and walking, and decreasing motor vehicle collisions.¹⁹²

TRAFFIC CALMING IN SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS

"The city hereby finds and determines that long blocks, wide street cross sections and uninterrupted traffic flows can encourage speeding on local streets. Accordingly... design standards will slow traffic on local streets while allowing flexibility in design.... [These standards include] bulb outs, roundabouts, speed humps, median islands, t-intersections."

Unified Development Code, San Antonio, TX.²⁰¹

Traffic calming approaches can involve simple and familiar design features, such as narrower streets and speed humps. Street trees, pedestrian-scale lighting, and landscaping also encourage slower speeds and can play a role in traffic calming. In addition, there are a wide array of other traffic calming features, some of which are less familiar, including bulb-outs, traffic diverters, roundabouts, and chicanes.

Traffic calming can improve bikeability on any street, and is essential for bike boulevards. Traffic calming can evoke strong positive and negative reactions from local residents and drivers, and so community involvement may be especially important in designing policies or implementation plans.¹⁹³ Traffic calming policies must also account for emergency responders' street design needs.¹⁹⁴

Policy approaches to traffic calming may involve amending local codes and street design guidelines to permit and require specific traffic calming features, or may set forth a general policy commitment to traffic calming and plan for implementation.¹⁹⁵ San Antonio, Texas, for example, has a policy for new development that identifies a wide array of traffic calming approaches for implementation in the interests of public health and safety.

POLICY: ROAD DIETS: RETROFITTING EXISTING ROADS WITH BIKE LANES

A common road configuration is the undivided four-lane street with no turning lanes and no bike lanes. These roadways have a poor safety record, primarily because motorists drive rapidly and frequently switch lanes so they can go faster and move around cars stopped for left turns. These roads are also dangerous for pedestrians because at intersections lacking signals, a driver in one lane may stop for a crossing pedestrian while drivers in the adjacent lane do not.¹⁹⁶

A "road diet" involves the conversion of these four-lane streets into three lanes, with a lane going in each direction and one central two-way left turn lane. The space created by eliminating the fourth lane is used to make the street much safer for people bicycling and walking by installing bikeways, refuge islands, or wider sidewalks for pedestrians.¹⁹⁷ Other types of roads can also be put on a "diet" to create room for bikeways.¹⁹⁸ For example, wide traffic lanes can be narrowed to provide room for a basic, enhanced, or protected bike lane.

Studies have shown that removing a traffic lane generally does not sacrifice travel time for drivers, because motor vehicles making left-hand turns are removed from the flow of traffic (instead of blocking it).¹⁹⁹ Additionally, the road diet design provides major safety benefits for motorists (by reducing rear-end and sideswipe crashes, and decreasing crash severity when crashes occur). Road diets also increase compliance with speed limits, which makes the street safer for everyone.²⁰⁰ After Austin used a road diet approach on

an arterial roadway, a traffic study showed increased compliance with speed limits, and comparable 24-hour motor vehicle counts and traffic back-up at major intersections.²⁰² At the same time, bicycle and pedestrian use rose significantly.²⁰³ The case for road diets is so compelling that the Federal Highway Association (FHWA) has now adopted this approach as one of its nine "Proven Safety Countermeasures" recommended for implementation by road managers.²⁰⁴

Because a road diet mostly consists of restriping, it is a relatively low-cost way to retrofit existing arterial roadways with bikeways in both directions, particularly if the road diet can be planned in conjunction with reconstruction or simple overlay projects.²⁰⁵ In addition, road diets may be less controversial than other approaches to finding space in the right of way for bikeways, such as removing parking spaces for cars. The FHWA provides guidance on which roads may be good candidates for a road diet, based on traffic volume.²⁰⁶ Jurisdictions may want to consider other relevant factors as well.

Local jurisdictions can use policy to make road diets a priority. They can adopt stand-alone resolutions or ordinances designed to encourage road diets (e.g. directing a review of city streets to determine candidates for road diets) or they can encourage road diets as part of a complete streets policy, a bicycle or transportation plan, or amendment of road design guidelines.²⁰⁷

For example, in 2009, the city of Pasadena, California, adopted a strategic plan that required, among other things, that the city adopt a speed management program to improve safety. This policy led to a study of best practices in speed management, which found that road diets and providing speed feedback to motorists were the two best ways to manage speed on major streets. As a result, the Pasadena Department of Transportation included a speed management program in its Capital Improvement Program that requires installing speed feedback signs and implementing road diets on appropriate street segments as part of the annual pavement maintenance program.²⁰⁸

POLICY: MULTI-MODAL LEVEL OF SERVICE STANDARDS

An often overlooked but significant obstacle to bicycle friendly road design is found in the policies governing level of service (LOS) standards. LOS refers to the "level of service" that the road or street provides. Traditionally, LOS has been measured solely by how well the road serves automobile drivers based on how fast traffic can flow. Thus, a road in which motor vehicle traffic flows freely would be rated an LOS "A," while a road that suffers constant congestion is rated LOS "F." Comprehensive plans or other planning documents will often commit communities to maintaining a given level of service for cars on local roads, and this commitment may then dominate decisions about transportation investments.²⁰⁹ LOS standards are often used to evaluate proposed road design in new developments or to identify existing problem roads and prioritize improvements. If local transportation plans or other policies require that roads be evaluated for car LOS only, then roads are likely to be designed with only cars in mind and existing roads will not be assessed for bicycle needs.²¹⁰ Additionally, LOS requirements can potentially block the development of bikeways if they only require consideration of how the bikeway affects LOS for motor vehicles (which may decrease) and not how well the road with a bikeway will serve people bicycling (which may dramatically increase).

In recent years, there have been efforts to develop multi-modal level-ofservice ("MMLOS") systems that can be used to assess whether roads serve everyone's needs – people bicycling, walking, and using transit – not just drivers. The National Cooperative Highway Research Program, for example, developed MMLOS standards, which the 2010 edition of the Highway Capacity Manual ("HCM") incorporated into an integrated MMLOS tool for use by planners and engineers in assessing the needs of all users of the road.²¹¹ However, that MMLOS is still in the early stages of development, and establishing the best method for measuring LOS for bicycling is an ongoing process. Other performance measurement strategies are also worth exploring, such as pilot implementation followed by real-time analysis.

State and local jurisdictions that are still using traditional LOS standard can adopt policies to require a shift to MMLOS standards. Some cities have already taken this step. Jacksonville, Florida, for example, adopted a "2030 Mobility Plan" that requires the city to "adopt a city-wide multi-modal mobility score to measure mobility and establish the acceptable levels of service based on roadways, transit, and bicycle and pedestrian facilities."²¹² In Chico and Berkeley, California, the general plans explicitly call for adoption of an MMLOS standard to improve street design for people bicycling, walking, and using transit.²¹³

STRATEGY: ENCOURAGING SAFER DRIVING

In addition to creating safe bikeways, policy can be used to target specific safety hazards caused by motorist conduct. Hazardous motorist conduct includes

- not giving sufficient clearance to bicycles when passing;
- harassment of people bicycling by drivers;
- dooring (when a driver (or passenger) swings a car door open directly in front of a person bicycling);
- "right hook turns" (when a motorist turns right directly in front of a person bicycling); and
- obstructing bicycle lanes.

Policy can help reduce these hazards through traffic laws and also, as discussed above, through road design and traffic control policies.

CIRCULATION ELEMENT — CHICO, CA

"The Circulation Element seeks to enhance bicycle travel by providing bicycle facilities on new roadways, enhancing connectivity within the existing bicycle system, and establishing policies to incorporate the consideration of bicycle transportation in a Multimodal Level of Service (MMLOS) assessment."

Chico General Plan²¹⁴

The power to regulate traffic through traffic law is left to each individual state. To encourage some degree of uniformity across the country, however, a nongovernmental National Committee on Uniform Traffic Laws and Ordinances provides states with a model set of policies called the Uniform Vehicle Code ("UVC").²¹⁵ States typically borrow liberally from these model policies when adopting their own state traffic laws, usually contained in a state vehicle code, but they also modify or reject some of the model laws and can add their own.

The UVC, and virtually all state traffic laws, contains a general provision stating that bicycle riders have the same legal rights and responsibilities as motor vehicle drivers.²¹⁶ Little attention, however, is given to the particulars of bicycle safety. The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) maintains an online resource guide that can be used to identify state traffic laws that enhance bicycle safety and to assess a state's position relative to other states with respect to bike safety laws.²¹⁷ In addition to state traffic laws, many local jurisdictions are authorized by their state to adopt local traffic laws (so long as they are not inconsistent with state law).²¹⁸ Many states and local jurisdictions have adopted bicycle safety traffic laws outside of the UVC since the UVC fails to address important safety issues for people bicycling.

POLICY: REQUIRE SAFE PASSING OF BICYCLISTS

The UVC does not specifically address the issue of motor vehicle drivers passing bicycles. Rather, it only addresses one vehicle passing another by requiring that drivers must "pass at a safe distance to the left of the vehicle being overtaken and shall not again drive to the right side of the roadway until safely clear of the overtaken vehicle."²¹⁹ Most states have adopted either this exact provision or a very similar version.

In most states a bicycle is considered a vehicle for purposes of traffic law, so the requirement that people pass at a safe distance from vehicles does include bicycles.²²⁰ However, while motorists learn during driver training what a safe distance is for passing cars, they do not get such training with respect to passing people bicycling. Even when collisions do not occur, passing too close at full speed leaves people on bicycles feeling vulnerable and unsafe.²²¹ Establishing a specific safe distance for passing bicycles eliminates confusion over what constitutes a "safe distance," educates motorists about the importance of sharing the road, and helps prevent not only brushes and near misses, but also injuries and fatalities from collisions.

More than 20 states have enacted traffic laws that establish a minimum of three feet as the safe distance for a motor vehicle passing a bicycle, and Pennsylvania has set the distance at four feet.²²² Cities can also adopt their own safe passing laws. At least nine cities in Texas (which does not have a state law) have adopted safe passing laws.²²³ Other cities with such laws include Boise, Idaho, and Denver, Colorado.²²⁴

NEW HAMPSHIRE SAFE PASSING LAW

"Every driver of a vehicle, when approaching a bicyclist, shall insure the safety and protection of the bicyclist and shall exercise due care by leaving a reasonable and prudent distance between the vehicle and the bicycle. The distance shall be presumed to be reasonable and prudent if it is at least 3 feet when the vehicle is traveling at 30 miles per hour or less, with one additional foot of clearance required for every 10 miles per hour above 30 miles per hour."

N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §265:143-a.

PUBLIC EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS OF LOUISIANA SAFE PASSING LAW

"[The Office of Motor Vehicles] is directed to include a summary of this Section [requiring 3 feet passing buffer] in any instructional publication for drivers ... The Louisiana Highway Safety Commission is directed to engage in a public awareness campaign to notify motorists and bicyclists of the provisions of this Section."

La. Rev. Stat. § 32:76.1.

Safe passing laws can also include important public education requirements. Louisiana's law, for example, requires the state Office of Motor Vehicles to include a summary of the safe passing law in all driver education materials, and requires the state Highway Safety Commission to initiate a public awareness campaign on safe bicycle passing.²²⁵

POLICY: ANTI-HARASSMENT ORDINANCES

A new trend involves local jurisdictions adopting ordinances designed to protect people bicycling from harassment by motorists. The City of Los Angeles enacted the first ordinance of this kind in 2011.²²⁶ While there are already laws prohibiting assault and battery, the Los Angeles ordinance is ground-breaking because it allows people bicycling to sue drivers in civil court for harassment that would not meet the strict standards for assault and battery – for example, if a driver intentionally distracts someone who is bicycling.²²⁷ The Los Angeles ordinance also gives more protection to people who bike than traditional assault and battery laws because it does not require proof of actual damages; if the court finds harassment, the bicyclist is entitled to recover either a minimum \$1000 in presumed damages or triple the amount of actual damages proved, whichever is greater. The ordinance also allows for punitive damages, where appropriate, and for recovery of attorney's fees and court costs if the person who was bicycling prevails. St. Louis, Missouri; Washington, DC; and Berkeley, Sunnyvale, Sebastopol, and Sonoma County, California, have passed similar ordinances.²²⁸

POLICY: ANTI-DOORING PROTECTION

As noted earlier in this chapter in our discussion of road design, people bicycling on streets with parallel parking face the potentially serious hazard of dooring.²²⁹ Dooring generally occurs when a parked motorist or departing passenger opens a car door directly in front of a person bicycling, causing a collision. The risk of dooring is highest in commercial areas with high parking turnover, in cities with high taxi use, and on streets where the bike lane is improperly sited within the "door zone," the area three feet to the left of a parked car.²³⁰

While good road design policy is the most direct way to reduce the risk of dooring, state and local jurisdictions can also address this hazard through traffic law. The UVC has a general provision on "opening and closing vehicle doors," which prohibits the opening of any car door "until it is reasonably safe to do so and can be done without interfering with the movement of other traffic."²³¹ While most states have adopted some variation of this, the provision does not specifically highlight the risk of dooring bicycles and is generally viewed as ineffective in addressing the problem.

Traffic laws can be amended to

- require exiting drivers and passengers to look for oncoming bicycles prior to opening car doors;
- allow people bicycling to ride outside the door zone, even if that requires riding outside a bike lane; and
- add a specific enforcement feature.

Massachusetts' Bicycle Safety Bill, for example, provides that motorists and passengers can be ticketed and fined up to \$100 for opening a door into the path of traffic, including bicycle or pedestrian traffic.²³² The City of Chicago's 2013 Bicycle Safety Act imposes a \$300 fine on a driver who opens a door in the path of a bicycle when there is no collision, and a \$1,000 fine when there is a collision.²³³ Chicago also has an administrative policy mandating that all taxi drivers affix a bright red and white sticker on each side window that warns passengers to look for bicycles before they exit.²³⁴

POLICY: RIGHT HOOK TURN PROTECTION

Another common source of collisions between cars and bicycles is the "right hook turn."²³⁵ This occurs when a motorist turning right at an intersection cuts directly in front of a person bicycling who is going straight through the intersection. Such collisions may take place when both the car and bicycle are traveling toward an intersection in close proximity. Sometimes the driver will assume that the person bicycling will turn right too, or will believe that it is the responsibility of the bicycle to wait while the car turns right. These collisions also can follow a stop at an intersection for a red light or stop sign, when a bicycle is waiting to the right of the car; the car may hit the bicycle if the motorist has limited visibility or does not look for a bicycle on the right before turning. While the UVC requires both people driving and bicycling to signal an intention to turn, it does not address the potential conflict for bicycles inherent in car right turns. Indeed, many drivers and people on bicycles are unsure how to handle these types of interactions.²³⁶

As discussed above, bike boxes and bike signals can help tackle this hazard. In addition, traffic laws should be clarified to delineate clear rights and obligations in right-turn situations. At a minimum, traffic laws should specify that, regardless of the presence or absence of a bike lane, drivers should yield to people bicycling and only turn when they can do so safely. In this vein, Massachusetts has a traffic law that permits right turns only when they can be made at a "safe distance" from bicycles and occur at a "speed that is reasonable and proper."²³⁷ Oregon traffic law makes it illegal to turn right on a red light without "yield[ing] the right of way to traffic lawfully within the intersection or approaching so close as to constitute an immediate hazard."²³⁸ The California Vehicle Code requires cars to merge into the dashed section of a bicycle lane 200 feet prior to an intersection in order to make a right turn, but the law is insufficiently clear with regard to when cars must yield.²³⁹



Requiring a warning sticker on taxi passenger windows can reduce dooring injuries to people bicycling.

MASSACHUSETTS STATE CODE

"Precautions for safety of other travelers: No person operating a vehicle that overtakes and passes a bicyclist proceeding in the same direction shall make a right turn at an intersection or driveway unless the turn can be made at a safe distance from the bicyclist at a speed that is reasonable and proper."

Mass. Gen. Laws., ch. 90, § 14. (2013).248

CALIFORNIA VEHICLE CODE

"No person may place or park any bicycle, vehicle, or any other object upon any bikeway or bicycle path or trail, as specified in subdivision (a), which impedes or blocks the normal and reasonable movement of any bicyclist unless the placement or parking is necessary for safe operation or is otherwise in compliance with the law."

Cal. Veh. Code § 21211(b).249

POLICY: PROHIBIT OBSTRUCTION OF BICYCLE LANES

Motorists, including taxi drivers and delivery trucks, create a significant safety hazard for bicycles when they stop or park in bicycle lanes. Such obstructions can easily cause a collision, either because the person bicycling collides with the obstruction or swerves suddenly into traffic to avoid it. This hazard was highlighted by a YouTube video gone viral, which showed various obstacles in bicycle lanes in New York City, including a parked police car.²⁴⁰ Obstructions in bike lanes can also create safety hazards for motorists if they are forced to suddenly move into another lane to avoid a swerving bicycle. While the UVC does not address the issue, some state and local jurisdictions have adopted their own traffic laws.

New York City, for example, has regulations that both prohibit stopping or parking in bike lanes and allow delivery trucks that are otherwise lawfully double-parking to park outside the bike lane to avoid blocking it.²⁴¹ It has also created more dedicated loading zones and encouraged off-peak deliveries. However, enforcement remains a challenge.

Another example is Long Beach, Mississippi. On the urging of middle school students, the city passed an ordinance finding that that "the general health, safety and welfare and best interest of the community justify and require that the City prohibit parking in spaces or areas designated as bicycle lanes."²⁴²

At the state level, California has adopted a vehicle code section that prohibits not only obstruction of bike lanes by vehicles, but also by "any other object."²⁴³

In jurisdictions where double parking is illegal but common, policymakers can also consider adopting a traffic law that substantially increases the fine for double parking if the driver has also blocked a bicycle lane. For example, double parking in the bike lane could cost the driver \$100, while double parking outside the bike lane would cost only \$50.

POLICY: POLICE TRAINING ON BICYCLE SAFETY

Most law enforcement officers have never been specifically trained in bicycle safety.²⁴⁴ If police officers understand what causes bicycle collisions and which traffic laws promote bicycle safety, however, they can better protect people bicycling and help avoid future injuries. Local jurisdictions can help police officers create a safer environment for people bicycling by adopting a policy to provide such training. The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") guidelines encourage training of law enforcement on bicycle safety and NHTSA has developed training materials (videos and written materials) specifically for law enforcement.²⁴⁵ These materials are designed to educate police officers regarding bicycle safety issues and their role in making streets safer for people bicycling.²⁴⁶ Information on overcoming barriers to establishing such trainings, as well as additional training resources, is available on the Federal Highway Administration Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center website.²⁴⁷

States or localities can also adopt policy in this area. Massachusetts, for example, enacted a bicycle safety bill that requires, among other things, that all police recruits be trained in bicycle safety.²⁵⁰ Fort Collins, Colorado, has adopted a Safety Education Plan that calls for the training of police officers on issues relating to bicycling and bicycle safety.²⁵¹

As the strategies and policies set forth in this chapter show, there are many options available to jurisdictions that want to increase safety for people bicycling. By implementing such policies, jurisdictions can reduce one of the most significant hurdles for the willing but wary.

MASSACHUSETTS LAW ON BICYCLE SAFETY TRAINING FOR POLICE OFFICERS

"The course in bicycle safety enforcement shall include, but not be limited to, instruction in...

- the rights and duties of bicyclists set forth in chapter 85;
- (2) patterns and sources of injuries to bicyclists, both those involving and those not involving motor vehicles and the percentage of crashes involving cyclists riding against traffic, riding at night and riding on sidewalks;
- (3) the most dangerous actions by bicyclists and procedures for citing bicyclists, including minors;
- (4) common motorist actions causing bicycle crashes;
- (5) reporting bicyclist crashes; and
- (6) motorists intentionally endangering bicyclists.

All law enforcement recruits shall receive the course in bicycle safety enforcement as part of their required training program."

Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 6, § 116E (b, c).

CHAPTER FIVE: POLICIES THAT MAKE TRAVEL BY BICYCLE MORE CONVENIENT



CONVENIENCE

BICYCLE PARKING

Require Bike Parking in New Development and Major Remodels

Require Parking Lots and Garages to Provide Bicycle Parking

Commuter Bicycle Parking in Office Buildings

Require Large Civic Events to Provide Bicycle Parking

Local Government Installation of Bike Parking

Support Bicycle Parking through Requiring LEED Certification

Tax Incentives for Bike Parking

BICYCLING AND PUBLIC TRANSIT

Bicycles on Board

Transit-Focused Bicycle Parking

Bikeways to and from Transit

BICYCLE FLOW AT INTERSECTIONS

Stop as Yield

Adjusting Signange to Support Bicycle Flow

Adjusting Enforcement Priorities

FINANCIAL INCENTIVES FOR BICYCLING

Bicycle Commuter Reimbursement

Matching Bicycle/Transit Subsidy

Parking Cash-Out Law

Reimbursement for Work Travel by Bicycle

REFLECTING THE TRUE COSTS OF DRIVING

MAKING EVERYDAY DESTINATIONS BIKEABLE

CHAPTER FIVE: POLICIES THAT MAKE TRAVEL BY BICYCLE MORE CONVENIENT

INTRODUCTION

A decision to make a trip by bicycle also depends on convenience. If traveling by bicycle requires an unacceptable level of effort, time, or cost compared to driving, people who have a choice will make the trip by car instead. Currently, many people on bikes face hassles that make bicycling inconvenient. For example, bicycle theft is a serious problem in many cities. Bicycling to work is highly inconvenient if there is no safe place to park a bike. In other cases, common destinations may be located far from residential areas, making distances too far for bicycling to be convenient. This problem can be compounded if there is no easy way to combine bicycling with public transit options, making bicycle-transit travel difficult or impossible. Fortunately, there are many available approaches that can make bicycling substantially more convenient.

STRATEGY: BICYCLE PARKING

When there is ample and secure car parking at a destination, it is far more convenient to drive than otherwise. The same is true for bicycling. While policy planners have traditionally devoted enormous resources to the parking needs of drivers, little attention has been paid to the parking needs of those traveling by bicycle. It is clear, however, that arriving at a destination with no safe place to park a bicycle makes biking inconvenient and deters would-be bicyclists; in fact, it is one of the primary reasons commuters cite for not bicycling to work.²⁵² Conversely, quality bicycle parking can greatly enhance the convenience of bicycling. Bike parking ensures an easy transition to one's destination, and can be crucial for integrating bicycling with public transportation. In addition, bicycle parking amenities such as showers and lockers can make commuting by bicycle far more convenient and increase bicycle commuting rates.²⁵³

In areas in which car parking is scarce or expensive, bicycle parking can also save time and money. Bicycle parking also provides a visible way to let the community know that bikes belong and are welcomed, and creative bicycle racks can serve as public art. Moreover, bike parking can boost local businesses and tourism. Studies show that people who travel to shopping areas by bicycle spend more per capita in any given week than those who arrive by car.²⁵⁴ In Madison, sales tax revenue increased 3 percent in shopping areas with new bicycle racks.²⁵⁵ Durango, Colorado, boasts on its website



Bicycle parking provides a visible way to let the community know that bikes belong and are welcomed. In addition, there are many benefits to community members and local businesses when bicycle parking is ample and secure.

GUIDELINES AND MODEL POLICIES FOR BICYCLE PARKING

Bike Parking Guidelines 2nd Ed. (2010)

The Association of Pedestrian and Bicycle Professionals (APBP) has developed specific standards for most aspects of bicycle parking. Available for purchase from APBP website: https://apbp.site-ym.com/store/ view_product.asp?id=502098

Model Bicycle Parking Ordinance

ChangeLab Solutions has developed model bicycle parking ordinances for

- new development and major renovations;
- 2) parking facilities; and
- 3) large civic events involving street closures.

These ordinances draw from the APBP guidelines and are available online at: www.changelabsolutions. org/publications/bike-parking.



Making a Place for Bicycles Using Bicycle Parking Laws to Support Health, Business, and the Environment

Lada aka da kawang dek boyding by making dek parking meng suksky mesukakk. Om made Ringky kawang andianane kabig ana boyding i men akada fanding a warang basa to kot ap. ChangeeLab Solutions

ory they work that a good place to hock that it bicycles. Bicych paching dimense protein an any way to ensure pitroffic highly paching all makes clear that bicycles are welcome. The second se

nplan https://www.com/www.

that tourists can take a two-wheeled tour of local breweries and shop by bike because "no matter where you go in downtown, you'll find a place to park your bike nearby."²⁵⁶

Policy measures are critical to providing an adequate supply of bicycle parking. Many cities are enthusiastically embracing new and innovative bicycle parking solutions, including "bike corrals," which turn one or two on-street car parking spots into parking for 8–20 bicycles, and bicycle parking requirements for new development.²⁵⁷ Bicycle parking ordinances can ensure that new development and major remodels include adequate bicycle parking, that secure places to park bicycles are maximized in existing development, and that there is bicycle parking at large events.

POLICY: REQUIRE BIKE PARKING IN NEW DEVELOPMENT AND MAJOR REMODELS

More than 150 local governments have already adopted laws requiring bicycle parking in new development and major remodels.²⁵⁸ These laws typically require that new commercial and multifamily developments include a specified quantity of short-term and long-term bicycle parking; such laws may include major renovations as well.²⁵⁹ Developers often benefit from these laws since they can be structured to provide incentives, such as reductions in the number of expensive car parking spaces required, in exchange for bicycle parking. Bicycle parking ordinances may also require or incentivize showers and lockers in new developments over a certain size. ChangeLab Solutions has a model bicycle parking ordinance requiring bicycle parking in new development and major remodels. The model provides detailed guidance, and can be customized to the needs of individual communities.²⁶⁰

POLICY: REQUIRE PARKING LOTS AND GARAGES TO PROVIDE BICYCLE PARKING

Since car parking lots and garages are already in the business of providing parking, it is appropriate and relatively easy for them to add bicycle parking. Doing so significantly expands bicycle parking options in locations already identified as desirable destinations. Bicycling parking in garages can be achieved through requiring existing parking lots and garages to provide bicycle racks as a condition of renewing their business licenses. Cleveland, Ohio, requires bicycle parking in parking facilities as a condition of the issuance or renewal of an annual license.²⁶¹ Jurisdictions can give parking lots and garages flexibility to choose the specific type of bicycle racks or lockers they will provide, as long as they meet certain minimum requirements for convenience and security. ChangeLab Solutions has a model ordinance requiring bicycle parking in parking lots and garages that covers these and other relevant issues, including types of bicycle parking, quantity of bicycle parking spaces, location of spaces, and signage.²⁶²

POLICY: COMMUTER BICYCLE PARKING IN OFFICE BUILDINGS

Fewer than 1 percent of Americans bicycle to work, although roughly 40 percent work no more than five miles from home.²⁶³ As noted above, a primary deterrent is a lack of safe and convenient bicycle parking. No one wants to end their work day by finding that their way home has been stolen. Yet many office buildings neither provide bicycle parking nor allow employees to bring their bicycles into the building. New York City and San Francisco have both adopted laws designed to mitigate this problem by requiring building owners to permit employees to bring their bicycles into office buildings. New York City's "Bicycle Access to Office Buildings Law," requires commercial office buildings with at least one freight elevator to allow commuters to bring bicycles into their offices by freight elevator, upon request.²⁶⁴

Under San Francisco's "Employee Bicycle Access Bill," commercial building owners must either provide secure bicycle parking in their buildings or allow their commercial tenants to permit employees to bring bicycles into their offices.²⁶⁵

POLICY: REQUIRE LARGE CIVIC EVENTS TO PROVIDE BICYCLE PARKING

Monitored bicycle parking (sometimes called "valet bicycle parking") at large civic and sporting events is becoming increasingly popular around the country as local jurisdictions and event organizers recognize its benefits. In addition to encouraging use of a healthy, non-polluting form of transport, it can increase attendance by drawing people who otherwise might not come at all because of the hassle of car parking or lack of secure bicycle parking. Monitored bicycle parking can also help reduce congestion caused by street closures and crowds. ChangeLab Solutions has a model ordinance that requires monitored bicycle parking at large civic events involving street closures.²⁶⁶

POLICY: LOCAL GOVERNMENT INSTALLATION OF BIKE PARKING

Local jurisdictions can adopt policies to install bicycle racks in existing areas where there is likely demand for bicycle parking, such as shopping and entertainment districts and near government buildings, libraries, and recreational areas. School districts and state college systems can take similar steps to ensure adequate provision of bicycle parking. Chicago, IL for example, set a goal of installing 400 to 500 bike racks per year on public streets, and has installed 10,000 racks on public property so far.²⁶⁷ Washington, DC adopted a law requiring installation of bicycle racks at City Hall and development of a strategic plan to provide bicycle parking at other buildings occupied by District of Columbia agencies, public schools, libraries, and parks.²⁶⁸

"

"Bicycling in from New Jersey and other suburbs took off after the city passed a law requiring landlords to accommodate bikes in buildings."

Rob Kotch, Bicycle Commuter, on New York City's "Bicycle Access to Office Buildings Law²⁶⁹



Policy measures are critical to ensuring an adequate supply of bicycle parking. Bicycle parking can provide a secure place to lock a bicycle while also serving as public art.

POLICY: SUPPORT BICYCLE PARKING THROUGH REQUIRING LEED CERTIFICATION

The US Green Building Council has developed a system for rating buildings on how well they reduce pollution and waste and increase energy efficiency. Under this system, called "Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design" (LEED) certification, developers earn points based on the number of environmentally friendly features they include in a building or development. LEED provides some support for bicycle parking because one of the ways that developers can earn points is by providing bicycle parking in commercial developments or institutional buildings. To earn the bicycle parking credit, developers must provide secure bicycle storage with convenient changing/ shower facilities within 200 yards of a non-residential building for 5 percent or more of regular building occupants. Residential buildings must include covered bicycle storage facilities for 15 percent or more of building occupants.²⁷⁰ To date, many jurisdictions and states have adopted policies requiring developers to demonstrate that public buildings meet designated LEED certification standards,²⁷¹ and some cities have also amended their building or zoning codes to require that certain private developments achieve LEED certification.²⁷²

Though local jurisdictions can adopt LEED certification standards for public and private development to encourage bicycle parking, they would do better not to rely on LEED certification alone to meet bicycle parking needs. Bicycle parking is just one of many options developers can choose to earn points toward LEED certification; thus, there is no guarantee that a LEED certified building will include bicycle parking. Also, LEED bicycle parking requirements include few standards regarding the type, quality, location, and so on for bicycle parking. LEED certification requirements work best in conjunction with a local bicycle parking ordinance that sets forth such standards.²⁷³

POLICY: TAX INCENTIVES FOR BIKE PARKING

States can also use tax policy to encourage bicycle parking in existing development. In Virginia, for example, legislation was introduced (but not enacted) that would have provided a tax credit to employers for the cost of installing bicycle racks and showers for employees, up to a ceiling of \$5,000.²⁷⁴

STRATEGY: BICYCLING AND PUBLIC TRANSIT

Traveling or commuting by bicycle for longer distances (more than 3 to 5 miles) is considered impractical by many people because of the time and effort required. Longer trips are also more likely to contain segments that are inaccessible to bicycles, such as bridges, tunnels, and freeways. But if bicycling can be seamlessly integrated with trains, subways, buses, and other public transit options, then traveling by bicycle for longer distances suddenly becomes a far more convenient option. As a result, policies that coordinate

bicycling and public transit systems may increase bike ridership by enabling residents to use bicycles to travel partway to many further locations. In effect, bicycle-transit integration extends the range of destinations for bicycles from a few miles distant to dozens of miles away.

Bicycle-transit integration also makes public transit a more convenient option. People are often dissuaded from using public transit when the distance between the point of origin and public transit, or between public transit and the final destination, is more than a quarter or half a mile. This is because many people do not consider distances over a quarter or half mile to be walkable.²⁷⁵ This obstacle – commonly known as public transit's "first and last mile" problem – is ameliorated by policies that link bicycling with public transit, since bicycles can potentially provide an easy way to cover the first and last miles.²⁷⁶

Transit agencies around the country have adopted policies to mitigate the "first and last mile" obstacle, and they are increasingly seeing bicycling as an important component of such policies. For example, the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority adopted a Bicycle Transportation Strategic Plan in 2006 that prioritized providing access to transit for people bicycling.²⁷⁷ The federal government is providing new support for such projects as well.²⁷⁸

Integrating bicycles and transit also has the benefit of mitigating traffic congestion and air pollution near transit stops caused by those who would otherwise drive to transit.²⁷⁹ It also lessens costs associated with car parkand-ride facilities, and can increase ridership among those who are dissuaded from using transit because of limited car parking. Bicycle-transit integration typically requires less space and fewer resources than car parking.

Bicycle-transit integration policies generally fall into three categories:

- policies that allow riders to keep their bicycles with them on board public transit;
- policies that allow riders to safely leave their bicycles at their transit entry point or pick up a bicycle at their transit exit point (bicycle parking policies); and
- policies that provide convenient bikeways to transit stations. A fourth approach that also addresses bicycle-transit integration is the provision of bike share facilities near transit, discussed in the section on bike share programs in Chapter 7.



Bicycles-on-bus policies are a common type of policy that transit agencies currently use to accommodate people who bicycle and use public transit. Buses can easily be outfitted to carry two to three bicycles at a time.

OPENING UP COMMUTE OPTIONS FOR PEOPLE ON BIKES

"We heard from countless bike riders on both sides of Bay that the August pilot [allowing bicycles on BART during Friday commute hours] opened up regional commuting by bike for both experienced bike riders and those wanting to give it a try for the first time."

Leah Shahum, Executive Director of the San Francisco Bicycle Coalition.²⁸⁷

POLICY: BICYCLES ON BOARD

Bicycles-on-board policies allow people to take their bicycles with them when they use public transit. Local transportation agencies often have unnecessarily restrictive rules about bicycling. Agencies are finding that they can pass policies that expand the time periods during which bicycles are allowed, or permit more types of bicycles on transit, without any real inconvenience.²⁸⁰

Bicycles-on-bus policies are a common type of policy that transit agencies currently use to accommodate people who bicycle and use public transit. One benefit of these policies is low implementation cost. Buses can easily be outfitted to carry two to three bicycles. However, the limited number of spaces per bus makes access unreliable, since people cannot be sure if there will be room for their bicycle until the bus arrives. While some policies allow bikes inside the bus, this option may be restricted to certain hours of the day to avoid crowding. Bus drivers are also usually given discretion in whether to allow passengers onboard with their bikes, which also injects uncertainty for people bicycling.²⁸¹

Commuter rail and subway systems can also have policies that allow passengers to bring bicycles onto train cars. Some rail systems designate certain rail cars for people bicycling; rail systems may require passengers to remain with their bikes for the duration of their rides.²⁸² Rail systems have space constraints, and therefore many agencies prohibit people from bringing bikes onto train cars during peak travel times, to reduce crowding on the train, as well as congestion when people board and exit the train.²⁸³ Clearly, restricting bicycles at peak travel time creates a substantial barrier to bicycletransit integration for many people. One potential solution is to expand the number of cars to accommodate people bicycling. The San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) rail system has successfully experimented with allowing bicycles on board during commute hours on certain trains on Fridays, and is exploring providing bicycle access at all times, seven days a week.²⁸⁴

Another challenge for some is the difficulty of physically maneuvering bicycles onto bus bicycle racks, as well as managing train stairs with bikes for boarding and exiting. Subway, rail, and bus services should consider policies that provide for bike-accessible gates and platform-level boarding, allow bicycles on escalators, and generally facilitate bicycle use.²⁸⁵

Other transit systems that accommodate bikes on board include bicycleon-ferry, bicycle-on-vanpool, and bicycle accommodation by on-demand transit services (such as taxis and car services).²⁸⁶ As with the bike-on-bus and bike-on-rail programs, limited space on transit vehicles and restrictive timetables can hinder widespread access to these accommodations.

Increasing bicycle access can improve farebox returns and significantly increase ridership, so many agencies find it worth their while to overcome the hurdles associated with allowing bikes on board.

POLICY: TRANSIT-FOCUSED BICYCLE PARKING

The second category of bicycle-transit integration policies focuses on making it convenient for residents to complete the pre- or post-transit legs of their trip by bicycle – without having to take a bicycle on board with them.²⁸⁸ These policies typically involve providing bicycle parking at or near major transit points. Such facilities allow people bicycling to complete the "first and last mile" by bicycle without having to physically bring bikes on board. Such policies also eliminate the obstacles presented by transit vehicle space constraints and time restrictions.

Many people, however, will not leave their bicycles parked for any length of time if their bicycle is not well protected from theft. Thus, to maximize the effectiveness of this type of policy, short-term bicycle parking should be paired with more secure bicycle parking, such as bicycle lockers or bike stations.²⁸⁹ Bike stations are full-service facilities, typically located at major transit centers. They provide secure, long-term bicycle parking either through valet service, smart card access, or both. Bike stations can also include other amenities designed to conveniently integrate bicycling with public transit (such as lockers, restrooms, showers, changing rooms, seating areas, bike repair services, bike rentals or bike share, bike retail shops, maps and information, and transit ticket machines).²⁹⁰ Cities with one or more bike stations include Chicago, St. Louis, Washington, DC, Long Beach, Santa Barbara, San Francisco, Oakland, Berkeley, Claremont, Covina, and Palo Alto.

People bicycling must be able to count on a space to park their bike, since they cannot risk arriving at their starting transit point with no safe place to leave their bike. Thus, a successful policy must provide for sufficient bicycle parking spaces to ensure that a number of parking spaces are always available. Some transit agencies – such as Denver's Regional Transportation District and the Central Ohio Transit Authority – have made it a point to collect data on bike rack and parking usage so they can accurately address demand.²⁹¹Transit agencies in congested areas may find it necessary to provide commuters with incentives to leave their bikes at stations instead of bringing them on board, and should provide free or almost-free bicycle parking in excess of the anticipated demand. However, secure bicycle parking is not required at every stop. Secure lockers or bike stations can be provided just every mile or so, because people on bicycles are generally willing to pedal a little extra distance to reach the nearest secure parking area.

Neither parking at stations nor a bikes-on-board policy is sufficient by itself to maximize bicycle-transit integration; both are necessary. Some commuters need to use their bicycles on both ends of the trip, if both the origin and destination are distant from transit. Other people may take the step of having two bicycles, one for each leg of the trip. Others may be unwilling to bother with a bicycle on board transit. The combination of available parking at stations and bikes-on-board gives people the flexibility to contend with the different types of trips and circumstances that arise.

BIKE STATIONS: THREE OPTIONS FOR MANAGEMENT

St. Louis, MO

www.trailnet.org/downtown-bicyclestation

- Managed by non-profit
- Initial funding: US Dep't of Energy

Chicago, IL

www.chicagobikestation.com

- Managed by city
- Initial Funding: Federal Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Program.²⁹² Currently funded by private sponsor.

Long Beach, CA, Washington DC, and more

www.bikestation.com

- Managed by Bikestation.com, a registered B Corporation
- Funding: Funding sources vary, but usually involve federal, state and/or local government funding



POLICY: BIKEWAYS TO AND FROM TRANSIT

Even if bicycles are otherwise integrated with transit, it may achieve little unless people feel comfortable getting to the transit station or stop that is their starting point. As a result, some transit agencies have policies directing them to collaborate with local jurisdictions to facilitate bicycle access to public transit. Likewise, local jurisdictions can prioritize transit access in their bicycle planning. Such collaborative planning efforts can include development of new bicycle lanes, bike routes, and shared-use pedestrian and bike paths that are designed to improve access to key transit stations.²⁹³ The Regional Transportation District (RTD) in Denver, Colorado, for example, has explicitly made it a priority to make it more convenient for people bicycling to access transit.²⁹⁴ Pursuant to this policy, the Denver RTD recently invested jointly in a number of pedestrian/bicycle bridges to facilitate access to transit stations from neighboring communities and existing bike paths.²⁹⁵ The Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART), which provides rail transit in four Northern California counties, has also acknowledged the importance of creating safe and convenient bicycle routes to each station.²⁹⁶ As part of its 2012 BART Bicycle Plan, BART has prioritized working with local jurisdictions to develop improved bikeways to BART stations, and is also planning to create station area maps with recommended bike routes.297

STRATEGY: BICYCLE FLOW AT INTERSECTIONS

Since stopping and starting on a bicycle requires considerable effort, coming to a complete stop at every stop sign can make traveling by bicycling inconvenient, particularly since stop signs tend to populate the less trafficked streets that make for better bicycle routes. Policies to address this challenge can take different forms.

POLICY: STOP AS YIELD

Traffic laws generally require people bicycling to come to a complete stop at stop signs. However, some jurisdictions have passed "stop as yield" laws, which allow people bicycling to treat stop signs as if they were yield signs. This approach allows people bicycling to slow down as they approach a stop sign and, if no other traffic is present and it is safe, to continue through the intersection without coming to a complete stop. However, a complete stop is required if another vehicle or person has the right of way, or if other safety considerations require it. Most people bicycling instinctively follow a "stop as yield" approach, because it requires far more exertion and time to stop completely and then start back up again on a bicycle than in a car.²⁹⁸ Treating stop signs as yield signs also makes sense from a safety perspective. Bicycles, unlike cars, pose a low safety risk to other travelers. On bicycles, visibility is not restricted by a car frame, and speed approaching a stop sign is generally low enough that a person bicycling can readily assess whether it is safe to proceed without coming to a complete stop.

"

"If you talk to bicycle advocates, they think the rule should reflect what is practiced. We crafted street rules for motor vehicles, but now we're adding bicyclists to it — and it makes sense that we have laws that reflect bicycling in ways that promote ridership and help people ride safely."

Ryan McCann, Policy and Outreach Manager, BikeDenver²⁹⁹ At the state level, only Idaho has adopted such a law to date.³⁰⁰ Idaho's law has been in place since 1982; there has been no increase in bicycle injuries or fatalities since this time, and studies have found evidence consistent with improved safety.³⁰¹ In 2005, Idaho expanded its law to also allow people on bicycles to treat red lights as stop signs.³⁰² A number of local jurisdictions have similar laws, including Summit County and the towns of Dillon and Breckenridge in Colorado.³⁰³ However, some efforts to adopt a "stop as yield" approach have not been successful, and have even engendered a backlash against bicycling.

POLICY: ADJUSTING SIGNAGE TO SUPPORT BICYCLE FLOW

Local jurisdictions can also address flow at intersections by altering the traffic signage along traffic-calmed bike routes, particularly on bicycle boulevards. Where safe to do so, stop signs at four-way stops can be removed or replaced with yield signs. With appropriate traffic calming, removing stop signs can create a more efficient free-flow environment for people bicycling, while reducing the amount and speed of vehicle traffic.

On streets with stop lights, jurisdictions can assist bicycle flow by timing lights to permit steady bicycle traffic, an approach that can create a safer environment for people walking as well. Such an approach is particularly appropriate for commercial corridors, where studies show it may even speed up motor vehicle traffic.³⁰⁴ San Francisco has implemented this approach in the Mission neighborhood.³⁰⁵

POLICY: ADJUSTING ENFORCEMENT PRIORITIES

Local jurisdictions can also instruct law enforcement departments to deprioritize enforcement efforts against people on bicycles who do not stop at stop signs, so long as they are riding safely, without danger to themselves or others, and in a manner that respects the right of way of other road users. Although many departments have a de facto general practice of not ticketing this type of minor traffic violation when no safety danger is present, establishing such a policy can decrease the danger of capricious enforcement. Such a policy should be combined with prioritizing the enforcement of violations by people bicycling or driving that do pose safety risks.

STRATEGY: FINANCIAL INCENTIVES FOR BICYCLING

Bicycling becomes more convenient when the cost of bicycling decreases. While bicycling is generally far less costly than driving, state and local governments can provide financial benefits for using bicycles, providing an additional incentive. Such policies are generally focused on commuters. "

"[O]ne of the benefits of a stop as yield law is that it actually increases cyclist safety. Currently, cyclists must choose between routes that are more efficient but less safe due to higher traffic volumes, and routes that are more safe, but less efficient due to the presence of numerous stop signs. Ironically, while stop signs make lesser-traveled streets safer by encouraging automobile traffic to use the less-restricted arterials, they also function as infrastructure barriers to cycling. Allowing cyclists to treat stop signs as yield signs empowers them to legally make the safer routes more efficient."

Bob Mionske, JD, Bicycle Law³⁰⁶

POLICY: BICYCLE COMMUTER REIMBURSEMENT

The federal government makes bicycle commuters eligible for a "Qualified Bicycle Commuting Reimbursement."³⁰⁷ Under this program, employers may offer employees who bike to work a \$20 per month tax-free reimbursement for bicycle-related expenses.³⁰⁸ Employers, in turn, are able to deduct the expense from their federal taxes.³⁰⁹ Currently, reimbursement appears to be unavailable for commuters who bicycle to work using bikes from a bike share program.³¹⁰ In addition, not all states offer the same tax deductions that the federal government offers.³¹¹ Thus, an employer's bicycle reimbursement might be deductible for federal tax purposes, but not for state tax purposes.

States can incentivize participation in the federal bicycle commuting reimbursement program by providing state tax credits to employers that offer bicycle-related transit benefits. Such tax credits should also apply to bicycle share program expenses. States can also provide additional incentives to employers. In 2006, the state of Washington passed the Commute Trip Reduction Efficiency Act, which requires local governments in urban areas with traffic congestion to develop programs that reduce car use.³¹² Through this program, the state Department of Transportation and local governments provide financial support and tax benefits to employers who develop and manage programs to reduce vehicle trips.³¹³ In adopting such laws, states should provide specific benefits for employers who support or promote increased bicycle use.

POLICY: MATCHING BICYCLE/TRANSIT SUBSIDY

State and local jurisdictions that provide a public transit subsidy can provide an equivalent benefit to bicycle commuters. In Portland, Oregon, city employees can earn an additional \$38 each month if they bicycle to work 80 percent of the time, which matches Portland's transit subsidy.³¹⁴

POLICY: PARKING CASH-OUT LAW

The provision of free car parking at work is associated with a reduced likelihood of bike commuting.³¹⁵ One policy that can remove this incentive to drive is a "parking cash-out" law, such as California's.³¹⁶ Parking cash-out laws require employers who provide free or subsidized parking for their employees to also provide employees with the option of a cash allowance in lieu of a car parking space. A study showed that at businesses that implemented California's cash out program, single occupant driving fell by 17 percent and walking and biking increased by 39 percent.³¹⁷ Following a successful pilot program, Austin is in the process of developing a permanent parking cash-out policy for city buildings surrounded by managed parking.³¹⁸

In the absence of a mandate, states can also use policy to encourage private employers to implement parking cash-out laws. Maryland's tax law, for example, provides a 50 percent tax credit (up to \$30 per employee per month) to cover employer costs associated with providing employees a parking cash out program.³¹⁹

POLICY: REIMBURSEMENT FOR WORK TRAVEL BY BICYCLE

While it is common practice for governmental agencies to reimburse their employees for the job-related use of their own cars, few reimburse employees for the use of a bicycle. When they do, they often reimburse at the estimated cost of wear-and-tear on the bike, which is negligible. For example, Caltrans reimburses its employees for bike use on the job at the rate of four cents per mile, and this is deemed taxable income; car use is reimbursed at the rate of 56.5 cents per mile, and this reimbursement is exempt from taxation.³²⁰ The effect of this practice is to create an incentive for employees to use more costly transportation, even when a bike would be just as convenient or better and would also potentially decrease employee health costs. For trips that can be easily made by bicycle, governmental reimbursement level for car use.

STRATEGY: REFLECTING THE TRUE COSTS OF DRIVING

In the United States, many of the actual costs of driving are not paid by individual drivers.³²¹ Many of these costs are subsidized by the government (such as building and maintaining roads) or borne by the public at large (such as environmental damage, adverse health effects from pollution, and poor conditions for walking and biking).³²² A number of cities in Europe and Japan have adopted policies that better reflect the true costs of driving. These policies make bicycling more convenient relative to driving, by making driving more expensive or slower. A wide array of different policies can shift the costs of driving back to drivers. Such policies include car-free streets or zones in the city center, traffic calming, speed restrictions, reduced car parking requirements for new development, higher sales taxes on cars and gasoline, higher registration costs, congestion pricing, and higher pricing for car parking. A number of American cities have found support for this type of policy, including traffic calming, speed restrictions, reduced car parking requirements, and congestion pricing on certain roads. Such policies, however, are probably best framed in terms of their benefits for health, safety, and the environment.

STRATEGY: MAKING EVERYDAY DESTINATIONS BIKEABLE

or bikes to be used more often for transportation, everyday destinations - work, school, stores, medical and professional offices, restaurants, transit centers, and so on - must be within a convenient biking distance. Although ensuring convenient destinations is crucial for bicycling, this need goes far beyond the simple consideration of bicycle friendly policy. Rather, it involves larger land-use planning issues that go to heart of how cities and towns are physically structured. Decades of suburban sprawl and auto-centric design have created communities in which residents often live too far from their destinations to make bicycling (or walking) feasible. There is, however, a growing movement to reverse this trend. People are moving back to cities, with their inherent walkability. Communities are adopting smart growth policies that support alternative forms of transportation and create more sustainable communities.

For local jurisdictions interested in taking up this challenge, many policy tools have emerged.³²³ Below is a brief overview of some of the innovative approaches being implemented around the country. Since communities control growth and development within their borders primarily through zoning and land use laws, these policies typically focus on using these tools to support alternative transportation, develop a mix of land uses, and create sufficient density. Taken together, these policies can support an array of destinations in relatively close proximity to residents.³²⁴

Zoning for Mixed Use and for Density: Traditionally, zoning codes have created separate zones for residential and commercial uses, which makes it more challenging to walk or bike to run errands. But zoning codes can allow mixed uses. Portland, Oregon, uses neighborhood commercial zones to create mixed use development. Some codes go even further and require mixed use. For example, the zoning code for St. Lucie County, Florida requires that "each neighborhood contain a mixture of lot types to provide a variety of uses and diverse housing options." The code also requires that each neighborhood contain at least one mixed-use or retail building lot and three civic building lots.³²⁵

Zoning laws can also be amended to set minimum or average density requirements, which are important for creating more compact and walkable development. In Aurora, CO, the zoning code sets a range of minimum densities that decrease with distance from the transit station, and sets no density ceiling in the core area immediately around the transit station.³²⁶ San Diego requires an average density, rather than a minimum density.³²⁷ Another important trend involves local jurisdictions eliminating or reducing car parking minimums in zoning laws.

Form-Based Zoning: One approach to smart growth zoning is form-based zoning. Form-based codes focus on the physical forms of buildings and developments, in contrast to conventional zoning codes, which separate areas by type of use and density.³²⁸ Form-based zoning codes can be used to encourage compact, walkable urban development that is mixed-use. Jurisdictions that have taken a form-based zoning approach include Leander, Texas; Fitchburg, Wisconsin; Montgomery, Alabama; and Arlington County, Virginia.³²⁹

Transit-Oriented Development ("TOD") Zoning

Overlay Districts: A transit-oriented development (TOD) zoning ordinance is designed to encourage moderate- and high-density mixed use development near transit and to create an environment conducive to walking, bicycling, and transit use.³³⁰ Jurisdictions that have adopted TOD zoning districts include Phoenix, Louisville, Austin, Atlanta, and Arlington County, Virginia.³³¹

Developer Incentives: Local jurisdictions can also use policy to create financial and non-financial incentives for developers to invest in mixed-use, higher-density development. Common financial incentives, which lower the developer's out-of-pocket costs, include property tax abatement programs, decreased impact fees, and loans with below-market-rate interest. Atlanta, for example, gives developers a 50 percent reduction in impact fees if a development is within 1,000 feet of a rail transit station.³³² Jacksonville, FL's innovative

transportation plan (designed to reduce vehicle miles traveled and support alternative transportation modes) includes a mobility fee on developers that is reduced based on proximity to the city core.³³³ Jurisdictions can use revenue policies to finance developer incentives, including tax increment financing programs, sales taxes, revenues from road and parking pricing programs, and vehicle registration fees.

Another category of incentives are those that are non-financial. Non-financial incentives require no upfront costs for the jurisdiction, beyond modest administrative costs, but may be very valuable for the developer. Common non-financial incentives include expedited permitting and density bonuses. Expedited permitting can provide a strong financial benefit to developers. Similarly, density bonuses provide the ability to build more units than would otherwise be allowed, enabling developers to increase a project's profit margin.

There are many examples of communities providing such incentives. Arlington County, Virginia's zoning code offers developers density and height bonuses in conjunction with transit-oriented development, and provides an expedited approval process for developers using its form-based code process.³³⁴ San Diego offers developers a density bonus for projects planned in the proximity of existing or planned transit stations. Vancouver, Washington's TOD zoning ordinance includes an opportunity for developers to earn density bonuses if they provide specified services in the TOD zone (including bike lockers and walkways or bikeways to the nearest commercial or retail center of business).³³⁵ Other jurisdictions that offer density bonuses as an incentive for the provision of bikeway infrastructure include West Jordan, Utah;³³⁶ Marysville, Washington;³³⁷ Front Royal, Virginia;³³⁸ and Walton County, Florida.³³⁹

THE 20 MINUTE NEIGHBORHOOD

There is growing support for the concept of "20 minute neighborhoods," which are designed to encourage residents to walk or bicycle instead of drive.³⁴⁰ In a 20 minute neighborhood there is a mix of land uses - residential, commercial, government that makes most destinations reachable in a 20 minute walk or bike ride. People bicycling, of course, can travel much farther in 20 minutes than people walking (roughly 3.3 miles for someone bicycling, versus one mile for someone walking), making implementation of a 20 minute bikeable neighborhood very practical.³⁴¹ Portland, Oregon, embraced the vision of a 20 minute bikeable neighborhood in its Portland Bicycle Plan for 2030.³⁴²



CHAPTER SIX: POLICIES THAT PROMOTE BICYCLING AS SOCIALLY ACCEPTABLE

SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY

DRIVERS AND BICYCLE SAFETY

Incorporate Bicycling Safety into Driver Education and Training courses

Incorporate Bicycle Safety into Driver Licensing Requirements

Require Bicycle Safety Training for Professional Drivers

Incorporate Bicycle Safety into Traffic School Curriculum

BIKE EDUCATION IN SCHOOLS

Requiring Bicycle Education in Elementary Schools

Requiring Bicycle Skills and Vocational Training in High Schools, Adult Schools, and Community Colleges

ENCOURAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

Establishing Open Streets

Bicycle Friendly Business Districts

Support Safe Routes to Schools

State and Local Government Sponsorship of "Bike to Work Day/Week/Month"

Police Bicycle Patrols

CHAPTER SIX: POLICIES THAT PROMOTE BICYCLING AS SOCIALLY ACCEPTABLE

INTRODUCTION

W hen people do not see neighbors or friends bicycling for transportation and there is no support for bicycling from their local government, it may not even occur to them to consider traveling by bicycle. Instead, they may view bicycling as a curious or abnormal activity. It is no surprise, then, that people who are willing but wary about bicycling are less likely to live or work with people who use bicycles for transportation, and may not see people who look like them bicycling on city streets.³⁴³

In Cleveland, Ohio, where using a bicycle for transport is still relatively rare, bicycling groups have recognized that "the biggest goal is to get people to realize that biking, whether for transportation, exercise or fun, is perfectly normal."³⁴⁴ Many individuals are simply uninformed about bicycling and its benefits. Santa Clara County, California's bicycle plan explains, "Before bicycling will be considered as a potential commute alternative by the potential cyclist, its feasibility and benefits must be made known. Many people are unaware of the many benefits that bicycle commuting can provide."³⁴⁵

Promoting awareness is important for the willing but wary group, but it is also important to communicate the benefits and normalcy of bicycling to those who are unlikely to ever bicycle. Their views may affect the perceptions of people who may be interested, and their behavior on the road will influence the safety of people bicycling.

Promoting awareness in communities of color is particularly important. Negative stereotypes of bicycling (as a leisure activity for the well-to-do or a mode of last resort for the poor) may be more prevalent in communities of color, as is the fear of racial profiling through heightened visibility to police of bicycles. Campaigns to normalize bicycling must be tailored to meet the concerns of different communities.

"

"A lot of people out there still view cycling as a fringe activity."

Jacob VanSickel, Executive Director, Bike Cleveland³⁴⁶

"

"We're creating visibility, representing an image of what bike riding can look like within the black community. The more people see it, the more it becomes commonplace and less intimidating.... Some of our cyclists come on a bike ride for the first time in their lives or since they were nine years old. After that first bike ride, it becomes easier and easier to form a lifestyle around bike riding."³⁴⁷

Jenna Burton, Founder of Red, Bike and Green, which promotes bicycling in the African-American community and has chapters in Chicago, Atlanta, Brooklyn, and Oakland

"

"Regardless of roadblocks, groups like Black Women Bike: DC are trying to raise the profile of bike riding in minority communities. And as the number of black, Latino and Asian cyclists in this country grows, more riders will be able to see themselves reflected as they pedal around town."

Lauren Ober, "How a Minority Biking Group Raises the Profile of Cycling"³⁵¹

TIP

Educating Drivers about Dooring: In the Netherlands, drivers are taught to reach across their body to open the car door with their right hand. As a result, they routinely glance over their left shoulder before exiting, ensuring that they will see any oncoming bicycles.³⁵² There is often a strong programmatic focus to the goal of changing people's perceptions of bicycling. Indeed, these campaigns are frequently carried out by nonprofit or community groups, rather than by government.³⁴⁸ But governmental policy can also support cultural and educational components of creating bicycle friendly communities. State and local jurisdictions can adopt policies designed to raise awareness about bicycling (including topics like the benefits of bicycling, how to ride, rules of the road, bicycle safety, and maintenance), encourage bicycling, and raise the profile of bicycling.

STRATEGY: DRIVERS AND BICYCLE SAFETY

For most American teenagers, getting a driver's license is a rite of passage. Adults must also regularly renew their licenses, and may need to attend traffic school if they have traffic violations. As a result, driver training, licensing, and enforcement present an opportunity to expose most Americans to bicycle safety information.

Rules governing driver training, testing, and traffic school are typically controlled by state statutes. Including bicycle safety materials in driver training and providing for bicycle "rules of the road" questions on driving license tests establishes bicycling as a normal, sanctioned activity. Part of this message is that drivers can also be bicyclists. And, since poor driving poses the biggest threat to the safety of people bicycling, increasing awareness of how to drive safely around bicycles also can help decrease bicycling injuries. For example, as discussed in Chapter 4, drivers are often confused as to how to handle right turns when a person bicycling is nearby, and don't understand that people bicycle three to four feet to the left of parked cars to avoid the "door zone." Driver training and licensing can highlight these and other share-the-road safety issues.

POLICY: INCORPORATE BICYCLING SAFETY INTO DRIVER EDUCATION AND TRAINING COURSES

States can require public and private driver training courses to include bicycle and pedestrian traffic safety lessons. Florida has developed a strong curriculum for such courses, in order to "increase awareness among motorists about laws regarding bicyclists and pedestrians" and ensure that "motorists will learn how to properly share the road with both bicyclists and pedestrians."³⁴⁹ Minnesota, New Hampshire, and Washington state laws also contain such requirements.³⁵⁰
WASHINGTON LAW ON DRIVER TRAINING

"[I]t is the policy of the state of Washington to encourage the safe and efficient use of the roads by all citizens, regardless of mode of transportation. In furtherance of this policy, the legislature further finds and declares that driver training programs should enhance the driver training curriculum in order to emphasize the importance of safely sharing the road with bicyclists and pedestrians....

[The minimum required curriculum for driver training shall include]: Bicycle safety, to ensure that operators of motor vehicles have been instructed in the importance of safely sharing the road with bicyclists....''

Washington H.B. 2564.353

POLICY: INCORPORATE BICYCLE SAFETY INTO DRIVER LICENSING REQUIREMENTS

The state department of motor vehicles can test first-time and renewal license applicants on how to share the road safely with people bicycling, emphasizing these rules in the drivers' manuals provided to test-takers.³⁵⁴ At least 20 states include such questions on their tests, and more than 30 cover the topic in drivers' manuals.³⁵⁵ However, many of these states only touch on bicycle safety, and should expand their coverage. Since many currently licensed drivers learned to drive at a time when few bicycles were on the road, this type of educational opportunity is particularly important for both people bicycling and those driving. State legislatures can pass laws that direct additional emphasis on bicycles in driver licensing, and state agencies that regulate driving (departments of licensing or departments of motor vehicles) can revise their administrative rules and policies.

Sample California Driving Test Question³⁵⁶

When can you drive in a bike lane?

- O During rush hour traffic if there are no bicyclists in the bike lane.
- When you are within 200 feet of a cross street where you plan to turn right.
- $\odot\,$ When you want to pass a driver ahead of you who is turning right.

POLICY: REQUIRE BICYCLE SAFETY TRAINING FOR PROFESSIONAL DRIVERS

People bicycling may particularly benefit from policies that require additional bicycle safety training for professional drivers – taxi drivers, bus drivers, truck drivers, and others. Professional drivers spend more time on the road, frequently under stressful conditions. They often drive larger vehicles

EVIDENCE-BASED SAFETY RECOMMENDATIONS

Safety practices are a common and important component of driver and bicycle educational materials. A recent study took a look at whether common safety recommendations in these materials are supported by scientific evidence.

The authors found that while many are, others are not.³⁵⁷ Also, some strategies supported by the evidence were not included in trainings, such as the importance of choosing safer routes. The study also found that one commonly recommended practice — riding a meter from the curb — may be detrimental to safety, because evidence shows that drivers tend to leave less passing room when bicycles are further from the curb.³⁵⁸

Clearly, making sure that bicycle safety recommendations incorporate the latest scientific evidence is important to accomplishing the goal of greater safety. Policy can address this need by providing for state curricula and allocating funding to regularly update materials in accordance with new research. "

"The Bicycle Program partnered with the Municipal Court to offer a Defensive Cycling course as a ticket dismissal option for bicyclists who have been cited. More than 60 cyclists attended the course in 2010. The course is very popular and is now provided twice a month to accommodate demand. Participants have reported a change in attitude upon completion of the class, as well as a deeper understanding of the laws as they pertain to cyclists."

Howard Lazarus, Director, City of Austin Public Works Department³⁶⁷ that take up more lane space, have poor visibility, and may be more prone to startling or crowding bicycles. In fact, studies show that heavy vehicles increase the risk and severity of bicycling injuries, and often provide bicycles with less passing distance than lighter-weight vehicles.³⁵⁹ Agencies that employ or regulate professional drivers, such as school districts and transit agencies, can institute policies that require ongoing bicycle and pedestrian safety training. For example, the San Francisco Taxi Commission tests medallion holders on bicycling safety issues.³⁶⁰ Such trainings can also be required for use of government vehicle fleets. In Austin, Texas, for example, city staff must annually take a driving class that includes instruction on how to share the road with bicycles.

POLICY: INCORPORATE BICYCLE SAFETY INTO TRAFFIC SCHOOL CURRICULUM

Requiring that traffic schools incorporate bicycle safety into their curriculum is another way to normalize bicycling. The state of Washington enacted a law that requires public and private traffic schools to incorporate at least 30 minutes of "a curriculum for driving safely among bicyclists and pedestrians."³⁶¹ In Santa Cruz and Marin Counties, California;³⁶² Austin;³⁶³ Tucson;³⁶⁴ and Pima County, Arizona,³⁶⁵ bicyclists who get traffic tickets can choose a traffic school that teaches bicycle safety skills and pay either no fine or a lower fine. San Francisco is starting a similar program.³⁶⁶

STRATEGY: BIKE EDUCATION IN SCHOOLS

Public schools, adult schools, and community colleges all provide important opportunities to educate students and the public about bicycling and bicycle safety, while at the same time establishing bicycling as a social norm. Indeed, including bicycle education as part of standard curriculum sends a strong signal that bicycles belong and that bicycling is a socially acceptable activity. Incorporating bicycling into the school curriculum also brings the added benefit of helping schools tackle the serious problem of childhood obesity. Schools may be most receptive to including bicycling safety and skills trainings in the curriculum when they are framed as health issues.

Curriculum policy may be set at the state level (e.g. by the state board of education) or at the local level (e.g. by the school board or community college board). Schools can also offer bicycle training and education through programs or partnerships with non-profits.

POLICY: REQUIRING BICYCLE EDUCATION IN ELEMENTARY SCHOOLS

In elementary schools, health and safety or physical education curricula can be expanded to teach children about the benefits of bicycling, bicycle safety, and how to bicycle. In contrast to the United States, bicycling education is standard practice in other countries, including Germany (where bike training is integrated into third or fourth grade school curriculum), Denmark, and the Netherlands (with nationally mandated safe bicycling courses for all schoolchildren).³⁶⁸

Several states do include some aspect of bicycling safety in their school curriculum requirements. For example, North Carolina requires that bicycling safety be included in school health education that must be taught to students in kindergarten through ninth grade.³⁶⁹ California's health education content standards include some bicycle safety topics, providing support for strong bicycle skills and safety programs in local curricula.³⁷⁰

However, integrating bicycling into school curricula is still a relatively unusual practice in the United States, and state standards are not particularly demanding. Instead, where bicycling is taught in schools, it is usually provided by a non-profit bicycle organization or by health or transportation government agencies, often through Safe Routes to School programs (see below).³⁷¹ States and school districts, however, can potentially play a larger role. Boulder, Colorado integrates bicycling (and bicycle safety education) into its physical education program for fifth and sixth grade students.³⁷² Several school districts are taking the same approach in Olmsted County, Minnesota.³⁷³ Fort Collins, Colorado has established a Bicycle Safety Education Plan that calls for each school to have at least one staff member who is gualified to teach bicycle safety education classes. This plan has a goal of teaching bicycle safety to 11,000 schoolchildren.³⁷⁴ Many strong bicycling education curricula have been developed. Establishing more rigorous state and local standards would ensure that bicycle skills and education trainings are incorporated into schools.375

POLICY: REQUIRING BICYCLE SKILLS AND VOCATIONAL TRAINING IN HIGH SCHOOLS, ADULT SCHOOLS, AND COMMUNITY COLLEGES

High schools, adult schools, and community colleges can broaden their industrial technology or vocational curriculum to incorporate bicycle mechanics and maintenance.³⁷⁶ "Learn to ride" classes for adults can also be helpful for the willing but wary who lack confidence regarding their bicycling skills or never learned to ride. Such classes are currently offered almost exclusively by non-profit bicycle organizations. But there is a role for government in further promoting and providing these opportunities. Adult schools, for example, can expand their offerings to provide such classes, thus further normalizing bicycling in their communities. In Portland, Oregon, the city has developed, and administers, annual bike trainings that are specifically targeted at novice riders, women, and older adults, the three subpopulations most likely to be in the "willing but wary" category.³⁷⁷

NORTH CAROLINA STATE BICYCLE SAFETY CURRICULUM REQUIREMENT

"A comprehensive school health education program shall be developed and taught to pupils of the public schools of this State from kindergarten through ninth grade. This program includes age-appropriate instruction in ... bicycle safety."

N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 115C-81(e1)(1)

MODEL SCHOOL DISTRICT POLICY LANGUAGE REQUIRING BICYCLE EDUCATION

The Safe Routes to School Policy Workbook for School Districts, developed by the Safe Routes to School National Partnership and ChangeLab Solutions, contains model language for requiring bicycle education in schools:

District requires individual schools to provide traffic safety education and active transportation skills trainings for all students and teachers. District further requires that pedestrian skills and safety workshops occur in [kindergarten/1st grade] and bicycle skills and safety workshops occur in [4th/5th] grade.

See www.changelabsolutions.org/SRTSpolicy-workbook

TIP

To ensure that bicycling instruction is provided by competent and knowledgeable individuals, some programs require that instructors have certification. The League of American Bicyclists has a training program that provides League Certified Instructors (LCIs). LCIs teach classes for children and adults on street skills and bicycling safety.³⁷⁸



While all the policies in this guide have the effect of encouraging bicycling, jurisdictions can also adopt policies with the express goal of promoting bicycling and raising its profile.

POLICY: ESTABLISH "OPEN STREETS"

Local jurisdictions can establish a policy of closing particular streets to motor vehicle traffic on certain days. These events, which originated in Bogota, Colombia, with the name "ciclovia" ("bike path" in Spanish), have now spread to other countries, including the United States, Australia, Mexico, Ecuador, and France. In the United States, ciclovias (also known by various other names, including "Open Streets" and "Sunday Streets") have become increasingly popular, and at least 21 of the largest 51 US cities have hosted such events.³⁷⁹ Kentucky has even established an annual "Second Sunday" event in which street closures are held in every county in the state.³⁸⁰

Some communities close the same streets each time, while others rotate the closures to different neighborhoods. These events build community while celebrating the use of non-motorized transit and providing safe opportunities to try bicycling without fear of traffic. Some communities have also started "better blocks" events, in which a street is temporarily transformed into a more bicycle, pedestrian, and transit friendly street, mixed with pop-up businesses and temporary installations of public art.³⁸¹

POLICY: BICYCLE FRIENDLY BUSINESS DISTRICTS

Jurisdictions can promote bicycling as a form of transportation by helping to create bicycle friendly business districts.³⁸² Such districts encourage bicycling through a campaign that highlights the ample availability of bicycle parking, special discounts or promotions for customers who arrive by bicycle, and other bike friendly features. Employers in the district can also adopt measures to encourage their employees to commute by bike (freeing up more car parking for customers). Businesses typically support such districts, since studies show that customers who arrive by bicycle spend more money over time than those who arrive by car. Also, every customer who arrives by bicycle instead of car frees up a parking space for someone who cannot bicycle. Jurisdictions can pass resolutions establishing bicycle friendly business districts, and can use policy to help facilitate such districts through bicycle parking policies and employer incentives.

In 2010, Long Beach, California piloted the nation's first bicycle friendly business district program in four districts.³⁸³ The program, funded by a \$72,000 grant from the county's health department, established a wide array of bike friendly features.³⁸⁴ Regular and cargo-carrying bicycles were provided for merchant deliveries, errands, and commutes, and new bike racks were integrated into existing infrastructure. Bicycling was incorporated into



In bicycle friendly business districts, merchants make deliveries by bicycle, and consumers are encouraged to arrive by bike. community events through free bike repair clinics, community rides, and bike valets. In addition, the nation's largest citywide discount program for people bicycling was created, along with community education about the economic benefits of bicycling. The program created a strong business support base for bicycling infrastructure and programs.³⁸⁵ Long Beach's successes inspired the launch of similar programs in San Diego,³⁸⁶ New York City,³⁸⁷ and Oakville, Canada.³⁸⁸

POLICY: SUPPORT SAFE ROUTES TO SCHOOLS

Many students live within bicycling distance to school, but their families do not consider bicycling to school a realistic option because of safety concerns and a lack of community support. Over the last 40 years there has been a dramatic decline in the number of students walking or biking to school, from 42 percent in 1969 to 13 percent in 2009.³⁸⁹ Safe Routes to School (SRTS) programs aim to reverse this trend by supporting biking and walking to school, through education, encouragement, and new safe infrastructure.³⁹⁰ More than 12,000 schools have adopted SRTS programs since Congress enacted a law funding such programs in 2005,³⁹¹ and these programs have been very effective both in getting children to enjoy biking and in increasing bicycling rates.³⁹² Moreover, recent studies show that children who walk or bike to school also show improved concentration in school.³⁹³

Both school districts and cities have a role to play in supporting Safe Routes to School. School districts have considerable influence over how children get to and from school, and they generally control where schools are located and whether bicycle parking is available for children. But cities control the safety of the streets themselves, and without their involvement, busy intersections and speeding cars may make it too dangerous for most children to bike to school.

What policy steps can school districts take? School districts can pass a Safe Routes to School policy that sets the tone for how the district approaches active transportation. In addition to expressing support for bicycling and walking, a district Safe Routes to School policy can spell out specific commitments, such as developing bicycle and walking route maps. For example, the heart of a Safe Routes to School program is usually a "bike train" or "walking school bus," with groups of students bicycling or walking to school together under adult supervision. Safe Routes to School programs generally include a variety of initiatives to encourage kids to bike and walk, including educational bike rodeos, walk-and-bike-to-school days, and the like. Safe Routes to School policies can provide support for such encouragement programs or spell out how they will work. Policies may also change the district's transportation program from one that focuses exclusively on busing to one in which busing is just one important element of a healthy transportation program. District policies can also ensure adequate bicycle parking at schools, including parking for bike trailers that parents may use to transport smaller children. Another important issue is school siting. To make



By passing a Safe Routes to School policy, a school district sets the tone for how the district supports active transportation for its students and their families.

"

"When I first started here, bicycling was almost a problem because there wasn't a safe place for kids to lock their bikes. Kids were getting to school on a bike and trying to stash it somewhere. Neighbors were always complaining that a bike was thrown in their back yard or hidden behind their car. But, really, the kids were just trying to keep their possessions safe. Frequently that one bicycle was the main mode of transportation for that entire family. So it was incredibly important to the parents that that bike made it back home."

Peter Van Tassel, Assistant Principal, Westlake Middle School, Oakland, CA

TIP

Safe Routes to School Policy Workbook for School Districts: One useful tool for putting together a SRTS district policy is an online workbook, developed by the Safe Routes to School National Partnership and ChangeLab Solutions, that assists school districts and community members in creating a Safe Routes to School policy that is tailored to local needs.

This workbook provides a comprehensive overview of the many types of policy provisions that a SRTS district policy can include.

www.changelabsolutions.org/SRTS-policyworkbook



The League of American Bicyclists has a step-by-step guide — National Bike Month Guide⁴⁰¹ — to putting on a successful bike month, which includes sample proclamations for local and state governments.

www.bikeleague.org/sites/bikeleague.org/ files/bikeleague/bikeleague.org/programs/ bikemonth/pdf/guide_redesign_2013.pdf



If people feel that bicycling is normal and fun, they are likely to ride more often.

active transportation more feasible and convenient, districts can adopt policies that commit them to minimizing the distance between students' homes and their schools (while also balancing many other factors pertaining to school siting).³⁹⁴

Cities, towns, and counties also have an important role to play to support children walking and biking to school, and they can adopt Safe Routes to School policies that spell out that role. Because school districts have no control over the streets that children travel, many aspects of ensuring that children can safely walk and bicycle are out of the hands of schools. Local jurisdictions can prioritize creating safe street conditions for children on the way to school. They can also discourage speeding and traffic violations near schools. It is also important for local jurisdictions to commit to working closely with schools to coordinate short- and long-term planning goals.

POLICY: STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT SPONSORSHIP OF "BIKE TO WORK DAY/WEEK/MONTH"

Bike to School Day, Bike to Work Week, and Bike Month are all perfect examples of promotional programs that can benefit from the institutionalization and legitimization that official policy provides. These programs can be very successful in encouraging people to give bicycling a try. One study showed that one in five people who participated in Bike to Work Day for the first time became regular bike commuters.³⁹⁵ Many state and local governments adopt a resolution or other legislation proclaiming an annual "bike to work day/week/ month." For example, Missouri passed a resolution establishing Bike Month and Bike to Work Week, since "millions of Missourians will experience the joys of bicycling during the month of May through educational programs, races, commuting events, trail work days, helmet promotion, charity events, or just getting out and going for a ride."³⁹⁶ Such policies are most effective if combined with the personal involvement of mayors and other public officials,³⁹⁷ and incentives, such as those offered by New Jersey's Transportation Management Associations.³⁹⁸ Local jurisdictions can also coordinate with local businesses and bicycle organizations to create additional incentives. In Boulder, CO, for example, some restaurants and bakeries offer bicycle commuters a free continental breakfast, and volunteer mechanics provide discounted tune-ups and bike safety checks.³⁹⁹ In Austin, a local bicycle group organizes morning breakfast and evening happy-hour stations with live music.400

POLICY: POLICE BICYCLE PATROLS

Police departments are increasingly putting policies in place to deploy bicycle patrols as well as car patrols.⁴⁰² Bicycle patrols not only provide officers with more opportunities for positive contact with the community (and the ability to quickly reach areas not accessible by car), but also send a clear signal that bicycles are a legitimate and socially sanctioned form of transportation. As the International Police Mountain Bike Association points out, there is another advantage of police bike patrols: "Relatively few police officers are familiar with the traffic laws governing bicycling, and they typically are neither trained nor encouraged to enforce those laws. Bike officers are the exception."⁴⁰³ Bicycle patrols can be seen in communities as diverse as Collierville, Tennessee;⁴⁰⁴ EI Cerrito, California;⁴⁰⁵ and Anacortes, Washington.⁴⁰⁶ In Tucson, Arizona, the police department's bicycle patrol has 42 officers and averages 4,500 miles annually.⁴⁰⁷



SUPPORTING RECREATIONAL BICYCLING

While the policies in this guide focus on supporting bicycling for transportation, recreational bicycling can be a helpful complement in creating a bicycle friendly community. Many people start bicycling recreationally and transition to bicycling for transportation. Policies and programs that promote recreational bicycling can help to establish bicycling as a normal and desirable activity, providing support for the overall objectives of increasing bicycling rates and acceptance of bicycling.

For example, Rock Hill, South Carolina has developed a world class velodrome (bicycle racing track) and a mountain biking park in tandem with a new mixed-use housing development. These bicycling venues make Rock Hill a destination for amateur and professional sports and family recreation, providing critical support to Rock Hill's dual goal of improving children's health while creating economic growth through tourism.⁴⁰⁸

CHAPTER SEVEN: POLICIES THAT INCREASE ACCESS TO BICYCLES



INCREASED ACCESS TO BICYCLES

Bike Share

Bike Fleets for Government Employees

Encourage Private Employers to Provide Bike Fleets

Bike Distribution and Maintence

CHAPTER SEVEN: POLICIES THAT INCREASE ACCESS TO BICYCLES

INTRODUCTION

A s the League of American Bicyclists says, "There are two basic requirements for bicycle riding: a bicycle and you." If you don't have access to a bicycle, you can't bike, no matter how favorably inclined toward bicycling you may be.

Lack of access to bicycles can arise in different ways. First, a person may own a bicycle but not have it with them when they need to get somewhere. This may occur, for example, when a person is at work and needs to travel a short distance to run errands or attend a meeting or appointment. Second, public transit sometimes only gets people partway to their destination; without access to a bicycle to complete the final leg, a person may have little choice but to make the entire trip by car instead. Third, a person may lack access to a bicycle because it is unaffordable. Local jurisdictions can mitigate these obstacles through the following policies.

POLICY: BIKE SHARE

Bike share programs increase bicycle access by providing residents with bicycles at strategic locations around town. In a typical program, people pick up a bike at a bike share station or kiosk within a network and return it to another station near their destination. In Minneapolis, Michigan, one of the earliest American experiments with bike sharing led to 100,000 bicycle trips in just the first season, almost one quarter of which would have otherwise been taken by car.

Bike share programs focus on encouraging bicycle travel for short trips (usually half a mile to three miles), and so the first 30 to 60 minutes of every ride is typically free, although annual membership fees are generally required. Bike share programs are generally self-service. People use smartcards, cell phones, or similar methods to locate, reserve, check out, and return bikes. The bikes are usually designed for safe, easy use, with pedal-powered lights, fenders, chain guards, and, in some cases, a locking mechanism attached to the bicycle's frame. Bright colors and logos increase bicycle visibility and deter theft. In most bike share programs, bicycles come equipped with a GPS unit and radio frequency identification tag that can be used to locate lost or stolen bikes and perform utilization analysis. Bike share programs increase bicycle access by providing residents with bicycles at strategic locations around town.



THREE BIKE SHARE BUSINESS MODELS

Bike Share programs can be owned and managed by

Local government

• Capital Bike Share (Washington DC)

Non-Profit

- **B-Boulder** (Denver, CO)
- Nice Ride Minnesota (Minneapolis and St. Paul, MN)

For-Profit

• Deco Bike (Miami Beach, FL)



Local governments have played important roles in bike share programs in the United States, initiating, funding, administering, or operating the programs.⁴⁰⁹ Some jurisdictions own and manage the program; others work with a non-profit or for-profit company that plays the central role.⁴¹⁰ Jurisdictions that are just beginning to think about bike share programs can make starting a bike share program a policy goal in their local bike plan or comprehensive plan.⁴¹¹ Various policy steps are necessary to support a bike share program, whether it is run by the jurisdiction or privately. For example, most jurisdictions need to revise their standards or system for encroachment permits to allow the use of the street or sidewalk for bike share stations.

Bike share programs are flourishing in the United States. They are benefiting from the growing popularity of bicycling along with modern technologies that effectively protect against theft and vandalism, allow self-service operation, and enable easy data collection. In the few years since Denver, Minneapolis, and Washington, DC implemented the first large-scale US bike share programs in 2010, close to 50 municipalities have initiated bike share programs.⁴¹² The DC bike share program grew to more than 22,000 members in its first three years of operation, and continues to expand.⁴¹³ New York City introduced the largest bike sharing system in North America in 2013, with 5,000 bikes and 300 docking stations, with a planned volume of 10,000 bikes.⁴¹⁴

Bike share programs are ideal for people who do not commute by bicycle and are unlikely to bring a bike to work just to use for transport during the day. Providing access to bicycles near workplaces gives people the opportunity to make short weekday trips by bicycle instead of by car. Bike share programs also directly improve bicycle access for all residents living in close proximity to a bike share station. And, as discussed in Chapter 5, if bike share stations are well integrated with public transit, individuals will have access to a bicycle to complete the "first or last leg" of their trip, significantly expanding the reach of public transit. In Washington, DC, more than half of bike share riders use the program to get to or from a transit station and almost a quarter use it to access a bus.⁴¹⁵

CREATING BIKE SHARE PROGRAMS THAT BENEFIT THE WHOLE COMMUNITY

The issue of bicycle access is particularly acute for low-income people. These individuals are the least likely to own a car; face the highest barriers to purchasing, storing, and maintaining bicycles; and are most dependent on alternative modes of transportation.⁴¹⁶ Bike share programs have the potential to really help low income communities by improving transportation equity and increasing bicycling rates. In addition, the health benefits for these communities may be significant, since lowincome communities and communities of color are disproportionately likely to lack adequate facilities for physical activity and generally suffer higher rates of obesity, diabetes, and the like.

However, many bike share programs are not living up to their promise for low-income communities. In a study of four bike share programs in the United States and Canada, researchers found that 60 percent of people using the bike share systems were under 34 years old, 80 percent were white, and 85 percent were college graduates, in marked contrast to the demographics of the general population of these communities.⁴¹⁷



"My number-one priority is getting a [bike share] membership that reflects the diversity of the city.... Since we're using public dollars, it's important that the folks who are using the service reflect everybody in the community. It's a challenge but we're going to crack it."

Chicago Department of Transportation Deputy Commissioner Scott Kubly⁴¹⁸

Why this discrepancy? Low-income residents typically face specific barriers to using bike share programs, including financial impediments, few bike share stations and little bicycle infrastructure in their neighborhoods, and negative images of bicycling. If these barriers are not thoughtfully addressed, bike share programs will not fulfill their potential. Instead of addressing bicycle access problems, they may exacerbate inequities, creating additional resentment and a backlash against bicycling in underserved communities. Many communities are taking measures to lower barriers in the following areas:

Financial impediments: The cost of a bike share membership can be a barrier for some individuals. Some cities extend free bike share memberships to housing authority residents, subsidize memberships for lowincome residents, or offer installment payment plans.⁴¹⁹

Another key barrier involves bike share programs' credit card or bank account requirements, intended to ensure that bicycles are returned. These requirements prevent many low-income people from participating. To address this barrier, jurisdictions can offer an easy-to-obtain alternative to a credit card requirement, and make sure that the availability of the alternative is widely publicized. The Bank on DC program, in Washington, DC, makes it somewhat easier for low-income residents to obtain a credit or debit card and get bike share membership.⁴²⁰ Some cities are exploring whether payment can be integrated with existing transit card systems.⁴²¹

Another financial barrier can be the temporary "hold" that many bike share systems place on the user's credit or debit limit, during the time a bicycle is in use and for some time thereafter, to ensure that the bike is returned. For some people, having a hold on the full replacement fee for the bicycle means that they cannot access enough funds to pay for necessities. A number of communities (Chattanooga, Tennessee; Arlington County, Virginia; Minneapolis, Minnesota; and Miami, Florida) either do not impose a hold for the full cost of the bicycle or are investigating other ways to secure the rental.⁴²²

Station locations: Although siting bike share stations in higher income areas is financially easier, communities need to ensure that stations serve all their residents. In Minneapolis, for example, 20 percent of the system (30 stations) was located in less affluent areas that were specifically identified by the community as crucial to establishing an equitable system.⁴²³ **Bicycle infrastructure:** Low-income communities may face physical obstacles if they are geographically isolated from other parts of town by highways, rivers, or industrial areas. They may also lack the bicycle infrastructure that is provided in other parts of the community. In such cases, targeted policies to create or improve bikeways may be necessary to optimize use of the bike share program.⁴²⁴ However, bicycle infrastructure strategies that work well in many areas, such as prioritizing side streets and residential streets for bike routes and bike boulevards, may be unsuccessful in some higher crime areas where people count on the larger numbers of people on arterials to protect them from muggings or attacks.⁴²⁵

Community-specific outreach and marketing:

Additional obstacles may include negative perceptions of bicycling and limited bicycling experience. These impediments can be mitigated through targeted outreach and education policies, including ensuring that information is available in Spanish or other languages if necessary.⁴²⁶ Outreach efforts should begin early, during the planning phases, rather than waiting until after the bike share program is in place. In particular, soliciting input on station locations and best approaches for mitigating obstacles can help build community support and ensure that the program reaches its full potential.



In addition to directly improving access, bike share programs provide innumerable other benefits. First, they promote awareness that bicycling is socially acceptable, which encourages people to take part in the activity. The mere fact that bike share stations are sited around town helps normalize bicycling as a mainstream form of transportation. Because bike share bicycles are usually designed with bold colors and logos, they are a particularly visible symbol of bike usage. Second, bike share programs allow the "willing but wary" population to try out bicycling without having to purchase a bike.

Some jurisdictions are also experimenting with including electric bikes ("e-bikes") in bike share programs, which may encourage residents who are older or less fit to try bicycling, particularly if the local terrain is hilly.⁴²⁷ Third, bike share users can provide a constituency that supports and creates demand for improved bikeway infrastructure. Fourth, by creating more awareness of people bicycling, bike share programs may also improve safety. Notably, Minneapolis' bike share program provided more than 100,000 rides its first season, without a single reported crash.⁴²⁸ Finally, bike share programs help create a vital environment that is desirable to live in and attracts investment.

POLICY: BIKE FLEETS FOR GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES

Many jurisdictions have traditionally maintained car fleets for employees whose duties require travel to attend meetings or provide client services. A bike fleet can serve the same purpose for short-distance trips, at much less expense. One leader in this area is the National Park Service, which operates bike fleets such as the Red Bike Program in Glacier National Park.⁴²⁹ Bike fleets allow employees to use bicycles to travel to meetings, monitor projects, patrol visitor areas, and otherwise get around during the work day.

Some programs provide a bicycle safety class for employees as a prerequisite for bike fleet participation, which can be beneficial, especially for employees who are not regular bike users. However, keeping requirements minimal is important for the success of these programs. The Knox County Health Department in Tennessee has been very successful in getting new riders on the road with its employee bike fleet.⁴³⁰ Capital Metro, the public transportation system in Austin, Texas, has a bicycle fleet that employees can use to cover the distance between the train station and office.⁴³¹ Other government bicycle fleets are found in locations as diverse as Tucson, Arizona; Berkeley, California; and the Department of Energy's Argonne National Laboratory in Illinois.⁴³²

"

"A basic goal of Nice Ride is that it introduced cycling as transportation as mainstream. You didn't used to think of using a bike to go to a meeting. If you have a meeting a mile away, I can guarantee, you can get there faster on a bike than you can if you have to get your car out of a garage and put it in another garage."

Bill Dossett, Executive Director, Nice Ride Minnesota (Minneapolis/St. Paul's bike sharing program)⁴³³

"

"Bike-share programs... are critically important to attract and retain the talent that we have here.... To have that cool, young, vibrant, hip city that young investors want requires projects like this."

Mayor Luke Ravenstahl of Pittsburgh, PA (discussing Pittsburgh's planned bike share program for 2014)⁴³⁴

"

"Our bike fleet program has been really successful. In nice weather, many people are using the bikes who would never be able to ride their bikes to work. People who would be going to meetings in their own cars or company cars are picking up a bike and riding a mile or so."

Ben Epperson, Program Manager, Knox County Health Department, Knoxville, Tennessee⁴³⁵

POLICY: ENCOURAGE PRIVATE EMPLOYERS TO PROVIDE BIKE FLEETS

A few private employers (including Good Samaritan Hospital in Los Angeles and Mozilla Firefox, in San Francisco) have created bike fleets for employees.⁴³⁶ Local jurisdictions can use tax credits or incentives to encourage more private employers to create bike fleets or to subsidize bicycle purchases for employees who want to commute to work by bicycle.⁴³⁷ In communities where bike share programs exist, employers can subsidize employees' use of bike share. Jurisdictions can also sweeten these incentives by offering free public acknowledgement and publicity for employers who participate.

POLICY: BIKE DISTRIBUTION AND MAINTENANCE

Local jurisdictions can also increase access to bicycles by sponsoring bike redistribution programs. Such programs can enable people to become regular bicycle users even if they lack the funds to purchase a bicycle. Local jurisdictions can play a key role in facilitating the transfer of abandoned or donated (used or new) bicycles to low-income residents. Municipalities can either operate the program themselves, like the "Adopt-a-Bike" program administered by the Islip Town Board in New York, or can work with a local non-profit organization.⁴³⁸ Some programs work with youth, who learn to fix bicycles and then earn a bicycle in the process.⁴³⁹ Because the cost of maintenance can be prohibitive for some very low-income individuals, bicycle co-ops that teach people the skills to do their own repairs can also help remove barriers to bicycling.⁴⁴⁰

CHAPTER EIGHT: COUNTERPRODUCTIVE POLICIES

CHAPTER EIGHT: COUNTERPRODUCTIVE POLICIES



To create bicycle friendly environments, jurisdictions should avoid adopting policies that introduce unnecessary obstacles to bicycling. As this guide demonstrates, strong policies that eliminate impediments to bicycling can increase bicycling rates. But some policies related to bicycling have the opposite effect. Policies are counterproductive when they introduce unnecessary obstacles to bicycling or when they contribute to the perception of bicycling as an abnormal or fringe activity. Jurisdictions should avoid adopting these types of policies and should consider modifying or eliminating these laws if they are already on the books.

MANDATORY BIKE LICENSING OR REGISTRATION

Some jurisdictions have policies that require bicycles to be registered with a city agency. The goal of such policies has traditionally been to assist police in recovering bicycles. As bicycling has increased over the past few decades, many jurisdictions have done away with such requirements. For example, Long Beach, California eliminated its bicycle registration law in 2011, recognizing that ticketing people for failure to comply with a little-known law simply served to discourage bicycling.⁴⁴¹ Cleveland, Ohio; Iola, Kansas; and numerous other cities have also eliminated bike registration requirements.⁴⁴²

However, in some areas, a backlash against bicycling has prompted people to propose new bicycle licensing or registration requirements. Some of these proposals go beyond just requiring registration, imposing new testing requirements as well. By and large these proposals have fared poorly.⁴⁴³

Bicycle licensing and registration requirements are generally seen as ill advised.⁴⁴⁴ Local registration requirements are not an effective mechanism for recovery of stolen bicycles, given the ease of moving bicycles across jurisdictional boundaries, routine removal of bicycle serial numbers by bike thieves, and the low levels of compliance with local registries. In addition, free or low-cost national online registries perform this service more efficiently and effectively.⁴⁴⁵

Not only are such requirements ineffective, they run the risk of actively discouraging bicycling. People frequently bicycle across jurisdictional lines, and so may be subject to a wide variety of disparate requirements without sufficient notice. In practice, bicycle registration requirements are often used to penalize unwitting bicyclists. Bicycle registries usually cost more for jurisdictions to run than they bring in. Moreover, increased fees on bicycles pose an additional barrier to bicycling.

BIKE BANS

Some jurisdictions and school districts restrict bicycling. Although rare, such policies discriminate against people bicycling and are poor policy. Limitations on bicycling take different forms, depending on whether they are policies of school districts or of municipalities.

Most school districts around the nation recognize that whether children are allowed to bike to school or not is a family choice. But occasionally, school officials decide that allowing students to bike to school just seems too dangerous. School officials typically mention concern for student safety and a fear of liability when explaining these policies. However, such policies may actually increase districts' risk of liability, and may overstep their authority over students.⁴⁴⁶

A very negative (and fortunately, very rare) type of bicycle policy was enacted in 2010 by Black Hawk, Colorado, banning bicycles from most of its streets.⁴⁴⁷ The ban was a response to an increase in motor vehicle traffic that occurred as local casinos became more popular. The ban resulted in a national boycott of the town,⁴⁴⁸ and was struck down by a successful lawsuit.⁴⁴⁹ Black Hawk is believed to be the only city in the nation to have passed such a law.⁴⁵⁰



You can download ChangeLab Solutions' Backing Off Bike Bans from www.changelabsolutions.org/ publications/bicycling-to-school CHAPTER NINE: PUTTING IT ALL TOGETHER — THE ROLE OF BICYCLE PLANS AND OTHER GOVERNMENT PLANS

CHAPTER NINE: PUTTING IT ALL TOGETHER — THE ROLE OF BICYCLE PLANS AND OTHER GOVERNMENT PLANS

INTRODUCTION

The many policies and strategies reviewed in this guide set out a wide array of choices for jurisdictions that want to support bicycling. But, as described in Chapter 3, communities are most successful in increasing bicycling rates when they implement a coordinated set of policies that support and reinforce each other. Policies that promote bicycling have a synergistic effect when implemented alongside policies that create safer bikeways and make bicycling more convenient. Thus, jurisdictions should consider adopting a set of policies that support all four of the requirements necessary for wide adoption of bicycling as a means of transportation, as discussed in the previous chapters. One way to approach this task is by developing an overarching plan that lays out the jurisdiction's vision with respect to bicycling, and describes how it intends to reach its goals. Such plans can be developed at the local, regional, and state levels, either as stand-alone bicycle plans, or through including bicycle friendly policy within larger plans.

STRATEGY: BICYCLE AND MULTIMODAL PLANS

In the past, state and local jurisdictions engaged in little bicycle and pedestrian planning. But this situation is starting to change. Communities are increasingly recognizing not only the benefits of bicycling, but also the gains that can be achieved through a coordinated approach to bicycle friendly policy.⁴⁵¹ Thus, more and more communities are finding it helpful to create an overarching policy document, referred to as a bicycle plan. Such a plan allows for a dedicated planning process, with meaningful community engagement, in which the community can carefully evaluate its overall bicycle policy needs, identify which bicycle strategies and policies will help address those needs, tailor the policies to local conditions, and plan for the formal adoption, implementation, and enforcement of these policies.



Communities are most successful in increasing bicycling rates when they implement a coordinated set of policies that create safer bikeways and make bicycling more convenient.

THE IMPORTANCE OF COUNTING

Measuring the impact of bicycling policies requires collecting data on demand and usage. While this data is traditionally collected for cars, strategies and support for acquiring bicycle data are just starting to emerge.

"

"If you can't count it, it doesn't count."

Bruce Landis, Transportation Engineer

Data collection is an important tool for assessing the benefits of bicycle friendly policies and justifying future investments.⁴⁵⁸

Available resources include

- Bicycling and Walking in the United States: 2012 Benchmarking Report www.peoplepoweredmovement. org/site/index.php/site/ memberservices/2012_ benchmarking_report
- National Bicycle and Pedestrian Documentation Project http://bikepeddocumentation.org
- Guidance on Traffic Monitoring for Non-Motorized Traffic
 US Dep't of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (2012)
 http://fhwatmgupdate.camsys.com/ images/TMG_Ch4_aug20.pdf⁴⁵⁹

Depending on a given community's needs and resources, these plans can vary considerably in complexity and scope. However, they typically include the following components:

- an assessment of existing conditions and policies in the community that affect bicycling (e.g. the current state of bicycling and bicycle infrastructure);⁴⁵²
- a statement of goals, particularly infrastructure and lane mileage goals (e.g. to install "x" miles of bikeways, double the percentage of bicycle mode trips, or to reduce the number of bicycle-related crashes or injuries by 10 percent by a certain date);
- 3) identification of priority policies, projects, and programs, and the creation of maps showing where bicycling routes and infrastructure are needed;
- 4) funding strategies;
- 5) guidance on plan implementation, including adoption of the plan as a formal policy of the jurisdiction and physical design guidelines to encourage bike-friendliness even on projects not specifically called out in the plan;
- 6) a process for evaluating the effectiveness of the policies on ridership levels, including data collection; and
- 7) a discussion of enforcement strategies.

In short, the bicycle plan becomes the foundational policy through which specific bicycle friendly policies can be adopted and implemented. Such plans can stand alone or they can be incorporated into a broader transportation plan or comprehensive plan.

A multi-modal plan follows the same general approach as a bicycle plan, but also incorporates other alternative transit modes, such as walking and public transit.

Recently, many local governments have developed bicycle and multi-modal plans that cover the next five to thirty years. For communities interested in taking this step, a number of informational resources are available from non-profit organizations and state departments of transportation.⁴⁵³ Some consulting companies also specialize in assisting communities to develop a bicycle plan.⁴⁵⁴ For some local jurisdictions, funding to produce a bicycle plan has come from grants provided by their state department of transportation, federal sources such as the Community Development Block Grant Program, or foundations.⁴⁵⁵ In other cases, local jurisdictions may be able to obtain technical assistance to develop a bicycle plan, such as that provided by New Jersey's Department of Transportation.⁴⁵⁶ Informational resources are also available to assist jurisdictions interested in developing a multi-modal plan.⁴⁵⁷

BICYCLE PLANS OUTSIDE BIG CITIES

Not to be outdone by metropolitan areas, non-urban communities are making big strides with bicycling. Bicycle plans allow these communities to figure out how to increase the safety and popularity of bicycling in light of local culture, development patterns, geography, and street types. Two communities in Wisconsin – one a small town, and the other a rural county – illustrate how bicycle plans can facilitate tremendous progress in non-urban settings.

Bicycle Plan for a Small Town

La Crosse, Wisconsin is a small town of 51,818 that lies along the Mississippi River.⁴⁶⁰ The town is relatively compact, making bicycling to many destinations a viable option. Since La Crosse adopted its first bicycle plan in 1994, it has enacted a number of bicycle friendly policies, including a Green Complete Streets ordinance, bicycle parking requirements for commercial developments, a Safe Routes to Schools program, and a traffic calming policy. In 2011, the League of American Bicyclists recognized La Crosse as a Silver Level Bicycle Friendly Community.

La Crosse has further aspirations, however, in its quest to make travel by bicycle safer and easier and get more people riding. The city's 2012 Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan builds on past progress, outlining a variety of new recommendations addressing different obstacles to bicycling. Although La Crosse is a small town, it suffers from congested, high-traffic corridors that are unfriendly to bicycling. To improve safety and convenience, the plan recommends bikeways on arterial roadways, a network of bike boulevards, a road diet on a bridge across the Mississippi River, a "bicycle level of service" model to evaluate city streets, and use of the NACTO Urban Bike Guide for road design. Encouragement and education also play a key role, and recommendations include incorporating bicycle safety into school curricula, drivers' education, and traffic school; providing bicycling as an optional physical education class in high school; increasing participation in the Safe Routes to School program; and establishing a pedestrian bicycle

coordinator position. As it implements these approaches, La Crosse is hoping to achieve its ambition of becoming a Gold Level Bicycle Friendly Community.

Bicycle Plan for a Rural Community

Sheboygan County, Wisconsin is a rural county, with a population of 115,507 spread over 15 townships, ten villages, and three cities. Although there are gridpatterned streets conducive to bicycling, and many of the municipalities are short distances apart, the county had no tradition of bicycling for transportation. Back in 2005, the county had less than two miles of bike lanes and 35 miles of shared-use paths, used primarily for recreation. Recognizing the enormous potential for bicycling growth, in 2007 the county dedicated a federal grant to developing a countywide pedestrian and bicycle comprehensive plan.⁴⁶¹

Because of the county's almost nonexistent biking infrastructure, the plan focused on creating bikeways. It called for adoption of road design guidelines, incorporation of bicycle needs in every transportation project in the county, implementation of a complete streets policy, and bicycle parking. Given the rural environment, key strategies included getting road shoulders paved (and specifying width requirements to accommodate bicycles); providing bikeways to connect communities; and converting an old railroad corridor to a multi-use path. Each village and city had the opportunity to identify specific priority projects. The plan also emphasized the importance of education and outreach to encourage bicycling. Extensive community involvement in developing the plan created significant momentum toward building a bicycle friendly community. In just three years, bicycling increased 23 percent in Sheboygan, and the county was awarded Bronze Level Bicycle Friendly Community status by the League of American Bicyclists.

BIKE PLANS FOR ALL TYPES OF COMMUNITIES

Bicycle plans can help all types of communities to create bicycle friendly environments. From megalopolises to rural communities, this flexible tool allows for public participation in determining how to use policy and planning to support bicycling.

MEGA CITY

CHICAGO, IL (pop. 2,700,000) Chicago Bike 2015 Plan (10-year plan, adopted 2005) www.bike2015plan.org

NEW YORK CITY, NY (pop. 8,250,000) New York City Bicycle Master Plan (adopted 1997) www.nyc.gov/html/dcp/html/bike/mp.shtml

LARGE CITY

AUSTIN, TX (pop. 820,611) Austin 2020 Bicycle Plan Update (10-year plan, adopted 2009) http://austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/ Public_Works/2009_bicyclemasterplan.pdf

PORTLAND, OR (pop. 593,820) Portland Bicycle Plan for 2030 (20-year plan, adopted 2010) www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/ article/71843?&y=0&x=0

MEDIUM CITY

EUGENE, OR (pop. 156,929) Eugene Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan (20-year plan, adopted 2012) (This plan also serves as the pedestrian and bicycle

chapter of the city's Transportation System Plan.) www.centrallanertsp.org/EugeneTSP/PedBikePlan/ Home

SCOTTSDALE, AZ (pop. 217,385) Bicycle Element — Scottsdale Transportation Master Plan (20-year plan, adopted 2008) www.scottsdaleaz.gov/AssetFactory.aspx?did=19425

SMALL CITY

LA CROSSE, WI (pop. 51,818) Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (adopted 2012) www.cityoflacrosse.org/DocumentCenter/View/7152 PALO ALTO, CA (pop. 65,412)

Bicycle + Pedestrian Transportation Plan (5-year plan, adopted 2012) (This plan is also part of Palo Alto's Comprehensive Transportation Plan) www.cityofpaloalto.org/civicax/filebank/ documents/31928

SUBURBAN CITY

ALEXANDRIA, VA (pop. 140,024) City of Alexandria Pedestrian and Bicycle Mobility Plan (adopted 2008) http://alexandriava.gov/uploadedFiles/localmotion/ info/gettingaround/FINAL_FULLPLAN_060108.pdf

WEST DES MOINES, IA (pop. 56,609) West Des Moines Bicycle Master Plan (adopted 2011) ftp://ftp.wdm-ia.com/Park%20%26%20Rec/ Bicycle%20Master%20Plan.pdf

RURAL COMMUNITY

ALTAMONT, NY (pop. 1,716) Village of Altamont Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan (adopted 2009) www.altaprojects.net/altamont

SHEBOYGAN COUNTY, WI (pop. 115,149) Sheboygan County Pedestrian and Bicycle Comprehensive Plan 2035 (28-year plan, adopted 2007; update underway) www.sheboygancounty.com/home/ showdocument?id=466

SUBURBAN/RURAL COMMUNITY

FORSYTH COUNTY, GA (pop. 181,840) Bicycle Transportation and Pedestrian Walkways 2025 Plan (25-year plan, adopted 2002; updated 2008) www.forsythco.com/DeptPage.

asp?DeptID=4&PageID=1140

STRATEGY: COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Most local jurisdictions have a comprehensive plan, which governs a community's overall growth, and is updated periodically (e.g. every 5 or 10 years). Comprehensive plans can address everything from economic development and historic preservation to growth patterns and transportation. Since local policies and projects should (and in some states, must) be consistent with the comprehensive plan, it is important to ensure that, at a minimum, the comprehensive plan contains provisions that are consistent with sustaining and increasing bicycle mode share. Comprehensive plan updates provide an excellent opportunity to add language supportive of bicycle friendly communities as well as specific references to a bicycle plan or development of a bicycle plan.

Many local jurisdictions also fall under a regional Metropolitan Planning Organization ("MPO") or similar transportation planning agency. MPOs typically coordinate transportation planning among municipalities within a geographic area, provide technical assistance and funding, and develop regional long-term transportation plans that can include bicycle projects. Again, it is important that any governing regional transportation plan contains, at a minimum, provisions consistent with increasing bicycle mode share.

STRATEGY: STATE LEVEL TRANSPORTATION PLANS

States develop various types of transportation plans. Integrating bicycling into these state plans is crucial to meaningfully increasing investments in bicycling infrastructure. As part of their basic transportation planning, states typically develop long-range statewide transportation plans (STPs), as well as state transportation improvement programs (STIPs) that identify short- and long-term transportation projects for funding. The Massachusetts Department of Transportation has adopted a GreenDOT Implementation Plan as part of a comprehensive environmental sustainability initiative designed to make the state transportation system environmentally responsible.⁴⁶² One of the GreenDOT Implementation Plan's many goals is to triple bicycle mode share.⁴⁶³ It is also the first state DOT plan to adopt specific targets to reduce climate change emissions.⁴⁶⁴

Some states have developed stand-alone state bicycle or multi-modal plans, including New Jersey, Idaho, Arizona, North Carolina, and Virginia.⁴⁶⁵ While state bicycle plans vary in scope and detail, they should, at a minimum, discuss

- 1) the state's goals with respect to bicycling;
- 2) existing state-wide conditions for bicycling;
- 3) state and federal laws that affect bicycling;
- strategies for achieving state goals, including Complete Streets policies, bicycle friendly road design standards, and standards for local bicycle plans; and
- 5) funding sources for local jurisdictions to implement bicycle friendly policies.

TIP

Maximizing the public health benefits of a bike plan: Some communities are using health impact assessments (HIAs) to evaluate the effects of transportation plans, including bike plans, on public health. For communities interested in prioritizing strategies and policies that maximize public health, an HIA can provide an evidence-based approach for ensuring that bicycle plans and other policies meet this goal. An overview of HIAs, how they can be used to evaluate bicycle plans, and how to maximize public health benefits from such plans is available from the Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center.466

"

"In June 2012, Austin TX updated its comprehensive plan, which identified multiple bicycle specific and bicycle friendly priority goals. Thus far the plan has been extremely helpful in guiding transportation decision-making towards a more 'compact and connected' bicycle friendly city."

Annick Beaudet, Bicycle Program Manager, City of Austin, TX⁴⁶⁷

CHAPTER TEN: FUNDING BICYCLE FRIENDLY POLICY

CHAPTER TEN: FUNDING BICYCLE FRIENDLY POLICY

While some bicycle friendly policies can be implemented for little or no cost, others require substantial investments. Finding funding sources can be challenging; however, as interest in bicycling expands and more communities embrace sustainable development, interest in developing additional or innovative funding strategies is increasing. Given government fiscal constraints and the fact that transportation demands have been outstripping capacity and investment, considerable attention has been focused lately on developing additional revenue sources for transportation in general.⁴⁶⁸

Transportation infrastructure funding is very complex, and it is beyond the scope of this guide to comprehensively discuss existing and potential funding sources. What follows is a brief overview of this subject, including funding strategies that can serve a dual purpose of raising monies and promoting bicycle friendly communities.

FEDERAL TRANSPORTATION FUNDING

The federal government is an important, albeit inconsistent, source of funding for bicycle friendly policies. Since the early 1990s, Congress has provided transportation funding to state and local governments through a series of federal transportation bills. The bills typically allocate a set amount specifically for bicycle and pedestrian transportation projects, with the amount subject to change with each reauthorization.⁴⁶⁹

Since 2005, this authorization has also included funds, under the federal Safe Routes to School program, for school-oriented bicycle friendly infrastructure improvements and encouragement programs.⁴⁷⁰ Participating communities can use Safe Routes to School funds to create or improve bikeways to school, make intersections safer, install bicycle parking, provide bicycling education, and the like. However, the 2012 federal transportation bill (referred to as MAP-21), covering fiscal years 2013–2014, combines funding for pedestrian and bicycle projects, Safe Routes to School, and other programs into one program called "Transportation Alternatives."⁴⁷¹Funds under this program are competitively awarded.⁴⁷²

In addition to the Transportation Alternatives program, there are numerous other federal funding sources that may potentially be applied to bicycle projects. Some of these sources are part of the federal transportation bill, while others are separate.



Developing innovative funding strategies is increasing as interest in bicycling expands and more communities embrace sustainable development.

Federal Surface Transportation Program

One of the largest federal funding sources, the surface transportation program provides monies for projects to preserve and improve the transportation system. This program is one of the most flexible sources for federal money and can be used to fund bicycle-related projects, including bikeways and bicycle parking.⁴⁷³

Highway Safety Improvement Program ("HSIP")

The National Highway System contains not only the interstate highway system, but also other designated highways and major arterials that are important for the economy, defense, or mobility. While states have not traditionally used the Highway Safety Improvement Program to fund bicycle and pedestrian safety-related projects, some argue that "there is a strong argument for doing so because 15 percent of all traffic fatalities nationally are bicyclists and pedestrians, with that percentage ranging much higher in many states."⁴⁷⁴ This often overlooked resource can potentially fund bikeways and bike parking.⁴⁷⁵

Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) Improvement Program

All 50 states receive CMAQ funds, which can be used for transportationrelated projects designed to reduce traffic congestion and improve air quality, including pedestrian and bicycle projects. These funds must be used in areas where air pollution exceeds acceptable levels, as measured by the federal government. Such projects can include bicycle infrastructure, bicycle parking, "share the road" educational programs for motorists, and promotional initiatives.⁴⁷⁶

STATE AND LOCAL FUNDING

While all states raise money for transportation from taxes or fees on gasoline sales and motor vehicle registration and transfers, they vary widely in their spending on bicycle-related policies and projects. Some jurisdictions may direct little or no funds to this area, while others have adopted policies designed to ensure funds are available. Oregon, for example, provides a reliable funding stream through a law requiring that 1 percent of state highway funds be spent on projects benefitting bicycling and walking.⁴⁷⁷ Illinois reserves \$3.25 out of its motor vehicle transfer tax for trail and bicycle/ pedestrian projects, ⁴⁷⁸ and New Jersey's Bikeway Grant Program (funded by state gas taxes and highway tolls) helps local jurisdictions build bikeways in support of the state's goal of building one thousand new miles of dedicated bike paths.⁴⁷⁹ California has its own state level funding for Safe Routes to School programs.⁴⁸⁰

Local jurisdictions also vary widely with respect to bicycle-related spending – with localities ranging from providing virtually no spending to having dedicated revenue streams based on local taxes or special bond

TIP

Find It Fund It: The Alliance for Walking and Biking and the League of American Bicyclists have partnered to create Advocacy Advance, which helps jurisdictions maximize federal funding opportunities for biking and walking projects.⁴⁸¹ It offers extensive written resources, as well as workshops, to help navigate this challenging area. One of its resources is a "Find It Fund It" chart that identifies all of the different federal funding sources and the types of bicycle projects they can potentially fund.⁴⁸² issues. San Francisco, for example, adopted a ½-cent local sales tax dedicated to supporting alternative transit modes.⁴⁸³ Austin successfully leveraged local and state bond funds (along with federal transportation funds) to fund a bicycle and pedestrian bridge project to close a major gap in their bicycle network.⁴⁸⁴ There is no shortage of policies that state and local governments can adopt to provide or enhance funding for the implementation of bicycle friendly policies.⁴⁸⁵ Some examples include the following:

POLICY: VEHICLE REGISTRATION FEES

States can fund bicycle improvements through modest increases in vehicle registration fees. California, for example, enacted the Transportation Fund for Clear Air program, which increased vehicle registration fees in the San Jose-San Francisco-Oakland Bay Area by \$4 to fund projects and programs that help reduce vehicle emissions. Among others, projects funded include

- 1) ridesharing;
- 2) clean-fuel vehicles;
- 3) signal synchronization;
- 4) regional transit information systems;
- 5) congestion pricing; and
- 6) bicycle facilities.486

Oregon also raised its vehicle registration fees as part of a transportation funding package dedicated to road repairs, state highway construction projects, and alternative transportation; this funding stream supports transit, Amtrak station improvements, and bicycle and pedestrian projects.⁴⁸⁷

POLICY: TRAFFIC FINES

Traffic fines can serve the dual purpose of funding bicycle friendly policies and improving bicycle safety by deterring conduct hazardous to people bicycling. Jurisdictions can, for example, adopt bicycle safety traffic laws (e.g. regulating speeding, dooring, right hook turns, and obstruction of bike lanes) and then dedicate the proceeds to implementing bicycle-safety related policies and constructing bicycle infrastructure.

One example of this type of approach is a Washington law that doubles the fine for speeding through playground zones and school crosswalks. The law allocates half of the fine to school safety enhancement programs, which can include pedestrian and bicycle safety programs. Similarly, Portland, Oregon passed a law increasing traffic fines for certain violations, including running red lights and stop signs. A portion of the increased fine revenues were dedicated to Safe Routes to School pilot programs at 25 elementary schools, and in the first two years, \$1.2 million was raised for the program.

Jurisdictions that have already exploited traffic fines for revenue-raising purposes, however, may want to avoid additional increases, particularly in light of the burden these can place on lower-income residents.

POLICY: STATE AND LOCAL TAXATION

State and local governments can use their taxation authority to raise revenues for bicycle friendly projects. Thirty-three states have authorized local transportation sales taxes. As noted above, San Francisco used this option to pass a ½-cent local sales tax dedicated to supporting alternative transit modes.⁴⁸⁹ Some jurisdictions have also employed excise taxes. Colorado Springs, for example, adopted a \$4 excise tax on any bicycle or bicycle frame sold within the Colorado Springs city limits.⁴⁹⁰ This tax, which generates \$100,000 annually, is used to fund bike infrastructure.⁴⁹¹

POLICY: CONGESTION PRICING

A recent development in the United States, congestion pricing is attracting attention as a tool that has enormous potential to generate revenue.⁴⁹² In addition to raising funds for alternative transportation, which in and of itself reduces congestion, congestion pricing can also reduce congestion directly.⁴⁹³ Congestion pricing refers to any scheme that charges motorists a premium for driving on certain lanes, roads, or bridges during peak periods of heavy use. Variants include

- high occupancy toll ("HOT") lanes, in which a toll is paid by single occupancy drivers who use either an existing high occupancy vehicle lane or a newly added HOT lane;
- increased tolling of an entire bridge or tunnel at peak congestion times; and
- 3) priced zones or cordon fees, where drivers pay a surcharge for entering a designated highly congested area such as a city center.

Minnesota, California, and Colorado have all imposed HOT congestion pricing on certain highways.⁴⁹⁴ Cordon fees have reduced congestion and raised revenues for alternative transit in Singapore, London, Sweden, and Norway.⁴⁹⁵

POLICY: DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES AND CHARGES

Development impact fees are a one-time charge state or local jurisdictions assess on developers to cover off-site costs of growth-related public services, including transportation infrastructure. Such costs should be evaluated and assessed to include not just increased public services for drivers but for bicycles as well. Jacksonville, FL has adopted a strategy, "Funding Mobility," which is intended to "create a funding mechanism that integrates multimodal transportation planning with land use strategies to combat unsustainable sprawl."⁴⁹⁶ Under this strategy, developers incur charges based on the distance of their developments from the city center.⁴⁹⁷

POLICY: DEVELOPER INCENTIVES FOR BIKE FRIENDLY INFRASTRUCTURE

As noted in Chapter 5, jurisdictions can use incentives to encourage developers to pay for new bicycle infrastructure. Such incentives are a common ingredient of bicycle parking ordinances, and may be used to encourage showers and clothing lockers as well. In addition, incentives may be offered for developers who provide bikeways.⁴⁹⁸ Density bonuses and partial waivers of car parking requirements are common forms of incentive. Jurisdictions can also offer reduced inspection fees or expedited review.

POLICY: LEVERAGING EXISTING FUNDING SOURCES

Jurisdictions can "piggyback" funding for bicycle friendly policies onto existing programs. Complete streets policies work in this way. A number of local jurisdictions link the development of bikeways onto planned repaving or street improvement projects. Austin, for example, has been able to add roughly 30 linear miles of new and improved bicycle lanes each year since 2008 by coordinating implementation of its Bicycle Plan and Complete Streets policies with street maintenance (resurfacing).⁴⁹⁹ Similarly, jurisdictions can adopt a policy that explicitly requires that bicycling needs be considered whenever they undertake transportation improvement studies.

As communities increasingly prioritize bicycling, basic transportation funding will become more available for bicycling infrastructure, and additional innovative sources of funding will emerge. At present, communities must be creative and persistent, combining funds from private foundations and public sources as necessary to support bicycling initiatives.⁵⁰⁰

TIP

Successfully Leveraging Street Maintenance into Bike Lanes: One key to the success of bicycle investments is having an effective policy for balancing the creation of new bikeways with the maintenance of on-street parking. Austin's internal "On-Street Parking Modification Guidelines" provide a transparent, consistent process for promoting compatibility between on-street parking and bicycle facilities.⁵⁰¹

CONCLUSION

CONCLUSION

Bicycling in the United States is at an exciting stage. After decades of languishing bicycling rates, recent years have seen a dramatic increase in bicycling. Will interest and enthusiasm for bicycling continue to grow? Will bicycling achieve its potential to serve as a healthy, nonpolluting way to get around for a meaningful number of people? Or will we fail to overcome the obstacles that discourage many people from bicycling? Choices that are made today will determine whether bicycling rates stall – or whether they continue to soar.

Local and state governments have a unique ability and opportunity to use policy to create bicycle friendly communities. This guide presents a wide selection of the most promising policy approaches that can support bicycling. We encourage communities to pursue an array of policies. While initial evidence indicates that these policies can effectively increase bicycling rates, the coming years will provide us with far more ability to assess them. As communities continue to pioneer new initiatives that support bicycling in novel ways, we look forward as a nation to ongoing exploration of how best to use policy to create an environment that lets everyone enjoy the many benefits of bicycling.



Implementing effective policies is critical to create bicycle friendly communities.

APPENDIX

APPENDIX

The following charts highlight policies that support the four requirements for a bikeable community — safety, convenience, social acceptability, and access.

SAFETY

Strategy	Policy	Goal/Description	Also Supports	Who Adopts?	Examples
Safer Bikeways	Complete Streets	Require all new or renovated streets to provide safe, comfortable, and convenient travel for all everyone, including pedestrians, bicyclists, people with disabilities, and motorists.	Convenience	Local jurisdiction, State, Federal	New Haven Complete Streets Policy; Oregon "Bike Bill"; San Francisco Bay Area Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Safer Bikeways	State Bikeway Laws	Encourage or require statewide bicycling planning and the implementation of bikeways as part of road projects.	Convenience	State	California Bicycle Transportation Act; Illinois Bikeway Act; North Carolina's Bicycle and Bikeway Act
Safer Bikeways	Road Design Guidelines	Permit and encourage transportation engineers to use designs that maximize bicycle safety and convenience.	Convenience	State, Local jurisdiction	Adoption of NACTO Bike Guide by Austin, TX; Atlanta, GA; Portland, OR; Salt Lake City, UT; Syracuse, NY; Moses Lake, WA
Safer Bikeways	Bicycle Friendly Traffic Control Devices (Bicycle Signals, Bike Boxes, and Bicycle Detectors)	Permit and encourage use of traffic control devices that limit confusion and risk among people bicycling and drivers at intersections.	Convenience	Local jurisdiction, State, Federal	Oregon and California place bicycle signals on their list of approved traffic signals; California and Wisconsin require demand-actuated signals detect bicycles.
Safer Bikeways	Traffic Calming	Reduce vehicle speed and decrease dangers posed by fast cars to those walking and bicycling by encouraging use of traffic control infrastructure such as roundabouts, speed bumps, median islands, t-intersections, and bulb outs.		Local jurisdiction	San Antonio, TX
Safer Bikeways	Road Diets: Retrofitting Existing Roads with Bike Lanes	Encourage conversion of four-lane streets into three lanes, with a lane going in each direction, one central two-way left turn lane, and bikeways in both directions.		Local jurisdiction	Pasadena, CA, Department of Transportation
Safer Bikeways	Multi-Modal Level of Service Standards	Measure how well roads serve the needs of all users, not only drivers, but also people bicycling, walking, and using transit.	Convenience	Local jurisdiction	Jacksonville, FL; Chico, CA; Berkeley, CA
Encouraging Safer Driving	Require Safe Passing of Bicyclists	Establish a specific safe distance for vehicles passing bicyclists (usually three or four feet).		State, Local jurisdiction	Pennsylvania; Louisiana; New Hampshire; Boise, ID; Denver, CO

SAFETY

Strategy	Policy	Goal/Description	Also Supports	Who Adopts?	Examples
Encouraging Safer Driving	Anti-Harassment Ordinances	Provide a private right of action, allowing victims of harassment to sue offending motorists in court.		State, Local jurisdiction	Los Angeles, CA; St. Louis, MO; Washington, DC; Berkeley, CA; Sunnyvale, CA; Sebastopol, CA; Sonoma County, CA
Encouraging Safer Driving	Anti-Dooring Protection	Approaches include requiring safe design of bike lanes adjacent to parallel parking; requiring that exiting drivers and passengers look for oncoming bicycles prior to opening car doors; and allowing people on bikes to ride outside the door zone.		Local jurisdiction, State	San Francisco Municipal Transportation Innovative Bicycle Treatment Toolbox; Massachussetts; Chicago, IL
Encouraging Safer Driving	Right Hook Turn Protection	Provide for separate bike signal lights at intersections; redesign roads to include a "bike box"; clarify traffic laws to delineate clear rights and obligations in right turn situations.		State, Local jurisdiction	Oregon; California; Massachusetts
Encouraging Safer Driving	Prohibit Obstruction of Bicycle Lanes	Prohibit stopping or parking in bike lanes; allow delivery trucks that are otherwise lawfully double-parking to park outside the bike lane to avoid blocking it.		State, Local jurisdiction	New York, NY; Long Beach, MS; California
Encouraging Safer Driving	Police Training on Bicycle Safety	Require that all police recruits be trained in bicycle safety.		State	Massachusetts

CONVENIENCE

Strategy	Policy	Goal/Description	Also Supports	Who Adopts?	Examples
Bicycle Parking	Require Bike Parking in New Development and Major Remodels	Require that new commercial and multifamily developments include a specified quantity of short- and long- term bicycle parking.		Local jurisdiction	More than 150 local governments including Washington, DC
Bicycle Parking	Require Parking Lots and Garages to Provide Bicycle Parking	Require existing bicycle parking lots and garages to provide bicycle racks as a condition of renewing their business license.		Local jurisdiction	Cleveland, OH; Cinncinnati, OH; San Francisco, CA
Bicycle Parking	Commuter Bicycle Parking in Office Buildings	Require building owners to permit employees to bring their bicycles into office buildings.		Local jurisdiction	New York, NY; San Francisco, CA
Bicycle Parking	Require Large Civic Events to Provide Bicycle Parking	Require monitored bicycle parking at large civic and sporting events.		Local jurisdiction	Alameda, CA; San Francisco, CA
Bicycle Parking	Local Government Installation of Bike Parking	Install bicycle parking racks in existing areas where there is likely demand for bicycle parking, such as shopping and entertainment districts and near government buildings, libraries, and recreational areas.		Local jurisdiction	Washington, DC
Bicycle Parking	Support Bicycle Parking through Requiring LEED Certification	Require developers to demonstrate that public buildings earn a sufficient number of points to meet designated LEED certification standards.		Local jurisdiction, State, Federal	Kansas City, MO; Indiana; Department of Health and Human Services
Bicycle Parking	Tax Incentives for Bike Parking	Use tax policy to encourage provision of bicycle parking in existing development.		State	Virginia
Bicycling and Public Transit	Bicycles on Board	Allow people to take their bicycles with them when they board public transit.		Local jurisdiction	San Francisco, CA
Bicycling and Public Transit	Transit-Focused Bicycle Parking	Provide bicycle parking at or near major transit stops and stations.		Local jurisdiction	Chicago, IL; Long Beach, Santa Barbara, Oakland, Berkeley, Claremont, Covina, CA; St. Louis, MO; Washington, DC
Bicycling and Public Transit	Bikeways to and from Transit	Collaborate with local jurisdictions to ensure safe bicycle access routes to public transit.		Local jurisdiction	Regional Transportation District (RTD), Denver, CO; Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART), CA
Bicycle Flow at Intersections	Stop as Yield	Allow people on bicycles to treat stop signs as yield signs so long as no other traffic is present and it is safe.		State, Local jurisdiction	State of Idaho; Summit County, CO; Dillon, CO; Breckenridge, CO
Bicycle Flow at Intersections	Adjusting Signage to Support Bicycle Flow	Adjust which streets have stop signs at intersections on bicycle routes to support free flow of bicycles.	Safety	Local jurisdiction	San Francisco, CA
Bicycle Flow at Intersections	Adjusting Enforcement Priorities	Instruct law enforcement departments to deprioritize enforcement efforts against people on bicycles who do not stop at stop signs, so long as they are riding safely, without danger to themselves or others, and in a manner that respects the right of way of other road users.	Safety	Local jurisdiction	

CONVENIENCE

Strategy	Policy	Goal/Description	Also Supports	Who Adopts?	Examples
Financial Incentives for Bicycling	Bicycle Commuter Reimbursement	Provide a non-taxable reimbursement to employees who commute to work by bicycle.	Access; Social Acceptability	State, Federal	State of Washington
Financial Incentives for Bicycling	Matching Bicycle/ Transit Subsidy	Provide a public transit subsidy to bicycle commuters that is equal to the subsidy offered to public transit users.	Access; Social Acceptability	State, Local jurisdiction	Portland, OR
Financial Incentives for Bicycling	Parking Cash-Out Law	Require employers who provide free or subsidized parking for their employees to provide employees with the option of a cash allowance in lieu of a car parking space.	Access; Social Acceptability	State, Local jurisdiction	California; Austin, TX
Financial Incentives for Bicycling	Reimbursement for Work Travel by Bicycle	Reimburse employees who travel by bicycle at a rate close to the reimbursement level for work-related trip made by car.	Access; Social Acceptability	State, Local jurisdiction	
Reflecting the True Costs of Driving		Institute policies that shift costs of driving back onto drivers, such as car-free zones, congestion pricing, higher costs for parking and registration, etc.			Minnesota; California; Colorado
Making Everyday Destinations Bikeable		Putting zoning, developer incentives, and other land use approaches in place to ensure sufficient destinations within biking distances.			St. Lucie County, FL; West Jordan, UT; Front Royal, VA
SOCIAL ACCEPTABILITY

Chapter 6

Strategy	Policy	Goal/Description	Also Supports	Who Adopts?	Examples
Drivers and Bicycle Safety	Incorporate Bicycling Safety into Driver Education and Training Courses	Require driver training, testing, and traffic schools to include bicycle safety material, provide for bicycle "rules of the road" questions on written driver's license tests, and require public and private driver training courses to include bicycle and pedestrian traffic safety lesson.	Safety	State	Minnesota; New Hampshire; Washington
Drivers and Bicycle Safety	Incorporate Bicycle Safety into Driver Licensing Requirements	Require drivers' manuals and license tests to include rules on sharing the road safely with bicycles.	Safety	State	California
Drivers and Bicycle Safety	Require Bicycle Safety Training for Professional Drivers	Require ongoing training focused on bicycle and pedestrian safety for professional drivers.	Safety	Local jurisdiction	San Francisco, CA
Drivers and Bicycle Safety	Incorporate Bicycle Safety into Traffic School Curriculum	Require traffic school curricula to include bicycle safety and road sharing.	Safety	State, Local jurisdiction	Washington State; Santa Cruz, CA; Marin County, CA
Bike Education in Schools	Requiring Bicycle Education in Elementary Schools	Require elementary schools to expand health and safety or physical education curriculum to teach children about the benefits of bicycling, bicycle safety, and how to bicycle.		State, Local jurisdiction, School district	Olmstead County, MN; Portland, OR; Alameda County, CA
Bike Education in Schools	Requiring Bicycle Skills and Vocational Training in High Schools, Adult Schools, and Community Colleges	Encourage high schools, adult schools, and community colleges to develop and administer bike trainings targeted for "interested but concerned" riders who lack confidence in their bicycling skills.	Safety	Local jurisdiction	Portland, OR
Encouragement Activities	Establish Open Streets	Require local or state jurisdictions to establish a policy of closing certain streets to motor vehicle traffic on select days.		Local jurisdiction, State	Wichita, KS; Kentucky
Encouragement Activities	Bicycle Friendly Business Districts	Require local jurisdictions to validate bicycling as a form of transportation by creating bicycle friendly business districts. Such districts encourage bicycling through a coordinated campaign that highlights ample, convenient bicycle parking, special discounts or promotions for customers who arrive by bicycle, and other bike-friendly features.	Convenience	Local jurisdiction	Long Beach, CA, San Diego, CA, New York, NY
Encouragement Activities	Safe Routes to Schools	Support biking and walking to school through education, encouragement, and new safe infrastructure.	Safety	Local jurisdiction, School district	More than 12,000 schools, including Chula Vista Elementary School District, CA; Fairfax County Public Schools, VA; Cincinnati Public Schools, OH
Encouragement Activities	State and Local Government Sponsorship of "Bike to Work Day/Week/ Month"	Establish an annual bike to work day/ week/month and provide incentives for participation, such as prizes and food.		Local jurisdiction, State	New Jersey Department of Transportation
Encouragement Activities	Police Bicycle Patrols	Require police departments to use bicycle patrols as well as car patrols in their patrol units.		Local jurisdiction	Tuscon, AZ

INCREASED ACCESS

Chapter 7

Strategy	Policy	Goal/Description	Also Supports	Who Adopts?	Examples
Increased Access to Bicycles	Bike Share	Provide bicycles for short trips at strategic locations around town.	Convenience	Local jurisdiction	Capital Bike Share, Washington, DC; B-Boulder, Denver, CO; Deco Bike, Miami Beach, FL
Increased Access to Bicycles	Bike Fleets for Government Employees	Require local agencies to provide bike fleets for employees whose duties require short distance travel.	Convenience	Federal, State, Local jurisdiction	National Park Service Red Bike Program, Glacier National Park; B-Cycle Employee Bicycle, Washington, DC; Department of Energy Argonne National Laboratory Bike Share program, IL; City of Berkeley, CA
Increased Access to Bicycles	Encourage Private Employers to Provide Bike Fleets	Use tax credits or other incentives to encourage private employers to create bike fleets or to subsidize bicycle purchases for employees who want to use bicycles for work trips.	Convenience	Local jurisdiction	Chicago, IL; Long Beach, Santa Barbara, Oakland, Berkeley, Claremont, Covina, CA; St. Louis, MO; Washington, DC
Increased Access to Bicycles	Bike Distribution and Maintence	Sponsor bike redistribution programs that facilitate the transfer of abandoned or donated bicycles to residents, especially youth, who lack funds to purchase a bicycle.		Local jurisdiction	Adopt-a-Bike, Islip Town Board, NY; San Francisco, CA

ENDNOTES

ENDNOTES

- 1 Marc Ott, "ThinkBike News Conference" (speech, Austin, TX, October 25, 2012), 9:30 -10:10, accessed June 3, 2013, http://austintx. swagit.com/play/10252012-526.
- 2 US Department of Transportation, "Average Annual Miles per Driver by Age Group," *Federal Highway Administration* (April 4, 2011), *www.fhwa.dot.gov/ohim/onh00/bar8.htm*.
- 3 Asthma rates are at their highest levels ever, with nearly one in 10 children and almost one in 12 Americans of all ages suffering from asthma. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Asthma in the US: Growing Every Year," Vital Signs (May 4, 2011), www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/asthma; US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Light-Duty Technology, Carbon Dioxide Emissions, and Fuel Economy Trends: 1975 Through 2011," Transportation and Climate Division, Office of Transportation and Air Quality (March 2012), www.epa.gov/OMSWWW/cert/mpg/fetrends/2012/420r12001a.pdf. For every 1 mile pedaled rather than driven, nearly 1 pound of CO+ (0.88 lbs) is saved. See US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Light-Duty Technology, Carbon Dioxide Emissions, and Fuel Economy Trends: 1975 Through 2009," Transportation and Climate Division, Office of Transportation and Air Quality, U.S EPA (November 2009): i, www.epa.gov/oms/cert/mpg/fetrends/420r09014.pdf.
- 4 Cynthia L. Ogden et al., "Prevalence of Obesity and Trends in Body Mass Index Among US Children and Adolescents, 1999–2010," Journal of the American Medical Association 307, no. 5 (2012): 483-490, doi:10.1001/jama.2012.40. People who sit all day have 147% increased risk of heart attack or stroke and 112% increased risk of developing diabetes. André Picard, "Why the sedentary life is killing us," The Globe and Mail, October 16, 2012, http://m.theglobeandmail.com/life/health-and-fitness/health/why-the-sedentary-life-iskilling-us/article4613704/?service=mobile; See also Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Causes and Consequences: What Causes Overweight and Obesity," (April 27, 2012), www.cdc.gov/obesity/causes/health.html.
- 5 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "Motor Vehicle Safety," *Injury Prevention & Control* (October 3 2012), *www.cdc.gov/ motorvehiclesafety*. Millions of people are also treated in emergency rooms every year for car accident injuries (2.3 million in 2009). The economic cost is also high: In 2005, the lifetime costs of crash related deaths and injuries among drivers and passengers were \$70 billion. *Id*.
- 6 In addition to being inconvenient, congestion also wastes nearly 3.9 billion gallons of gas per year in the US Tim Lomax *et al.*, "Real-Timing the 2010 Urban Mobility Report," *University Transportation Center for Mobility, Texas Transportation Institute* (February 2011), http://utcm.tamu.edu/publications/final_reports/Lomax_10-65-55.pdf.
- 7 After peaking in 2004, vehicle miles traveled ("VMT") per capital has declined each year for a total drop of 7.5%. The trend downward has been attributed to a variety of factors, including: Baby Boomer retirement; decreasing enthusiasm for cars among many young adults; development trends toward more compact and mixed-use designs; and demand-side policy efforts, alongside the culmination of certain broad societal trajectories, including households in which both parents work outside the home and own cars. Eric Sundquist, "Per Capital VMT ticks down for eighth straight year," *State Smart Transportation Initiative*, February 25, 2013, http://bit.ly/WK7FyH. See also Benjamin Davis and Tony Dutzik, "Transportation and the New Generation: Why Young People Are Driving Less and What It Means for Transportation Policy," *Frontier Group and US PI.R.G. Education Fund* (April 2012), www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Transportation_and_the_New_Generation.pdf.
- 8 The rise since 1990 has been particularly dramatic in urban areas with respect to bicycle commuters. Between 1990 and 2009, Portland increased its share five-fold from 1.1% to 5.8%; Chicago quadrupled its share from .3% to 1.2%; SF tripled its share from 1% to 3%, Minneapolis more than doubled its share from 1.6% to 3.9%, and Washington, DC, almost tripled its share from 0.8% to 2.2%. John Pucher, Ralph Buehler, Mark Seinen, "Bicycling Renaissance in North America? An Update and Re-appraisal of Cycling Trends and Policies," *Transportation Research Part A* 45 (2011): 459 and Figure 4, http://policy.rutgers.edu/faculty/pucher/TRA960_01April2011.pdf.
- 9 Id. at 452.
- 10 Ray LaHood, "Survey shows Americans want more mobility options," Fast Lane, The Official Blog of US Secretary of Transportation, April 6, 2010, http://fastlane.dot.gov/2010/04/survey-shows-americans-want-more-mobility-optionsbikes-walking-and-transit-shouldbe-in-the-mix.html#.UPQnVfJFHLc.
- See e.g. The Brighton Bicycle Club, "Cincinnati's Velodrome," January 26, 2012, https://brightonbicycleclub.wordpress. com/2012/01/26/cincinnatis-velodrome; Mary Gottschalk, "Cycling enthusiasts pay tribute to city's forgotten racing track," San Jose Mercury News, September 14, 2006, http://mytown.mercurynews.com/archives/rosegardenresident/20060914/cover1.shtml.
- 12 Pedaling History Bicycle Museum, "A Quick History of Bicycles," www.pedalinghistory.com/PHhistory.html.
- 13 Peter D. Norton, *Fighting Traffic: The Dawn of the Motor Age in the American City*, (Cambridge: The MIT Press, 2008); David Mozer, "Bicycle History (& Human Powered Vehicle History)," *International Bicycle Fund, www.ibike.org/library/history-timeline.htm*.

- 14 Penny Gordon-Larsen et al., "Active Commuting and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: The CARDIA Study," Archives of Internal Medicine 169, no. 13 (2009): 121-223, http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=773531#qundefined. Bicycling has also been shown to improve mental health in men and lower risk of breast cancer in women. R. Luoto et al., "The Effect of Physical Activity on Breast Cancer Risk: a Cohort Study of 30,548 Women," European Journal of Epidemiology 16, no. 10 (2000): 973-980. Bicycling also reduces mortality rates because of fewer traffic related deaths and respiratory illnesses. David Rojas-Rueda et al., "The Health Risks and Benefits of Cycling in Urban Environments Compared with Car Use: Health Impact Assessment Study," British Medical Journal, 343 (2011): d4521, www.bmj.com/content/343/bmj.d4521.long.
- 15 Alliance for Biking and Walking, "Bicycling and Walking in the United States: 2012 Benchmarking Report," (2012): 163, 166, 172, www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/memberservices/2012_benchmarking_report
- 16 David Menschik *et al.*, "Adolescent Physical Activity as Predictors of Young Adult Weight." *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine* 162, no. 1 (January 1, 2008): 29-33, http://archpedi.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=378855#gundefined.
- 17 Rojas-Rueda et al., "Health Risks," www.bmj.com/content/343/bmj.d4521.long.
- 18 Jan Garrard, Chris Rissel, and Adrian Bauman, "Health Benefits of Cycling," in City Cycling, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), 31-56; see also Mallory Atkinson and Lynn Weigand, "A Review of the Literature: The Mental Health Benefits of Walking and Bicycling," Initiative for Bicycle and Pedestrian Innovation, Portland State University (June 2008), www.pdx.edu/ibpi/sites/www.pdx.edu.ibpi/files/Mental%20Health%20Benefits%20White%20Paper.pdf.
- 19 Marin County Bicycle Coalition, "Economic Benefits of Bicycling in Urban Environments," www.marinbike.org/Resources/ EconomicBenefitsOfBicycling.pdf; see also Darren Flusche, "The Economic Benefits of Bicycling, Impact Map," League of American Bicyclists, http://blog.bikeleague.org/blog//blog/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/eco-impact-map.jpg.
- 20 Kelly J. Clifton et al., "Examining Consumer Behavior and Travel Choices," Oregon Transportation Research and Education Consortium (February 2013): 33-59, http://otrec.us/project/411; see also Emily Badger, Cyclists and Pedestrians Can End Up Spending More Each Month Than Drivers," The Atlantic Cities, December 5, 2012, www.theatlanticcities.com/commute/2012/12/cyclists-and-pedestrianscan-end-spending-more-each-month-drivers/4066; Angie Schmitt, "More Evidence Bike Facilities Are Good for Local Businesses," Streets Blog, November 15, 2011, http://streetsblog.net/2011/11/15/more-evidence-that-bike-lanes-are-good-for-local-businesses; Clean Air Partnership, "Bike Lanes, On-Street Parking, and Business: A Study of Bloor Street in Toronto's Annex Neighborhood," (2009): 17,

www.cleanairpartnership.org/pdf/bike-lanes-parking.pdf; Darren Flusche "The Economic Benefits of Bicycle Infrastructure Investments," The League of American Bicyclists (2009), www.bikeleague.org/resources/reports/pdfs/economic_benefits_bicycle_ infrastructure_report.pdf.

- 21 See New York City Department of Transportation, "Measuring the Street: New Metrics for 21st Century Streets," (2012): 4, www.nyc.gov/html/dot/downloads/pdf/2012-10-measuring-the-street.pdf.
- 22 Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin and Wisconsin Department of Transportation, "The Economic Impact of Bicycling in Wisconsin," www.dot.wisconsin.gov/business/econdev/docs/impact-bicycling.pdf.
- 23 Marin County Bicycle Coalition, "Economic Benefits of Bicycling," www.marinbike.org/Resources/EconomicBenefitsOfBicycling.pdf.
- 24 QBP, "Working Out to Work: The QBP Bicycle Commuting Program," www.qbp.com/page/values. To learn more, see www.qbp.com/ index.php/page/commute.
- 25 See Marin County Bicycle Coalition, "Economic Benefits of Bicycling," *www.marinbike.org/Resources/EconomicBenefitsOfBicycling. pdf. See also* Reset San Francisco, "Studies Show Better Bike Parking Improves Business," November 22, 2011, *www.resetsanfrancisco. org/news/nov-22-11/studies-show-better-bike-parking-improves-business.*
- 26 Christine Fruechte, "How Biking Can Help a Company's Bottom Line," *StarTribune*, June 7, 2011, *www.startribune.com/opinion/ commentaries/123276188.html?refer=y.*
- 27 Bicycle Federation of Wisconsin, "Economic Impact," 2, www.dot.wisconsin.gov/business/econdev/docs/impact-bicycling.pdf.
- 28 Duygu Karadeniz, "The Impact of the Little Miami Scenic Trail on Single Family Residential Property Values," (Master's Thesis, University of Cincinnati, 2008), http://atfiles.org/files/pdf/LittleMiamiPropValue.pdf. Greg Lindsey et al., "Property Values, Recreation Values, and Urban Greenways," Journal of Park and Recreation Administration 22, no. 3 (2004): 80, http://staff.washington.edu/kwolf/ Archive/Classes/ESRM304_SocSci/304%20Soc%20Sci%20Lab%20Articles/Lindsey_2004.pdf.
- 29 Jay Walljasper, "Bicycling Means Better Business," Green Lane Project, October 18, 2012, http://greenlaneproject.org/blog/view/198.
- 30 League of American Bicyclists, "Ride for Economy," www.bikeleague.org/resources/why/economics.php.
- 31 See, e.g., Marci Nelesen, "Rising Costs, Shrinking Budgets Curb Janesville's Street Repair Efforts," The Janesville Gazette, March 26, 2012, http://gazettextra.com/news/2012/mar/26/rising-costs-shrinking-budgets-curb-janesvilles-st; Office of the New York State Comptroller, "Growing Cracks in the Foundation: Local Governments are Losing Ground on Addressing Vital Infrastructure Needs," State of New York (December 2012): 4, www.osc.state.ny.us/localgov/pubs/infrastructure.pdf.
- 32 Gas taxes pay for less than half of the costs of building and maintaining roads. Joseph Henchman, "Gasoline Taxes and Tolls Pay for Only a Third of State & Local Road Spending," Tax Foundation, January 17, 2013, http://taxfoundation.org/article/gasoline-taxes-andtolls-pay-only-third-state-local-road-spending; Federal Highway Administration, Office of Highway Policy Information, "Our Nation's Highways: Funding and Expenditures," Highway Finance Data Collection (2011), www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/pubs/hf/pl11028/ chapter6.cfm.

- 33 Michael King, "Cycling = Livability," American Planning Association, TPD News 36, no. 1 (Spring 2011): 4, www.nelsonnygaard.com/ Documents/Articles/MKing_article_Newsletter.pdf.
- 34 See Paul Tranter, City Cycling, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), at 57-74.
- 35 Jean Pasiuk, "Empowering Social Service Organizations with Transportation Options," *Bike Walk Twin Cities*, November 12, 2012, *www.bikewalktwincities.org/news-events/news/empowering-social-service-organizations-transportation-options*.
- 36 AAA, "Cost of Owning and Operating Vehicle in US Increased 3.4 Percent According to AAA's 2011 'Your Driving Costs' Study," News Room, April 5, 2011, http://newsroom.aaa.com/2011/04/cost-of-owning-and-operating-vehicle-in-u-s-increased-3-4-percentaccording-to-aaas-2011-your-driving-costs-study; Sabrina Tavernise, "US Income Gap Rose, Sign of Uneven Recovery," New York Times, September 12, 2012, www.nytimes.com/2012/09/13/us/us-incomes-dropped-last-year-census-bureau-says.html?_r=0J.
- 37 Heidi Goldberg, "State and County Supported Car Ownership Programs Can Help Low-Income Families Secure and Keep Jobs," *Center* on Budget and Policy Priorities, November 28, 2001, www.cbpp.org/cms/index.cfm?fa=view&id=1435.
- 38 Linda Bailey, "Aging Americans: Stranded Without Options," Surface Transportation Policy Project, April 2004, www.transact.org/report. asp?id=232.
- 39 The Leadership Conference Education Fund, "Getting to Work: Transportation Policy and Access to Job Opportunities," *Transportation Equity* (July 2011): 2, http://civilrightsdocs.info/pdf/docs/transportation/getting-to-work-july20.pdf.
- 40 Id.
- 41 Jay Walljasper, "Bikes Mean Better Business," MinnPost, Nov. 16, 2012, www.minnpost.com/line/2012/11/bikes-mean-better-business.
- 42 Id.
- 43 Joan Pasiuk, "Empowering Social Service Organizations," www.bikewalktwincities.org/news-events/news/empowering-social-serviceorganizations-transportation-options.
- 44 Mary Brown, "Why Aren't Women on Wheels?" San Francisco Bicycle Coalition, www.sfbike.org/?women_mb.
- 45 Grace Lichtenstein, "Sports Medicine: Study Suggests That Exercise After Brain Injury Is Beneficial," New York Times, Nov. 5, 1997, www.nytimes.com/1997/11/05/sports/sports-medicine-study-suggests-that-exercise-after-brain-injury-is-beneficial. html?pagewanted=2&src=pm.
- 46 Davis and Dutzik, "Young People Driving Less," www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/Transportation_and_the_New_Generation. pdf. The report explains: "The trend away from steady growth in driving is likely to be long-lasting – even once the economy recovers. Young people are driving less for a host of reasons – higher gas prices, new licensing laws, improvements in technology that support alternative transportation, and changes in Generation Y's values and preferences–all factors that are likely to have an impact for years to come."
- 47 State Smart Transportation Initiative, "Young People Turning Away From Cars," University of Wisconsin-Madison, April 2, 2012, www.ssti.us/2012/04/young-people-turning-away-from-cars.
- 48 See, e.g. Elly Blue, "The Bike Factor: Disability and the Ability to Ride a Bicycle," Grist, July 18, 2011, http://grist.org/biking/2011-07-18-the-bike-factor-disability-and-the-ability-to-ride-a-bicycle. See also Kathleen Wilker, "Adaptive Bicycles," Momentum Magazine, March 4, 2011, http://momentummag.com/blogs/families-on-bikes/adapted-bicycles; Marcy Marchello, "Adaptive Bikes Provide Greater Access to Cycling, Friends of the Bruce Freeman Trail, www.brucefreemanrailtrail.org/trail_plans/universal_access.html.
- 49 Blue, "The Bike Factor," http://grist.org/biking/2011-07-18-the-bike-factor-disability-and-the-ability-to-ride-a-bicycle.
- 50 See, e.g. BerkelBike, "A Hybrid Between a Recumbent Tricycle and a Handcycle," www.berkelbike.com; AMBUCS, "Creating Mobility and Independence for People with Disabilities," www.ambucs.com; Tuvie, Design of the Future, "Bicycle Design for People with Disabilities," www.tuvie.com/bicycle-design-for-people-with-disabilities.
- 51 Atkinson and Weigand, "Mental Health Benefits of Bicycling," www.pdx.edu/ibpi/sites/www.pdx.edu.ibpi/files/Mental%20Health%20 Benefits%20White%20Paper.pdf.
- 52 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Carbon Dioxide Emissions," i, www.epa.gov/oms/cert/mpg/fetrends/420r09014.pdf.
- 53 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), "Reducing Acid Rain," *Key Elements of the Clean Air Act, www.epa.gov/airguality/peg_caa/ acidrain.html*; see also Michael Tennesen, "Sour Showers: Acid Rain Returns: This Time it is Caused by Nitrogen Emissions," *Scientific American*, June 21, 2010, *www.scientificamerican.com/article.cfm?id=acid-rain-caused-by-nitrogen-emissions*; Maryland Department of the Environment, "Acid Rain," *Air Fact Sheets, Air Quality, www.mde.state.md.us/programs/ResearchCenter/FactSheets/ AirFactSheets/Documents/www.mde.state.md.us/assets/document/factsheets/acidrain.pdf*.
- 54 Ralph Buehler "Determinants of Bicycle Commuting in the Washington, DC Region: The Role of Bicycle Parking, Cyclist Showers, and Free Car Parking at Work," *Transportation Research: Part D: Transport and Environment* 17, no. 7 (2012): 525-531, http://katana.hsrc.unc. edu/cms/downloads/DeterminantsofBicycleCommuting.pdf.
- 55 Id. at 525.
- 56 Thomas Gotschi and Kevin Mills, "Active Transportation for America: The Case for Increased Federal Investment in Bicycling and Walking," www.railstotrails.org/resources/documents/whatwedo/atfa/atfa_20081020.pdf.

- 57 Id. at p. 21.
- 58 For a quantitative analysis of the financial benefits of bicycling see Thomas Gotschi and Kevin Mills "Active Transportation for American: The case for Increased Federal Investment in Bicycling and Walking," *Rails-to-Trails Conservancy* (2008): 38-40, *www.railstotrails.org/resources/documents/whatwedo/atfa/ATFA_20081020.pdf*.
- 59 Ryan Kost, "Portland Mayor Sam Adams says Portland's Spent on Its Bike Infrastructure What It Would Normally Spend on a Single Mile of Highway," *The Oregonian*, March 19, 2011, www.politifact.com/oregon/statements/2011/mar/19/sam-adams/portland-mayor-sam-adams-says-portlands-spent-its-.
- 60 Between 1977 and 2009, bicycling's share of all trips rose from 0.6% to 1%. See US Department of Transportation, "2009 National Household Travel Survey," *Federal Highway Administration*, *http://nhts.ornl.gov*; Robert Schneider, "Understanding Sustainable Transportation Choices: Shifting Routine Automobile Travel to Walking and Bicycling," *University of California, Berkeley*: (UCTC Dissertation, UCTC-DISS-2011-01)(2011): 1, *www.uctc.net/research/UCTC-DISS-2011-01.pdf*.
- 61 See America Bikes, "Factsheet: National Household Travel Survey," League of American Bicyclists (2010), www.advocacyadvance. org/docs/nhts09.pdf; see also Todd Litman "Short and Sweet: Analysis of Shorter Trips Using National Personal Travel Survey Data," Victoria Transport Policy Institute (2012): 3, www.vtpi.org/short_sweet.pdf. Forty-one percent of all trips are 3 miles or less (and 67% of those are by car), and 19% of all trips are 1 mile or less (and 42% of those are by car). Id.; Rails-to-Trails Conservancy, "Turning Potential into Practice: Walking and Biking as Mainstream Transportation Choices," Mobility (2007), www.railstotrails.org/resources/documents/ whatwedo/TrailLink%2007%20Program_Mobility.pdf citing US Department of Transportation, "Federal Highway Administration University Course on Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation: Student Workbook," Federal Highway Administration (2006), www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/pedbike/05085/pdf/combined/0.pdf.
- 62 Tim Reuscher, Federal Highway Administration, email message to author, March, 15, 2013 (on file with author); see also US Department of Transportation, "2009 Travel Survey," http://htts.ornl.gov (raw data).
- 63 Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department B, "The Promotion of Cycling," *Structural and Cohesion Policies, Transport* and Tourism, European Parliament (2010): 28, www.scribd.com/doc/40057104/24/Statistics-on-bicycle-use.
- 64 Pro-bike cultures result from a confluence of many factors including pro-bike traffic laws and policies, infrastructures of roads and bike paths that are safe and provide comprehensive routes, ample facilities for bike storage and parking, and general community attitudes that favor bicycle riding. Peter Jacobson, "Safety in Numbers: More Walkers and Bicyclists, Safer Walking and Bicycling," *Injury Prevention* 9 (2003): 205–209, doi:10.1136/ip.9.3.205.
- 65 Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen, "Bicycling Renaissance," http://policy.rutgers.edu/faculty/pucher/TRA960_01April2011.pdf.
- 66 Darren Flusche, "Bicycle Commuting Trends, 2000 to 2008," *League of American Bicyclists* (2009) http://blog.bikeleague.org/ blog/2009/10/bicycle-commuting-trends-2000-to-2008.
- 67 Roger Geller, "Four Types of Cyclists," *Portland Office of Transportation* (2006), *www.portlandonline.com/transportation/index. cfm?a=237507&c=44671*. See *also* Jennifer Dill and Nathan McNeil, "Four Types of Cyclists? Testing a Typology to Better Understand Bicycling Behavior and Potential," *Portland State University* (2012), *http://web.pdx.edu/~jdill/Types_of_Cyclists_PSUWorkingPaper.pdf*.
- 68 While more research is needed in this area, many planners anticipate that other communities are likely to follow a similar profile. Dill and McNeil, "Types of Cyclist," http://web.pdx.edu/~jdill/Types_of_Cyclists_PSUWorkingPaper.pdf; see also City of Palo Alto, "2011 Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan," Alta Planning + Design (July, 2011): § 5.1.1., www.altaprojects.net/files/1913/1247/9153/Palo_Alto_BPTP_ Draft_Report_Part_2.pdf. For purposes of this guide, we have adjusted the names of the categories – for example, the "willing but wary" are known in Portland as the "interested but concerned."
- 69 Jonathan Maus, "PSU Research Delves Deeper Into Four Types of Cyclists," *Bike Portland* (2012), *http://bikeportland.org/2012/07/18/* psu-research-delves-deeper-into-four-types-of-cyclists-74938.
- 70 Women make up only 24% of bicycle trips in the US Catherine Emond, Wei Tang, and Susan Handy, "Explaining Gender Difference in Bicycling Behavior," *Transportation Research Record* 2125 (2009): 16-25, http://trb.metapress.com/content/h624674r6j8k44r1/ fulltext.pdf; Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen, "Bicycling Renaissance," http://policy.rutgers.edu/faculty/pucher/TRA960_01April2011.pdf.
- 71 Jan Garrard, Susan Handy, and Jennifer Dill, "Women and Cycling," in *City Cycling*, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), 215.
- 72 Garrard, Handy, and Dill, City Cycling, 216.
- 73 Garrard, Handy, and Dill, *City Cycling*, 222-224; see also Christine Haughney, "Women, Uneasy, Still Lag as Cyclists in New York City," New York Times, July 3, 2011, https://www.nytimes.com/2011/07/04/nyregion/number-of-female-cyclists-lags-in-new-york-withsafety-as-a-concern.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0. For a discussion of why women are more attuned to safety concerns, see Garrard, Handy, and Dill, *City Cycling*, 225.
- 74 Bicycle advocacy groups have also started to specifically promote bicycling among women and discuss strategies for increasing bicycling among women. The League of American Bicyclists, for example, hosted its second annual National Women Bicycling Forum in March 2013. See Carolyn Szczepanski, "Women's Forum Success," League of American Bicyclists (2013), http://blog.bikeleague.org/ blog/2013/03/womens-forum-success. See also WE Bike NYC, http://webikenyc.org.
- 75 Susan Handy, "The Davis Bicycle Studies: Why do I bicycle but my neighbor doesn't?" Access 39 (2011): 16-21, www.uctc.net/access/39/ access39_davis.shtml.

- 76 Alliance, "Benchmarking Report," www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/memberservices/2012_benchmarking_ report. Note that the sample sizes for people of color are so small that it is not possible to clearly assess the real rates.
- 77 Nancy McGruckin, "Walking and Biking in California: Analysis of the CA-NHTS," Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis (2012): 25, Table 13, http://publications.its.ucdavis.edu/publication_detail.php?id=1661.
- 78 League of American Bicyclists, "The New Majority, Pedaling Towards Equity," www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/Sierra-+-LAB-bike-equity_report-May-2013.pdf
- 79 Plurale Tantum, "Biking Advocacy and Race: Where's the Disconnect?" February 24, 2011, http://pluraletantum.com/2011/02/24/bikingadvocacy-and-race-wheres-the-disconnect.
- 80 See e.g. Milwaukee Bicycle Works, www.milwaukeebicycleworks.org; Red, Bike and Green, www.redbikeandgreen.com; Major Tyler Bicycling Club of Minnesota, www.majortaylorminnesota.org; Richmond Spokes, https://sites.google.com/a/richmondspokes.org/ about/Home; Black Women Bike, http://blackwomenbikedc.tumblr.com; The National Brotherhood of Cyclists, www.thenbc.org/ primary-links/about-national-brotherhood-cyclists.html; Cycles and Change, www.cyclesandchange.com; Seattle Bike Justice Project, http://seattlebikejustice.com/origin-story; BikeWalk Mississippi, "The Mississippi Low-Income Empowerment Initiative for Livable Communities," www.bikewalkmississippi.org/BWMS/outreach; Local Spokes: Lower East Side and Chinatown Bicycling Coalition, www.localspokes.org; East Side Riders, www.eastsideriders.org; Los Ryderz, www.facebook.com/LosRyderzBikeClub; Southeast Bicycle Alliance, www.facebook.com/CicLAviaSouthEastLA; Community Health Councils, www.chc-inc.org; T.R.UST. South LA, www.trustsouthla.org; Ovarian Psyco-Cycles, www.facebook.com/ovarian.psycos; Multicultural Communities for Mobility, www. multicultimobility.org.
- 81 Sean Breslin, "Biking While Black: Cops Face More Profiling Allegations in North Portland," *The Portland Mercury*, September 17, 2009, www.portlandmercury.com/portland/biking-while-black/Content?oid=1657144.
- 82 Elizabeth Rusch, "Biking While Black," Mother Jones, September/October 2002, www.motherjones.com/politics/2002/09/biking-whileblack; American Civil Liberties Union, "ACLU of Michigan Settles 'Biking While Black' Case; Teens Finally Given Closure," May 30, 2006, www.aclu.org/racial-justice/aclu-michigan-settles-%E2%80%9Cbiking-while-black%E2%80%9D-case-teens-finally-given-closure.
- 83 Carolyn Szczepanski, "WE Bike NYC Thrives Through Inclusivity" (July 10, 2013), www.bikeleague.org/content/we-bike-nyc-thrivesthrough-inclusivity.
- 84 League of American Bicyclists, "The New Majority," *www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/Sierra-+-LAB-bike-equity_report-May-2013.pdf*. The fatality rate is 23% higher for Latinos than whites bicycling, and 30% higher for African-Americans.
- 85 Alliance, "Benchmarking Report," 42, 44, www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/memberservices/2012_ benchmarking_report.
- 86 Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen, "Bicycling Renaissance," http://policy.rutgers.edu/faculty/pucher/TRA960_01April2011.pdf.
- 87 Alliance, "Benchmarking Report," 41, www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/memberservices/2012_benchmarking_ report.
- 88 Alliance, "Benchmarking Report," 143-144, www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/memberservices/2012_ benchmarking_report.
- 89 Id.
- 90 Alliance, "Benchmarking Report," 67, www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/memberservices/2012_benchmarking_ report. Cities in question are the 51 largest cities in the country. In 2007, sixteen states had established explicit goals to increase bicycling; by 2012, the number had more than doubled to 35.
- 91 Due to differences in state and local laws, it may not be possible for every jurisdiction to implement every policy suggestion addressed in this report. It is important to consult with a local attorney who is familiar with your local and state laws to find out what is permissible. Communities can also contact ChangeLab Solutions for technical assistance.
- 92 Gordon Marshall, ed., A Dictionary of Sociology (Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford Express, 1998), www.encyclopedia.com/doc/1088norm.html; see also Xueying Zhang, David W. Cowling, and Hao Tang, "The impact of social norm change strategies on smokers' quitting behaviours," Tobacco Control 19 (Suppl. 1) (2010): i51-i55, http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/content/19/Suppl_1/i51.full.pdf.
- 93 Marice Ashe et al., "Local venues for change: Legal strategies for healthy environments," *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics* 35, no. 1 (2007): 138-47, http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1748-720X.2007.00118.x/pdf.
- 94 Thomas R. Frieden, "A Framework for Public Health Action: The Health Impact Pyramid," *American Journal of Public Health* 100, no. 4 (2010): 591, *http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/pdf/10.2105/AJPH.2009.185652* ("The need to urge behavioral change is symptomatic of failure to establish contexts in which healthy choices are default actions. For example, counterbalances to our obesogenic environment include exhortations to increase physical activity and improve diet, which have little or no effect.").

96 Hao Tang et al., "Changes of Attitudes and Patronage Behaviors in Response to a Smoke-Free Bar Law," American Journal of Public Health 93, no. 4 (2003): 616, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1447799 (concluding that the "social norm change model for reducing smoking employed by the California Tobacco Control Program appears to be having a deep effect on people's attitudes and behavior").

- 97 See James Lightwood and Stanton Glantz, "The Effect of the California Tobacco Control Program on Smoking Prevalence, Cigarette Consumption, and Healthcare Costs: 1989–2008." PLoS ONE 8 no. 2 (February 2013): e47145, www.plosone.org/article/ info%3Adoi%2F10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0047145; Ron Chapman, "State Health Officer's Report on Tobacco Use and Promotion in California," California Department of Public Health, California Tobacco Control Program (December 2012): 16, www.cdph.ca.gov/ Documents/EMBARGOED%20State%20Health%200fficers%20Report%20on%20Tobacco.pdf; Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), "The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke: A Report of the Surgeon General," US Department of Health and Human Services, (2006): 612, www.surgeongeneral.gov/library/secondhandsmoke/report; see also California Department of Health Services, Tobacco Control Section, "Adult Smoking Prevalence," (2006), www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/tobacco/ Documents/CTCPAdultSmokingO6.pdf (describing California's use of legal tools to achieve a 35% reduction in adult smoking rates between 1988 and 2005, from 22.7% to 14%); Allison Kennedy et al., "Strong Tobacco Control Program Requirements and Secure Funding are not Enough: Lessons from Florida," American Journal of Public Health 102, no. 5 (2012): 807-817, http://search.proguest. com/docview/1009903776?accountid=148808. A 2013 study in Belgium found strong effects on risk of preterm births of public smoking bans. The study showed that as each of three successive public smoking bans went into effect (first banning smoking in workplaces, then restaurants, then bars serving food), preterm births fell, with reductions of 2-3%. Tim Nawrot, "Smoking Bans Linked with "Successive Reductions in Preterm Birth," BMJ Group, February 13, 2013, www.bmj.com/press-releases/2013/02/13/smoking-banslinked-%E2%80%9Csuccessive-reductions%E2%80%9D-preterm-birth. Tobacco Education and Research Oversight Committee, "Saving Lives, Saving Money," (January, 2012), www.cdph.ca.gov/services/boards/teroc/Documents/Full%20Master%20Plan-Web.pdf
- 98 Elizabeth Paluck, "What's in a Norm? Sources and Processes of Norm Change," *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 96, no. 3 (2009): 594-600, http://betsylevypaluck.com/Paluck%202009%20JPSP%20Norm.pdf.
- 99 Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen, "Bicycling Renaissance," http://policy.rutgers.edu/faculty/pucher/TRA960_01April2011.pdf.
- 100 Susan Handy, Eva Heinen, and Kevin Krizek, "Cycling in Small Cities," in *City Cycling*, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), 257–286.
- 101 Examples of many types of local policies that support active living can be found in the ENACT Local Policy Database at http://eatbettermovemore.org/sa/policies.
- 102 ChangeLab Solutions, Model Implementation and Enforcement Language for Local Ordinances, National Policy & Legal Analysis Network to Prevent Childhood Obesity, www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/model-ordinance-implementation-and-enforcementclauses.
- 103 These four requirements are modified from the Theory of Routine Mode Choice Decisions, described in Robert Schneider, "Understanding Sustainable Transportation Choices," 179-190, www.uctc.net/research/UCTC-DISS-2011-01.pdf. See also Robert Schneider, "Theory of Routine Mode Choice Decisions: An Operational Framework to Increase Sustainable Transportation," Transport Policy 25 (2013): 128-137, www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0967070X12001643#.
- 104 Handy, "The Davis Bicycle Studies," www.uctc.net/access/39/access39_davis.shtml; see also Dill and McNeil, "Types of Cyclist," http://web.pdx.edu/~jdill/Types_of_Cyclists_PSUWorkingPaper.pdf.
- 105 This schematic is modified from the Theory of Routine Mode Choice Decisions set forth in Robert Schneider, "Understanding Sustainable Transportation Choices," 179–190, www.uctc.net/research/UCTC-DISS-2011-01.pdf. We adapted this model from the context of individual decision making to a population level. See also Robert Schneider, "Theory of Routine Mode Choice Decisions," www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0967070X12001643#.
- 106 John Pucher and Ralph Buehler, "Promoting Cycling for Daily Travel: Conclusions and Lessons from Across the Globe," in *City Cycling*, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), 350; see also Susan Handy, Eva Heinen, and Kevin Krizek, "Cycling in Small Cities," in *City Cycling*, 266–67.
- 107 See US Department of Transportation, "Case Study 1, Reasons Why Bicycling And Walking Are Not Being Used More Extensively As Travel Mode," Federal Highway Administration, National Biking and Walking Study, (1992)(Publication No. FHWA-PD-92-041): 7, http://ntl.bts.gov/lib/6000/6300/6341/CASE1.pdf. ("Most surveys report that traffic safety is the major factor deterring individuals from bicycle commuting"). See also, Seattle Department of Transportation, "2012 Bicycle Participation Study" (2012): Slides 3,11, www.seattle.gov/transportation/docs/bikes/Bicycle%20Survey%202012%20for%20Web.pdf, (showing that while recreational riders are more affected by weather, the number one reason people do not ride a bicycle more for transportation to a destination is safety). Meghan Winters et al., "Motivators and deterrents of bicycling: comparing influences on decisions to ride," Transportation 38, no. 1 (2011), http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11116-010-9284-y?LI=true. Geller, "Four Types," 1, www.portlandoregon.gov/ transportation/article/237507.
- 108 Eric Jaffe "What's the Best Way to Figure Out What Bike Riders Really Want?" *The Atlantic Cities*, October 24, 2012, *www.theatlanticcities.com/commute/2012/10/whats-best-way-figure-out-what-bike-riders-really-want/3684*.
- 109 John Pucher and Ralph Buehler, ed., City Cycling (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), 17, 296.
- 110 Pucher and Buehler, ed., *City Cycling*, 142; Jeroen Johan de Hartog et al., "Do the health benefits of cycling outweigh the risks?" *Environmental Health Perspectives* 118, no. 8 (2010), http://ehp03.niehs.nih.gov/article/info%3Adoi%2F10.1289%2Fehp.0901747 (finding that on average, the estimated health benefits of cycling were substantially larger than the risks relative to car driving for individuals shifting mode of transport with estimated benefit to risk ratios of 9:1 (in Holland) and 7:1 (in Britain) in terms of years of life gained to lost); David Rojas-Rueda et al., "The Health Risks and Benefits of Cycling in Urban Environments Compared with Car Use: Health Impact Assessment Study," *British Medical Journal* 343 (August 24, 2011): d4521, www.bmj.com/content/343/bmj.d4521 (finding that health benefits outweighed risks by 77 to 1 in Barcelona); Nick Cavill and Adrian Davis "Cycling & Health: What's the evidence?" *Cycling England*, (2007): 7, www.cycle-helmets.com/cycling_and_health.pdf, (health benefits outweigh risks by 20 to 1).

- 111 John Pucher and Ralph Buehler, "Analysis of Bicycling Trends and Policies in Large North American Cities: Lessons for New York," University Transportation Research Center (March 2011): 4, www.trafficsafetycoalition.com/public_ftp/Bike%20Studies/Analysis%20 of%20Bicycling%20Trends%20and%20Policies%20in%20Large%20North%20American%20Cities.pdf; John Pucher and Ralph Buehler, ed., City Cycling, 17; see also League of American Bicyclists, "The New Majority," www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/ uploads/2013/06/Sierra-+-LAB-bike-equity_report-May-2013.pdf.
- 112 League of American Bicyclists, "The New Majority," www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/Sierra-+-LAB-bike-equity_report-May-2013.pdf.
- 113 Pucher and Buehler, ed., City Cycling, 222.
- 114 Emond, Tang, and Handy, "Gender Difference," http://trb.metapress.com/content/h624674r6j8k44r1/fulltext.pdf; Garrard, Handy, and Dill, "Women and Cycling," in City Cycling, 215–224; Haughney, "Women, Uneasy," New York Times, https://www.nytimes. com/2011/07/04/nyregion/number-of-female-cyclists-lags-in-new-york-with-safety-as-a-concern.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0. Older adults also face the added concern of limited physical abilities which can also heighten safety concerns. Although beyond the scope of this report, alternative bicycles, such as electric-assist bicycles (e-bikes) and adult tricycles, could help increase bicycling rates among older adults.
- 115 Pucher and Buehler, ed., City Cycling, 17-19.
- 116 Kay Teschke, "Route Infrastructure and the Risk of Injury to Bicyclists: A Case-Crossover Study," *American Journal of Public Health* 102, no. 12 (December 2012): 2336-2343, http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/pdf/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300762.
- 117 Los Angeles County Bicycle Coalition, "L.A. Bike Count: Results from the 2011 City of Los Angeles Bicycle and Pedestrian Count," 20-21, https://lacbc.files.wordpress.com/2012/05/2011_labikecountreport_5_29.pdf.
- 118 US Department of Transportation, "Report to the US Congress on the Outcomes of the Nonmotorized Transportation Pilot Program SAFETEA-LU Section 1807," *Federal Highway Administration* (2012), *www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/ ntpp/2012_report/page01.cfm*. Note that some researchers have advanced the idea that there is a "safety in numbers" effect, in which an increase in the number of people walking or bicycling leads to a lower rate of injury. See, e.g, Jacobson, "Safety in Numbers," 205–209, doi:10.1136/ip.9.3.205.; Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen "Bicycling Renaissance," 14, *www.utrc2.org/sites/default/ files/pubs/bike-renaissance-journal_0.pdf*; Buehler and Pucher, "International Overview: Cycling Trends in Western Europe, North America, and Australia," in *City Cycling*, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler, 9–30. However, other researchers have raised doubts regarding the existence of this effect, suggesting that safety and increased numbers may both be correlated with a third factor, such as safer infrastructure, or that safety may cause increased numbers rather than being caused by it. *See e.g.*, Rajiv Bhatia and Megan Wier, "'Safety in Numbers' Re-examined: Can We Make Valid or Practical Inferences from Available Evidence?" *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 43, no 1 (January 2011): 235-240, *www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0001457510002484*. Thus, it appears that additional research is necessary to identify whether and how the "safety in numbers" effect works. *See also* Judy Geyer, "The Continuing Debate about Safety in Numbers–Data from Oakland, CA," *Traffic Safety Center*, UCB-ITS-TSC-2006-3, (2006), *http:// escholarship.org/uc/item/5498x882#page-2*.
- 119 Geller, "Four Types," www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/article/237507.
- 120 Angie Schmitt, "Study: Protected Bike Lanes Reduce Injury Risk Up to 90 Percent," DC.STREETSBLOG, October 22, 2012, http://bit.ly/RgjliN.
- 121 In the US, most bike paths are multi-use while in Europe they are mostly reserved exclusively for bicyclists. Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen "Bicycling Renaissance," 23, www.utrc2.org/sites/default/files/pubs/bike-renaissance-journal_0.pdf.
- 122 National Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO), Urban Bikeway Design Guide (New York: NACTO, 2d ed., 2012), 12, 21.
- 123 M. Anne Harris, et al., "Comparing the Effects of Infrastructure on Bicycling Injury at Intersections and Non-Intersections Using a Case-crossover Design," Injury Prevention (February 14, 2013), http://injuryprevention.bmj.com/content/early/2013/02/13/ injuryprev-2012-040561.full; Ralph Buehler and John Pucher, "Cycling to Work in 90 Large American Cities: New Evidence on the Role of Bike Paths and Lanes," Transportation 39, no. 2 (March 2012): 409-432, http://policy.rutgers.edu/faculty/pucher/bikepaths.pdf; Katherine Parker, Jeanette Gustat, and Janet Rice, "Installation of Bicycle Lanes and Increased Ridership in an Urban, Mixed-Income Setting in New Orleans, Louisiana," Journal of Physical Activity and Health 8, no. S1 (2011): S98-S102, http://prc.tulane.edu/uploads/13_ parker_JPAH_2010_0102-1294247947.pdf, http://injuryprevention.bmj.com/content/early/2013/02/13/injuryprev-2012-040561.full. pdf+html.
- 124 Jeffrey A. Lindley, FHA Administrator to Federal Lands Highway Division Engineers, memorandum, April 15, 2011, Federal Highway Administration, http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/resources/interim_approval/ia14/ia14grnpmbiketlanes.pdf
- 125 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, 26.
- 126 For further discussion of protected bike lane variations, see http://nacto.org/cities-for-cycling/design-guide/cycle-tracks. See also Transportation Alternatives, "Bike Lanes and Paths: A Primer," http://bikingrules.org/biking/laneprimer; Rose J. "Cycle Track or Buffered Bike Lane?" The Oregonian, May 27, 2009, http://blog.oregonlive.com/commuting/2009/05/cycle_track_or_buffered_bike_l.html.
- 127 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, 47.
- 128 Teschke, "Route Infrastructure and Risk," 2340, http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/pdf/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300762; see also Anne Lusk et al., "Risk of Injury for Bicycling on Cycle Track Versus in the Streets," Injury Prevention (February 9, 2011), http://injuryprevention.bmj.com/content/early/2011/02/02/ip.2010.028696.full.

- 129 Peter Furth, "Bicycling Infrastructure for Mass Cycling: A Transatlantic Comparison," in *City Cycling*, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 2012), 119.
- 130 See Bicycling Info, "What is a Bicycle Boulevard," www.bicyclinginfo.org/faqs/answer.cfm?id=3976; Lindsay Walker, Mike Tresidder, and Mia Birk, "Fundamentals of Bicycle Boulevard Planning and Design Guidebook," Initiative for Bicycle and Pedestrian Innovation and Alta Planning+Design (July 2009), www.pdx.edu/ibpi/sites/www.pdx.edu.ibpi/files/BicycleBoulevardGuidebook%28optimized%29.pdf; see also survey of bicycle boulevard treatments in the Pedestrian and Bicycle Plan, Appendix C, "Bicycle Boulevard Treatments," City of Emeryville (May 15, 2012), http://ca-emeryville.civicplus.com/DocumentCenter/Home/View/1829.
- 131 Eric Minikel, "Cyclist Safety on Bicycle Boulevards and Parallel Arterial Routes in Berkeley, California," Accident Analysis and Prevention 45 (March 2012): 241-47, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2011.07.009.
- 132 Portland Bureau of Transportation, "What is a Neighborhood Greenway?" (June 25, 2012), www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/ article/348902; Streetfilms, "Portland's Bike Boulevards Become Neighborhood Greenways," http://vimeo.com/16552771.
- 133 Jonathan Maus, "How Portland's Neighborhood Greenways Will Transform Our City," *Bike Portland*, March 4, 2011, *http://bikeportland.org/2011/03/04/how-portlands-neighborhood-greenways-will-transform-our-city-49138*.
- 134 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, 171 and Design Guidance Illustration.
- 135 Jaime De La Vega, "Shared Lane Marking Study: Final Report," Los Angeles Department of Transportation, Bike Program (June 2011): 11–13, 23–25, http://ladotbikeblog.files.wordpress.com/2011/06/ladot_slm_final_report_062211.pdf.
- 136 San Francisco Municipal Transportation Authority, "Bicycle Facility Types: Sharrows," www.sfmta.com/getting-around/bicycling/bikelanes.
- 137 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, 172-173.
- 138 Greg Raisman, email message to author, April 11, 2013 (on file with author); see also Jonathan Maus, "The Case for Neighborhood Greenways: Portland's Bus System for Biking and Walking, Bike Portland, March 16, 2012, http://bikeportland.org/2012/03/16/the-casefor-neighborhood-greenways-portlands-bus-system-for-biking-and-walking-69009.
- 139 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, 172-173.
- 140 Pucher, Buehler, and Seinen, "Bicycling Renaissance," www.utrc2.org/sites/default/files/pubs/bike-renaissance-journal_0.pdf.
- 141 Barbara McCann and Suzanne Rynne, eds., *Complete Streets: Best Policy and Implementation Practices* (Chicago: American Planning Association, 2010). A portion of the book is available at *www.planning.org/pas/brochure/pdf/report.pdf*.
- 142 See, e.g., Rancho Cucamonga, California, Ordinance 857, www.cityofrc.us/documents/857.pdf; see also ChangeLab Solutions, "Model Laws and Resolutions: Complete Streets," www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/laws-resolutions-cs.
- 143 National Complete Streets Coalition, "Policy Atlas," Smart Growth America (2013), www.smartgrowthamerica.org/complete-streets/ changing-policy/complete-streets-atlas.
- 144 McCann and Rynne, eds., Complete Streets, 46.
- 145 Oregon Rev. Stat. §366.514 (2012).
- 146 United States Department of Transportation, "Policy Statement on Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodation Regulations and Recommendations," *Federal Highway Administration* (March 11, 2010), (emphasis added), *www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/overview/policy_accom.cfm*
- 147 Jurisdictions also had the alternative of updating their general plan to include complete streets. See Sean Co, "One Bay Area Grant: Complete Streets Required Elements," *Metropolitan Transportation Commission* (July 16, 2012), http://onebayarea.org/file10013.html.
- 148 605 III. Comp. Stat. 30 et seq., www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=1750&ChapterID=45. This Act is part of a "broad based effort across state government to advance bicycling in Illinois." Green Illinois, "Agency Bicycling Initiatives," State of Illinois (2012), www2.illinois.gov/gov/green/Pages/AgencyBicyclingInitiatives.aspx (providing overview of state efforts).
- 149 Cal. Sts. & Hy. Code § 894.2., www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=shc&group=00001-01000&file=890-894.2.
- 150 See Caltrans Division of Local Assistance, "Bicycle Transportation Account," *State of California*, www.dot.ca.gov/hq/LocalPrograms/ bta/btawebPage.htm; Cal. Sts. & Hy. Code § 891.2.
- 151 As of time of publication, both the California Bicycle Transportation Act and the Bicycle Transportation Account are under revision as part of budget reform efforts aimed at consolidating a number of accounts. It is anticipated, however, that the essential structure of requiring local jurisdictions to adopt bicycle plans as a condition of eligibility for funding will remain intact. Dave Snyder, Executive Director of California Bike Coalition, email message to author, June 21, 2013 (on file with author).
- 152 North Carolina Division of Transportation, Division of Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation, "Bicycle and Bikeway Act of 1974," NCDOT Laws and Policies (November 13, 2009), www.ncdot.gov/bikeped/download/bikeped_laws_bikeway_act.pdf.
- 153 North Carolina Division of Transportation, Division of Bicycle and Pedestrian Transportation, "Bicycle and Bikeway Act of 1974," NCDOT Laws and Policies (November 13, 2009), www.ncdot.gov/bikeped/download/bikeped_laws_bikeway_act.pdf.
- 154 ChangeLab Solutions. Model Laws and Resolutions: Complete Streets, www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/laws-resolutions-cs.

- 155 Samuel Stein, "Bike Lanes and Gentrification: New York City's Shades of Green," Progressive Planning, Summer 2011, No. 188 at 34, www.plannersnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/07/PNmag_Summer_Stein.pdf.
- 156 See, e.g., Alex Baca, "Sometimes a Bike is Just a Bike: On the Symbolism and Politics of Bicycling in DC," Washington CityPaper (Aug. 19, 2011), www.washingtoncitypaper.com/articles/41367/the-symbolism-and-politics-of-bicycling-in-dc/full; Carolyn Szczepanski, "Guest Post: Who Does Biking Serve?" League of American Bicyclists (June 20, 2013), www.bikeleague.org/content/guest-post-who-does-biking-serve.
- 157 See Michael Anderson, "Race on Wheels: 4 Lessons for Green Lanes Amid Gentrification" (April 9, 2013)(discussing how Portland, Oregon, addressed these issues), http://greenlaneproject.org/blog/view/Race-on-wheels-4-lessons-for-green-lanes-amidgentrification; John Greenfield, "Bike Facilities Don't have to Be the White Lanes of Gentrification," (May 10, 2012) (discussing experience of Humboldt Park neighborhood in Chicago, III), www.readability.com/read?url=http%3A//gridchicago.com/2012/bikefacilities-dont-have-to-be-the-white-lanes-of-gentrification.
- 158 The American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) has increased its recommended width from four feet to five feet and may be going to a recommendation of six feet. For an explanation of bike lane widths needed to avoid door collisions, see Michael King, "Bicycle Facility Selection: A Comparison of Approaches," *Pedestrian & Bicycle Information Center, Chapel Hill*, NC (August 2002), *www.hsrc.unc.edu/pdf/2002/BicycleFacilitySelectionMKingetal2002.pdf*.
- 159 The San Francisco Municipal Transportation agency is currently drafting an Innovative Bicycle Treatment Toolbox which will include, among other things, door-zone bike lane treatments that demarcate the area of the bike lane that falls outside of the door zone. Aaron Bialick, "SFMTA Drafting Design Standards to Streamline Innovative Bike Treatments," SF.STREETSBLOG, May 11, 2002, http://sf.streetsblog.org/2012/05/11/sfmta-drafting-design-standards-to-streamline-innovative-bike-treatments.
- 160 The National Highway System includes the Interstate Highway System as well as other roads designated by the US DOT as important to the nation's economy, defense, and mobility, including principal arterial roads, and roads and highways that connect to major ports, airports, military installations, etc. US Department of Transportation, "National Highway System," *Federal Highway Administration* (June 26, 2013), *www.fhwa.dot.gov/planning/national_highway_system*. For additional information about the location of NHS roads, *see* California Department of Transportation, "MAP-21: Enhanced National Highway System," *http://dot.ca.gov/hg/tsip/hseb/map21nhs. html*. States have autonomy over their road design as spelled out in 23 USC. 109 (2013). American Road and Transportation Builders Association, "Highways," (March 2012), *www.artba.org/highways* ("While the NHS includes only four percent of the nation's existing highway mileage, it is the mileage that carries 44.7 percent of total vehicle-miles traveled in this country including 80 percent of all tourist travel and 75 percent of all heavy truck travel.").
- 161 American Road & Transportation Builders Association, "Highways," (March 2012), www.artba.org/highways. As noted above, any project involving the National Highway System must comply with federal road design guidelines. For any other road project which may involve federal funding, the US Department of Transportation will also typically require adherence to federal guidelines, although there may be some room for negotiation. Mary Ebeling, State Smart Transportation Initiative, conversation with author (3/15/13).
- 162 American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, *A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets* (Washington, DC: AASHTO, 6th ed., 2011).
- 163 Steven H. Burrington, "Restoring the Rule of Law and Respect for Communities in Transportation," NYU Environmental Law Journal 5 (1996): 691-733, 694, http://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/nyuev5&div=24&g_sent=1&collection=journals.
- 164 See, e.g., AASHTO, Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, at xliv, 100, 204, 390.
- 165 American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, *Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities*. (Washington, DC: AASHTO, 4th ed., 2012).
- 166 See, e.g., AASHTO, Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, Foreword.
- 167 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, http://nacto.org/cities-for-cycling/design-guide.
- 168 Peter Furth, "Bicycling Infrastructure for Mass Cycling: A Transatlantic Comparison," in City Cycling, ed. John Pucher and Ralph Buehler, 119.
- 169 With a few minor exceptions, the NACTO Bikeway Guide designs are permitted under the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), which provides a fairly mandatory national uniform standard for all traffic control devices, such as traffic lights and signals, street signs, pavement markings, gates, etc. See US Department of Transportation, "Bicycle Facilities and the Manual on Uniform Traffic Devices," Federal Highway Administration (January 8, 2013) www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/guidance/ design_guidance/mutcd_bike.cfm. See also NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, http://nacto.org/cities-for-cycling/design-guide. NACTO is planning to release a design guide aimed at streets generally, rather than bicycles in particular, in summer 2013. See Ben Fried, "NACTO Previews a Progressive Design Guide," SFSTREETSBLOG, October 25, 2012. www.streetsblog.org/2012/10/25/nactopreviews-a-progressive-design-guide-for-city-streets.
- 170 Robbie Webber, "Call for US DOT to Issue Its Own Standards to Cause A Stir," State Smart Transportation Initiative, March 11, 2013, www.ssti.us/2013/03/lahoods-call-for-u-s-dot-to-issue-standards-to-make-roadways-safer-for-non-motorized-users-causes-a-stir.
- 171 NACTO, Urban Bikeway Design Guide, http://nacto.org/cities-for-cycling/design-guide.
- 172 Local jurisdictions in urban areas should determine if their state's law authorizes them to adopt separate guidelines for local roads. If so, they can adopt the NACTO guidelines.
- 173 See, e.g., Los Angeles County, "Model Design Manual for Living Streets," www.modelstreetdesignmanual.com/index.html.

- 174 See, e.g., Katie Pearce "Green Land Project Spreads the Word About NACTO's Bikeway Design Guide." *DCSTREETSBLOG.ORG*, May 29, 2012, *http://dc.streetsblog.org/2012/05/29/nactos-bikeway-design-guide-gets-the-green-lane-treatment*; Ryan Lancaster, "Moses Lake Adopts Bikeway Guidelines," *Columbia Basin Herald*, February 26, 2012, *www.columbiabasinherald.com/news/article_6ddb1f72-5f10-11e1-9784-001871e3ce6c.html*.
- 175 See, e.g., Austin, Texas, City Council Resolution No. 20110804-023 (2011) (city council resolution approving the NACTO guidelines), www.austintexas.gov/edims/document.cfm?id=155825.
- 176 See, e.g., Atlanta Bicycle Coalition, "City of Atlanta Endorses NACTO's Urban Bikeway Design Guide," (n.d.) www.atlantabike.org/ node/2036. NACTO's website lists cities that have endorsed the guidelines, http://nacto.org/nacto-endorsement-campaign.
- 177 See Georgia Department of Transportation, "Design Manual, Chapter 9, Complete Streets Design Policy," (September 21, 2012): § 9.1.2, http://georgiabikes.org/images/stories/docs/gdot/gdot_complete_streets_design_policy_final.pdf; City of La Crosse, Wisconsin, "Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan," (Fall 2012), www.cityoflacrosse.org/index.aspx?NID=2553.
- 178 Annick Beaudet, Bicycle Program Manager, Austin, TX, correspondence with author, June 17, 2013.
- 179 US Department of Transportation, International Technology Scanning Program, "Pedestrian and Bicyclist Safety and Mobility in Europe," Federal Highway Administration (2010): 25-26, www.international.fhwa.dot.gov/pubs/pl10010/pl10010.pdf.
- 180 US DOT, "Safety and Mobility in Europe," 25-26, www.international.fhwa.dot.gov/pubs/pl10010/pl10010.pdf.
- 181 The Federal Highway Administration maintains a chart identifying the status of bicycle facilities under the MUTCD. See US Department of Transportation, "Bicycle Facilities and the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices," Federal Highway Administration, www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/guidance/design_guidance/mutcd_bike.cfm
- 182 Transportation Research Board, "Operational Guidance for Bicycle Specific Traffic Signals," Research Needs Statements (2011), http://rns.trb.org/dproject.asp?n=28136.
- 183 US Department of Transportation, "MUTCDs & Traffic Control Devices Information by State," Federal Highway Administration (August 2012), http://mutcd.fhwa.dot.gov/resources/state_info/index.htm.
- 184 See The Oregonian, "SB 130, Adds green, yellow and red bicycle signals and flashing yellow arrow signal to list of traffic control devices," http://gov.oregonlive.com/bill/2011/sb130; Mary Ebelin, "Increasing Bicycle Mode Share Leads to Growing Need for Bicycle-Specific Traffic Signals," State Smart Transportation Initiative News, December 11, 2012, www.ssti.us/2012/12/increasing-bicycle-mode-shareleads-to-growing-need-for-bicycle-specific-traffic-signals.
- 185 See US Department of Transportation, "MUTCD: Experimentations," Federal Highway Administration (August 2012), http://mutcd.fhwa. dot.gov/condexper.htm; Bicycling Info, "Signs and Markings," www.bicyclinginfo.org/engineering/markings.cfm.
- 186 See "Bicycle Traffic Signals Popping Up Around the Country," USA Today, news video (Dec. 12, 2012), www.usatoday.com/videos/news/ nation/2012/12/02/1738129.
- 187 See generally Bike Safe, "Bike Activated Signal," Bicycling Info, www.bicyclinginfo.org/bikesafe/countermeasure.cfm?CM_NUM=36; Modern Vespa, "Triggering Traffic Signals," http://modernvespa.com/forum/wiki-trafficsignals. While a few states have enacted laws allowing bicyclists to cross against the signal if they determine that it is a demand-actuated signal and it is safe to cross, such laws fail to address the underlying problem.
- 188 An important advantage of radar detectors is that they can distinguish between cars and bicycles, allowing jurisdictions to adjust traffic signal timing depending on whether a car or a bicycle is crossing. See The City of Pleasanton, "Intersector Bicycle Detection," www.ci.pleasanton.ca.us/services/traffic/intersector.html.
- 189 Cal. Veh. Code § 21450.5 (2007) (expires Jan. 1, 2018); Wash. Rev. Code § 47.36.025 (2009).
- 190 See The City of La Crosse, "Bicycle Friendly La Crosse," www.cityoflacrosse.org/index.aspx?nid=2544.
- 191 PedSafe, "Traffic Calming," www.walkinginfo.org/pedsafe/pedsafe_curb1.cfm?CM_NUM=-4.
- 192 PedSafe, "Traffic Calming," www.walkinginfo.org/pedsafe/pedsafe_curb1.cfm?CM_NUM=-4; Institute of Transportation Engineers, Traffic Calming: State of the Practice, August 1999, www.ite.org/traffic/tcstate.asp.
- 193 Safe Routes, "What Are Ways to Overcome Opposition to SRTS Programs?" www.saferoutesinfo.org/program-tools/what-are-waysovercome-opposition-srts-programs.
- 194 Institute of Transportation Engineers, Designing Walkable Urban Thoroughfares (Washington, DC: ITE, 2010): Chapter 9, Traveled Way Design Guidelines. www.ite.org/css/online/DWUT09.html; see, e.g., City of Monterey, "Neighborhood Traffic Calming Program," (January 15, 2013), www.monterey.org/Portals/1/traffic/TrafficCalmingProgram.pdf.
- 195 See, e.g., id.
- 196 US Department of Transportation, "Proven Safety Countermeasures: "Road Diet" (Roadway Reconfiguration)," Federal Highway Administration (FHWA-SA-12-013), http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/provencountermeasures/fhwa_sa_12_013.htm. See also, Steve Clark "It's Official - The FHWA Wants More Road Diets," Bike Walk Twin Cities, February 3, 2012, www.bikewalktwincities.org/news-events/news/ its-official-fhwa-wants-more-road-diets.

- 197 US DOT, "Proven Safety Countermeasures," http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/provencountermeasures/fhwa_sa_12_013.htm. See also, US Department of Transportation, "Spotlight on Proven Safety Countermeasures: Road Diet" Pedestrian Forum, Federal Highway Administration 59 (Fall 2012), http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/ped_bike/pedforum/2012/fall.
- 198 Also, in some instances, roadways may have been overbuilt for capacity that did not materialize. For example, a jurisdiction may have built a four-lane road with a center turn lane in anticipation of a development that did not occur. Where such over-capacity exists the road way can be reconfigured to provide room for bikeways.
- 199 Thomas Welch, "The Conversion of Four-Lane Undivided Roadways to Three-Lane Facilities," *Transportation Research Board, Circular E-C019: Urban Street Symposium* (1999): 6-11, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/circulars/ec019/Ec019_f4.pdf.
- 200 US DOT, "Proven Safety Countermeasures," http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/provencountermeasures/fhwa_sa_12_013.htm.
- 201 San Antonio, Tex., Unified Dev. Code Art. V., Div. 2, § 35-506(t) (2013).
- 202 Annick Beaudet, Bicycle Program Manager, City of Austin, TX, e-mail message, June 17, 2013 (on file with author).
- 203 Id.
- 204 US DOT, "Proven Safety Countermeasures," http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/provencountermeasures/fhwa_sa_12_013.htm. The FHWA also notes that by adding pedestrian and bicycle facilities, community stakeholders will be more likely to support these conversions.
- 205 US DOT, "Proven Safety Countermeasures," http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/provencountermeasures/fhwa_sa_12_013.htm.
- 206 US DOT, "Spotlight on Road Diet," http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/ped_bike/pedforum/2012/fall.
- 207 Case studies of road diet projects around the country are available online at Project for Public Spaces, "Rightsizing Streets," www.pps.org/reference/rightsizing.
- 208 City of Pasadena, "Road Diet FAQs," www.ci.pasadena.ca.us/Transportation/Road_Diet_FAQs.
- 209 See, e.g., Eric Jaffe, "The Transportation Planning Rule Every City Should Reform," The Atlantic Cities, December 5, 2011, www.theatlanticcities.com/commute/2011/12/transportation-planning-law-every-city-should-repeal/636; Wash. Rev. Code § 36.70a.070 (6)(a)(iii)(B)(Washington State Comprehensive plans – Mandatory elements), http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default. aspx?cite=36.70a.070. Washington State Department of Transportation, "Level of Service standards for Washington State Highways," (January 1, 2010), www.wsdot.wa.gov/NR/rdonlyres/6AF72388-2455-47B9-B72D-2BE9A89A0E19/0/LOSStandardsforWAHwys.pdf; West Melbourne,

Florida, "Goals, Objectives and Policies," Transportation Service Standards Element 1, www.westmelbourne.org/DocumentCenter/ Home/View/932.

- 210 See Smart Growth America, "The Innovative DOT: A Handbook of Policy and Practice" State Smart Transportation Initiative (September 2012): 79-83: Focus Area 4 (Increasing Transportation Efficiency: Reform Level of Service), www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/ uploads/2012/09/the-innovative-dot.pdf. See also Frederick C. Dock and Ellen Greenberg, "Multimodal and Complete Streets Performance Measures in Pasadena, California" *ITE Journal* (January 2012): 33, www.ite.org/membersonly/itejournal/pdf/2012/ JB12AA33.pdf ("The city's past practice of using LOS encouraged widening of streets and increasing traffic speeds, which has impacted pedestrians and bicyclists.").
- 211 Transportation Research Board, Highway Capacity Manual, (Washington, DC: TRB Publications, 5th ed., 2010).
- 212 City of Jacksonville, "2030 Mobility Plan," Planning and Development Department (May 2011): 74, www.coj.net/departments/planningand-development/docs/community-planning-division/2030-mobility-plan-final-may-2011-as-adopted.aspx.
- 213 City of Chico, California, "General Plan," (April 2011): 4-17–4-19, 4-2–4-23, www.chico.ca.us/document_library/general_plan/GeneralPlan. asp. See also Smart Growth, "The Innovative DOT" www.ssti.us/wp/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/the-innovative-dot.pdf.
- 214 Chico, "General Plan,": 4-11, www.chico.ca.us/document_library/general_plan/GeneralPlan.asp.
- 215 National Committee on Uniform Traffic Laws and Ordinances, *Uniform Vehicle Code*, (Alexandria, Va.: NCUTLO, 2000). See also, Bob Mionske, *Bicycling and the Law: Your Rights as a Cyclist*, (Boulder: VeloPress, 2007): 19.
- 216 NCUTLO, Uniform Vehicle Code: § 11-1202.
- 217 See National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, "Resource Guide On Laws Related to Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety," www.nhtsa.gov/people/injury/pedbimot/bike/resourceguide.
- 218 Id. at 19-20.
- 219 NCUTLO, Uniform Vehicle Code: § 11- 303 (2000) ("Overtaking a vehicle on the left").
- 220 NCUTLO, Uniform Vehicle Code: § 11-1202 ("Traffic laws apply to persons on bicycles and other human powered vehicles").
- 221 See, e.g., Velouria, "Cycling Without Fear," Lovely Bicycle, August 16, 2012, http://lovelybike.blogspot.com/2012/08/cycling-without-fear.html.
- 222 Gene Bisbee, "21 States Require Motorists Give Three Feet or More When Passing Cyclists," *Biking Bis Blog*, April 1, 2012, *www.bikingbis. com/2012/04/01/20-states-require-motorists-give-3-feet-or-more-when-passing-cyclists*. The 21 states are: Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Louisiana, Kansas, Maine, Maryland, Minnesota, Mississippi, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Utah and Wisconsin.

224 Id.

225 La. Rev. Stat. § 32:76.1 (2013).

- 226 See also Ross Hirsch, "First-of-its-kind Cyclist Anti-harassment Becomes Law in Los Angeles," LA. Streets Blog, September 27, 2011, http://la.streetsblog.org/2011/09/27/first-of-its-kind-cyclist-anti-harassment-becomes-law-in-los-angeles.
- 227 Los Angeles Ordinance No. 181817, http://clkrep.lacity.org/onlinedocs/2009/09-2895_ord_181817.pdf.
- 228 Trailnet, "Safe Streets Ordinance," http://trailnet.org/advocacy/policy; Aaron Bialick, "Berkeley Enacts Law to Protect Bicyclists From Driver Harassment," SF Streets Blog, February 21, 2012, http://sf.streetsblog.org/2012/02/21/berkeley-enacts-law-to-protectbicyclists-from-driver-harassment; Susie Cagle, "Laws Banning Harassment of Cyclists Spread Like a Wonderful Virus," Grist, February 20, 2013, http://grist.org/news/laws-banning-harassment-of-cyclists-spread-like-a-wonderful-virus; "Sonoma County Measure Protects Bicyclists from Harassment, California County News, March 13, 2013, http://californiacountynews.org/2013/03/sonomacounty-measure-protects-bicyclists-from-harassment.html.
- 229 Matthew Roth "Saving Life and Limb By Avoiding the Door Zone," SF STREETS BLOG, February 25, 2010, http://sf.streetsblog. org/2010/02/25/saving-life-and-limb-by-avoiding-the-door-zone. While data is not routinely compiled on dooring, available data indicates that it may be a significant issue. See, e.g., Alex Goldmark, "Data from Only State that Tracks Dooring Show Its (sic) Big Problem," Transportation Nation, September 28, 2012, http://transportationnation.org/2012/09/28/data-from-only-state-thattracks-dooring-show-its-big-problem; City of Boston, "Cyclist Safety Report," (Draft, 5/13/2013): 17, www.cityofboston.gov/news/ uploads/16776_49_15_27.pdf (study of bicycle crashes over four year period (in cases where cause was reported) showed 18% involved dooring).
- 230 Another strategy for taxicabs is installing special passenger mirror that is designed to encourage passengers to check for bicyclists before opening a street-side doors. Some taxicabs in San Francisco have just begun featuring such mirrors. See Andrew Sarkarati, "New Cabs Come Equipped with Passenger Mirrors to Check for Cyclists Prior to Egress," *Mission Mission, January 9, 2013, www.missionmission.org/2013/01/09/new-cabs-come-equipped-with-passenger-mirrors-to-check-for-cyclists-prior-to-egress; see also Kristen Lombardi, "A Dangerous & Now Deadly Bicycle Policy: A Host of Good Intentions, But a Lack of Common Sense." The Phoenix.com, August 1–8, 2002, www.bostonphoenix.com/boston/news_features/top/features/documents/02379848.htm (discussing danger of creating bike paths without regard for door zone).*
- 231 NCUTLO, Uniform Vehicle Code: § 11-1105 (2000).
- 232 Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 90, § 14 (2013) ("No person shall open a door on a motor vehicle unless it is reasonably safe to do so without interfering with the movement of other traffic, including bicyclists and pedestrians").
- 233 See Chi., II. Mun. Code, tit. 9 §§ 9-4-010-9-60-010, http://chicago.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=1424497&GUID=3B66E88E-2D36-4EBC-B5C8-6012A18F3986&Options=Advanced&Search (providing link to text of ordinance).
- 234 City of Chicago, "'Look' Transportation Safety Sticker for Taxicabs," *Department of Business Affairs and Consumer Protection* (June 4, 2013, https://www.cityofchicago.org/content/dam/city/depts/bacp/publicvehicleinfo/taxiindustrynotices/publicvehiclenotice13029. pdf.
- 235 For example, a review of police accident reports for a particular intersection in Cambridge, MA found that "most of the accidents [involving bicycles at the intersection] involved drivers making right turns colliding with bicyclists because they did not see them." Maggie Irons, "Accidents Common at Cambridge Intersection," Boston Globe, January 9, 2012, www.boston.com/yourtown/cambridge/ articles/2012/01/09/bicyclists_motorists_pedestrians_make_dangerous_mix_at_massachusetts_avenue_and_vassar_street_in_ cambridge.
- 236 Delaware Valley Regional Planning Commission, "Pedestrian and Bicycle Friendly Policies, Practices, and Ordinances," (November 2011): 45, www.dvrpc.org/reports/11019.pdf.
- 237 Mass. Gen. Laws, ch. 90, § 14 (2013), www.malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/Partl/TitleXIV/Chapter90/Section14.
- 238 Or. Rev. Stat. § 811.360 (2013).
- 239 Cal. Veh. Code § 21209 (2013).
- 240 "Cyclist Protest Video Becomes Online Hit," Daily Telegraph (London), June 10, 2011, www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/ northamerica/usa/8567492/Cyclist-protest-video-becomes-online-hit.html.
- 241 N.Y. City Traf. R. and Regs. §§ 4-08(e)(9) (designating bike lanes as no stopping zones), 4-08(f)(1) (delivery truck exception) (2013).
- 242 Long Beach, Miss., Ordinances § 564 (2013).
- 243 Cal. Veh. Code § 21211 (2013).
- 244 See Bicycling Info, "Training Law Enforcers," www.bicyclinginfo.org/enforcement/training.cfm.
- 245 See National Highway Traffic Safety Association, "Guideline No. 14: Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety," Uniform Guidelines For State Highway Safety Programs, www.nhtsa.gov/nhtsa/whatsup/TEA21/tea21programs/402Guide.html#g14.

- 246 See National Highway Traffic Safety Association, "Working to Reduce Deaths and Injuries," Enforcement and Justice Services, www.nhtsa.gov/Driving+Safety/Enforcement+&+Justice+Services# (providing links to a "Law Enforcement's Role Call Video on 'Enforcing Law for Bicyclists,'" and a CD ROM training on "Enhancing Bicycle Safety: Law Enforcement's Role.") See also We Bike, "Continuum of Training in Pedestrian and Bicycle Safety for Law Enforcement," http://webike.org/services/enforcement/continuum-oftraining (offering bicycle safety education for police officers).
- 247 Bicycling Info, "Training Law Enforcers," www.bicyclinginfo.org/enforcement/training.cfm.
- 248 Mass. Gen. Laws., ch. 90, § 14. (2013), www.malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/Partl/TitleXIV/Chapter90/Section14.
- 249 Cal. Veh. Code § 21211(b) (2013).
- 250 Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 6, § 116E; See "Rep. Khan Announces Bicyclist Safety Bill Signed by Governor Patrick," (2009), www.kaykhan.org/index.cfm/page/Rep.-Khan-Announces-Bicyclist-Safety-Bill-Signed-by-Governor-Patrick/cdid/10362/pid/10234.
- 251 See City of Fort Collins, Colorado, "Bicycle Safety Education Plan," *Department of Transportation Planning* (2011): 30, *www.fcgov.com/transportationplanning/pdf/besp-doc.pdf*. See also City of Fort Collins, Colorado, "Bicycle Safety Education Plan: Summary," (2011) *www.fcgov.com/transportationplanning/pdf/bsep-summary-doc.pdf*.
- 252 See, e.g., City of New York, "The New York City Bicycle Survey: A Report Based on the Online Public Opinion Questionnaire Conducted for Bike Month 2006," *Department of City Planning* (2006) *www.nyc.gov/html/dcp/pdf/transportation/bike_survey.pdf*. (Reporting that 51% of respondents cited the lack of safe bicycle storage facilities as the most important reason for not commuting to work by bicycle.) See also, City of New York, "New York City Bicycle Parking Needs," *Department of City Planning* (1999), *www.nyc.gov/html/ dcp/pdf/transportation/td_fullbicycleparking.pdf*.
- 253 Eric Jaffe, "The Hidden Factor in Bike Commuting: Showers," The Atlantic Cities, July 20, 2012, www.theatlanticcities.com/ commute/2012/07/hidden-factor-bike-commuting-showers/2650.
- 254 See Kelly Clifton, et al., "Examining Consumer Behavior and Travel Choices," Oregon Transportation Research and Education Consortium (February 2013) http://otrec.us/project/411; see also Badger, "Cyclists Spending More," www.theatlanticcities.com/ commute/2012/12/cyclists-and-pedestrians-can-end-spending-more-each-month-drivers/4066.
- 255 See Marin County Bicycle Coalition, "Economic Benefits of Bicycling," www.marinbike.org/Resources/EconomicBenefitsOfBicycling. pdf.
- 256 Durango Area Tourism Office, "Durango Bike Shops & Amenities," www.durango.org/info/activities/bike_amenities.aspx.
- 257 See, e.g., "Bike Corral." Chicago Bicycle Program, www.chicagobikes.org/bikecorrals.php.
- 258 A survey undertaken in April 2002 identified over 140 cities in 24 states, plus the District of Columbia, that have bicycle parking requirements. See Paul Schimek, "Bike Parking Requirements in North American Cities," *MassPaths* (April 22, 2002), *www.masspaths. net/resources/parking/parkcomp1.htm*. Many more such ordinances have been enacted since 2002. See also Doug Mink, "Bicycle Parking," *MassPaths*, (August 12, 2005), *www.masspaths.net/resources/parking*.
- 259 Short term bicycle parking is generally understood to refer to bicycle parking that is needed for three hours or less and is not protected from the weather. Long term bicycle parking is generally understood to refer to bicycle parking that is needed for more than three hours and is fully protected from the weather. ChangeLab Solutions, "Model Bike Parking Ordinance," (October 2012), *www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/bike-parking*.
- 260 See ChangeLab Solutions, "Model Bike Parking Ordinance," (October 2012), www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/bike-parking. (A model ordinance tailored to California is also available. ChangeLab Solutions, California Model Bike Parking Ordinance, www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/CA-bike-parking.)
- 261 Clev. Zoning Code § 457.10., http://planning.city.cleveland.oh.us/zoning/pdf/45710BicycleParking.pdf. San Francisco, CA also requires bicycle parking in parking garages but does not make it a license condition, making enforcement more difficult. S.F. Plan. Code § 155.2, www.sfmta.com/cms/bpark/3834.html (Bicycle Parking Required In City-Owned Parking Garages And Privately Owned Parking Garages.)
- 262 See ChangeLab Solutions, "Model Bike Parking Ordinance," (October 2012), www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/bike-parking. (A model ordinance tailored to California is also available. ChangeLab Solutions, California Model Bike Parking Ordinance, www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/CA-bike-parking.)
- 263 Tim Reuscher, Federal Highway Administration, email message to author, March, 15, 2013 (on file with author) (providing data showing that 41.6% of work trips are 5 miles or less); see also US Department of Transportation, "2009 National Household Travel Survey," *Federal Highway Administration*, http://htts.ornl.gov (providing raw data available for analysis).
- 264 N.Y. City, Local Law No. 52 (codified at N.Y. City, Administrative Code §§ 28-504.1 28-504.8 (2013)). See also City of New York, "Bikes in Buildings," *Department of Transportation* (2013), www.nyc.gov/html/dot/html/bicyclists/bikesinbuildings.shtml.
- 265 S.F., Cal., Ordinance No. 46-12 (March 13, 2012) (codified at S.F., Cal., Environment Code §§ 400, 402 (2013)), www.sfbos.org/ftp/ uploadedfiles/bdsupvrs/ordinances12/o0046-12.pdf.
- 266 See ChangeLab Solutions, "Model Bike Parking Ordinance," (October 2012), www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/bike-parking.
- 267 City of Chicago, "Bike 2015 Plan," Mayor's Bicycle Advisory Council (January 2006): 17, www.bike2015plan.org/pdf/bike2015plan.pdf.

268 Washington, DC, "Bicycle Commuter and Parking Expansion Act of 2007," www.dcbac.org/legislation/bike_park_act_2007.pdf.

- 269 Abigail Meisel, "40 Miles to Work, on a Bike," New York Times, January 25, 2013, www.nytimes.com/2013/01/27/nyregion/commuting-40-miles-to-work-on-a-bike-with-thermals-and-fleece.html?pagewanted=1&_r=4&emc=eta1.
- 270 LEED, "New Construction Requirement SSc4.2: Alternative transportation bicycle storage and changing rooms," US Green Building Council, (v.2009), http://new.usgbc.org/node/1731996?view=language.
- 271 See "Public Policies Adopting or Referencing LEED," US Green Building Council, www.usgbc.org.
- 272 See id.
- 273 Such standards are provided in ChangeLab Solutions' model bicycle parking ordinance. ChangeLab Solutions, "Model Bike Parking Ordinance," www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/bike-parking.
- 274 H.B. 1826, 2007 Sess. (Va. 2007). http://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?071+ful+HB1826.
- 275 Todd Litman and Rowan Steele, "Land Use Impacts on Transport: How Land Use Factors Affect Travel Behavior," Victoria Transport Policy Institute, Victoria, B.C. (July 6, 2012): 31, www.vtpi.org/landtravel.pdf.
- 276 Carolyn Szczepanski, "The Last Mile: How Bike-Ped Improvements Can Connect People to Transit," DC STREETS BLOG, October 18, 2011, http://dc.streetsblog.org/2011/10/18/the-last-mile-how-bike-ped-improvements-can-connect-people-to-transit.
- 277 Los Angeles County, "Bicycle Transportation Strategic Plan," Metropolitan Transportation Authority (2006): 2, www.metro.net/projects_studies/bikeway_planning/images/BTSP.pdf.
- 278 49 USC. § 5319 ("A project to provide access for bicycles to public transportation facilities, to provide shelters and parking facilities for bicycles in or around public transportation facilities, or to install equipment for transporting bicycles on public transportation vehicles is a capital project eligible for Assistance.") http://uscodebeta.house.gov/view.xhtml?req=granuleid:USC-prelim-title49-section5319&num=0&edition=prelim.
- 279 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles and Transit: A Synthesis of Transit Practice," TCRP Synthesis 62 (2005): 12, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf.
- 280 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles," 11, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf.
- 281 Id.
- 282 Id. at 25.
- 283 Id. at 30-31.
- 284 Bay Area Rapid Transit, "Commute Period Bike Restrictions Modified for Extended Trial," Bikes on Bart, www.bart.gov/guide/bikes/index.aspx.
- 285 See Bay Area Rapid Transit, "Modeling Access to Transit," BART Bicycle Plan (July 2012), www.bart.gov/docs/BART_Bike_Plan_ Final_083012.pdf.
- 286 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles," 32-33, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf.
- 287 Bay Area Rapid Transit, "BART Announces Second Test for Bikes on BART During Commute Hours," BART News, February 13, 2013, www.bart.gov/guide/bikes/index.aspx.
- 288 Id. at 34.
- 289 A bike locker is a lockable enclosure that holds one bicycle and provides secure protection from theft and weather. One benefit of bike lockers and bike stations is the protection they provide for not just the frame but also a bike's components, some of which are merely clipped to the bike and very susceptible to theft.
- 290 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles," 38–39, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf.
- 291 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles," 34–36, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf.
- 292 See Public Building Commission of Chicago, "Daley Opens New Millennium Park Bicycle Station," PBC Press Releases, July 19, 2004, www.pbcchicago.com/content/about/press_detail.asp?pID=153.
- 293 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles," 40, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf.
- 294 Transit Access Committee, "RTD Transit Access Guidelines," Denver Regional Transportation District (January 2009):§ 2.4, www3.rtddenver.com/content/Eagle/VOLUME_3_-_REFERENCE_DATA/Transit%20Access%20Guidelines%20Final,%20Jan%202009.pdf.
- 295 Transportation Research Board, "Integration of Bicycles," 16, http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_syn_62.pdf. See also, e.g., Colorado Center Bicycle/Pedestrian Bridge: Final Report On the Selected Bridge Location and Design. City of Denver, April 1, 2012, www.denvergov.org/Portals/485/documents/Colostation/FinalProjectReportCOpedbikebridge.pdf.

- 296 Bay Area Rapid Transit, "Modeling Access to Transit," *BART Bicycle Plan* (July 2012), *www.bart.gov/docs/BART_Bike_Plan_Final_083012.pdf*. See also Robert Cervero, Benjamin Caldwell, and Jesus Cuellar, "Bike-and-Ride: Build It and They Will Come," *Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Berkeley* (Working Paper December 2012), *http://its.berkeley.edu/publications/UCB/2012/VWP/UCB-ITS-VWP-2012-5.pdf* (based on data from BART stations).
- 297 Id. at 43.
- 298 One experiment in Toronto, Canada, for example, showed that only 21 of 159 bicyclists came to a full stop at a stop sign. See, Dave Feschuck, "Do Cyclists Need to Stop at a Stop Sign?" *The Star*, Aug. 2, 2009, *www.thestar.com/news/gta/2009/08/02/do_cyclists_ need_to_stop_at_a_stop_sign.html*; Joel Fajans and Melanie Curry, "Why Bicyclists Hate Stop Signs," Access 18 (Spring 2001): 20–22, *www.sfbike.org/download/bike_law/why_bikes_hate_stops.pdf*.
- 299 Ryan McCann, e-mail message to author, June 24, 2013 (on file with author); see also Michael Roberts, "Cycling: Should Denver consider a yield-stop law?" Denver Westword, February 12, 2013, http://blogs.westword.com/latestword/2013/02/cycling_denver_yield_stop_law. php.
- 300 Idaho Code Ann. § 49-720.
- 301 Jason Meggs, "Bicycle 'Stop and Yield' Laws Support Public Health Laws," University of California, Berkeley, School of Public Health (March 26, 2009), http://biketothefuture.org/attachments/0000/1207/oregonlaw_meggs.pdf.
- 302 Idaho Code Ann. §49-720.
- 303 See Summit County Ordinance 9-D (2012-9), www.co.summit.co.us/DocumentCenter/View/1332; Town of Dillon Municipal Code Sec. 8-5-20, www.townofdillon.com/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=2060; Town of Breckenridge Municipal Code, 7-1-2-1412(12), www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/index.php?book_id=878. Summit County and Dillon both have stop as yield laws; Breckenridge also treats red lights similarly.

304 San Francisco's Green Wave. http://sf.streetsblog.org/2011/01/06/green-wave-becomes-permanent-on-valencia-street.

305 Id.

306 Bob Mionske, "Making Better Laws," Bicycling, September 1, 2009, http://bicycling.com/blogs/roadrights/2009/09/01/making-better-laws.

307 The Qualified Bicycle Commuting Reimbursement was created under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008.

308 26 USC. § 132(f)(5)(F) (2013).

309 Id.

- 310 The statute specifies that the reimbursement covers "reasonable expenses incurred by the employee ... for the purchase of a bicycle and bicycle improvements, repair, and storage, if such bicycle is regularly used for travel between the employee's residence and place of employment." 26 USC. § 132(f)(5)(F) (2013). The bicycle must be "regularly used for travel between the employee's residence and place of employment." *Id.* Only an employee who "regularly uses the bicycle for a substantial portion of the travel between the employee's residence and place of employment" may participate in the program. *Id.*
- 311 The League of American Bicyclists, "Statutory construction and various questions regarding provisions of 26 USC. §132 pertaining to the Qualified Bicycle Commuting Reimbursement," Memorandum, June 9, 2009. www.bikeleague.org/sites/bikeleague.org/files/ bikeleague/bikeleague.org/news/pdfs/memo_qualified_bicycle_commuting_reimbursement.pdf.
- 312 Washington State Department of Transportation, "CTR Overview," (2013), www.wsdot.wa.gov/Transit/CTR/overview.htm#role.

- 314 See City of Portland, "Portland Bicycle Plan for 2030," *Bureau of Transportation* (adopted February 11, 2010): 99 Part 4.1.6 *www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/article/289122*. Rate is from 2009.
- 315 Buehler, "Determinants of Bicycle Commuting," 525–531, http://katana.hsrc.unc.edu/cms/downloads/ DeterminantsofBicycleCommuting.pdf.
- 316 Cal. Health & Safety Code § 43845. For additional information, see California Energy Commission, "Parking Pricing," Energy Aware Planning Guide, http://puff.lbl.gov/transportation/transportation/energy-aware/energyaware-l-2-1.html.
- 317 Donald Shoup, "Evaluating the Effects of Parking Cash out: Eight Case Studies," California Air Resources Board, (Septmeber 1997): 5, www.arb.ca.gov/research/single-project.php?row_id=55468.
- 318 See Austin Resolution No. 20121213-062 (Dec. 13, 2012), http://austintexas.gov/edims/document.cfm?id=181527. See also Commute Solutions, "Parking Management," www.commutesolutions.com/commuter-resources/parking-management for information on parking cash-out in Austin, TX. For more information about parking cash-out see US Environmental Protection Agency, "Parking Cash Out: Implementing Commuter Benefits as one of the Nation's Best Workplaces for Commuters," Office of Air and Radiation (March 2005), www.bestworkplaces.org/pdf/ParkingCashout_07.pdf. The Madison Area Transportation Planning Board also provides information about how to set up a voluntary parking cash-out on its website, "Parking Cash Out," www.madisonareampo.org/rideshare/ ParkingCashOUt.cfm.

- 319 Comptroller of Maryland, Maryland Income Tax Administrative Release No. 36, http://taxes.marylandtaxes.com/Resource_Library/ Tax_Publications/Administrative_Releases/Income_and_Estate_Tax_Releases/ar_it36.pdf; Environmental Protection Agency, "Parking Cash Out," Best Workplaces for Commuters, 14 www.bestworkplaces.org/pdf/ParkingCashout_07.pdf.
- 320 California Department of Transportation, "Private Vehicle Use," Division of Accounting (2013), www.dot.ca.gov/hq/asc/travel/ ch11/9priv_car.htm.
- 321 See Commute Solutions, "The True Cost of Driving," Santa Cruz County Regional Transportation Commission (February 2010), http://commutesolutions.org/external/tcod.html
- 322 Gas taxes pay for less than half of the costs of building and maintaining roads. "Gasoline Taxes and Tolls Pay for Only a Third of State & Local Road Spending," *Tax Foundation*, January 17, 2013, http://taxfoundation.org/article/gasoline-taxes-and-tolls-pay-only-thirdstate-local-road-spending; Federal Highway Administration, Office of Highway Policy Information, "Our Nation's Highways: Funding and Expenditures," Highway Finance Data Collection (2011), www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/pubs/hf/pl11028/chapter6.cfm.
- 323 For a comprehensive guide on how cities can make changes (from small to major) to their zoning laws to promote mixed use/higher density/walkability and bikeability see Kevin Nelson, "Essential Smart Growth Fixes for Urban and Suburban Zoning Codes," US Environmental Protection Agency (November 2009), www.epa.gov/dced/pdf/2009_essential_fixes.pdf. See also US Environmental Protection Agency, "Examples of Codes that Support Smart Growth Development," Smart Growth Program, (October 30, 2012), www.epa.gov/dced/codeexamples.htm.
- 324 US Environmental Protection Agency, "Smart Growth and Economic Success: Benefits for Real Estate Developers, Investors, Businesses, and Local Governments," Smart Growth Program (2012): i, 12, www.epa.gov/livability/pdf/economic_success.pdf.
- 325 St. Lucie County, Fla., Land Dev. Code ch.3, § 3.01.03.EE.2.e(1)(2013).
- 326 Aurora, Colo., Building and Zoning Code ch. 146, art. 7, div. 6, § 146-728(C) (2013).
- 327 San Diego, Cal., Mun. Code ch. 13, art. 2, div. 11, § 132.1107(a) (20013).
- 328 See Form-Based Codes Institute, "What Are Form-Based Codes," www.formbasedcodes.org/what-are-form-based-codes. See also Center for Applied Transect Studies, "SmartCode Version 9.2.," www.smartcodecentral.org.
- 329 Leander, Tex., Ordinance No. 05-018 (2013) ("Composite Zoning Ordinance"), www.leandertx.org/pdfs/ CompositeZoningOrdinance02.02.2012.pdf; Fitchburg, Wis., Code of Ordinances ch. 23 (2013) ("Smartcode District"), www.city.fitchburg. wi.us/departments/cityHall/planning/PlanningZoningOrdinances.php; Arlington County, Va., Zoning Ordinance § 20 (2012) ("Columbia Pike Form Based Code Districts"), http://building.arlingtonva.us/resource/zoning-ordinance-table-of-contents/aczosection20.
- 330 See Sustainable Cities Institute of the National League of Cities, "Transit-Oriented Development Overlay District Model Ordinance," www.sustainablecitiesinstitute.org/view/page.basic/legislation/feature.legislation/Model_Ordinance_Overaly%20District_TOD.
- 331 See Shruti Vaidyanathan and Eric Mackres, "Improving Travel Efficiency at the Local Level: An ACEEE Policy Toolkit," American Council for Energy-Efficient Economy, Report No. T121 (November 2012): 10, www.aceee.org/sites/default/files/publications/researchreports/t121. pdf; Sustainable Cities Institute of the National League of Cities, "Model Policies and Legislation: Transit Oriented Development," www.sustainablecitiesinstitute.org/view/page.basic/legislation/tag.subtopic/Subtopic_Transit_Oriented_Development.
- 332 Mary Ebeling, "SSTI Survey of State and Local Transportation Revenue Sources," State Smart Transportation Institute (2013): 44, www.ssti.us/2012/10/ssti-report-on-state-and-local-transportation-revenue-sources-ssti-2012.
- 333 City of Jacksonville, "2030 Mobility Plan," *Planning and Development Department* (May 2011): 74, www.coj.net/departments/planningand-development/docs/community-planning-division/2030-mobility-plan-final-may-2011-as-adopted.aspx.
- 334 See Shruti Vaidyanathan and Eric Mackres, "Improving Travel Efficiency at the Local Level: An ACEEE Policy Toolkit," *American Council for Energy-Efficient Economy*, Report No. T121 (November 2012): 10, *www.aceee.org/sites/default/files/publications/researchreports/t121.pdf*; Arlington County, Va., Zoning Ordinance § 20(E)(2) (2012) ("Columbia Pike Form Based Code Districts"), *http://building.arlingtonva.us/resource/zoning-ordinance-table-of-contents/aczosection20*.
- 335 Vancouver, Wash., Municipal Code § 20.550.050(D) (2013), www.cityofvancouver.us/MunicipalCode.asp?menuid=10462&submenuID=1 0478&title=title_20&chapter=550&VMC=050.html.
- 336 West Jordan, Utah, City Code § 13-5J-5 (2013) ("Permitted Density and Incentive Bonuses"), www.sterlingcodifiers.com/codebook/ index.php?book_id=680.
- 337 Marysville, Wash., Municipal Code §§ 22C.090.030(5)(2)(c), 22C.090.030(5)(10)(a), 22C.090.040(2)(b) (2013), www.codepublishing. com/wa/marysville.
- 338 Front Royal, Va., Municipal (Zoning) Code § 175-37.09 (2013) ("Density Bonuses"), www.frontroyalva.com/CodeMaster/ Chapter_175/37.09.html.
- 339 Walton County, Fla., Land Development Code § 5.03.04(1)(H) (2013), www.co.walton.fl.us/DocumentCenter/Home/View/3204.
- 340 Kaid Benfield, "Living Smart and Well in a '20-Minute Neighborhood," Switchboard: Natural Resources Defense Council Staff Blog, October 27, 2009, http://switchboard.nrdc.org/blogs/kbenfield/to_live_smart_and_well_choose.html.
- 341 Nathan McNeil, "Bikeability and the Twenty Minute Neighborhood," *Transportation Research Record* 2247 (2011): 53-63. At 10 mph, a bicycle covers 3.3 miles in 20 minutes.

- 342 City of Portland, "Portland Bicycle Plan for 2030," Bureau of Transportation (adopted February 11, 2010): 22, www.portlandoregon.gov/ transportation/article/289122.
- 343 Dill and McNeil, "Types of Cyclist," 19, http://web.pdx.edu/~jdill/Types_of_Cyclists_PSUWorkingPaper.pdf.
- 344 "Most Interesting People 2013," Cleveland Magazine (January 2013), quoting Jacob VanSickel, Bike Cleveland, Executive Director, http:// clevelandmagazine.com/ME2/dirmod.asp?sid=E73ABD6180B44874871A91F6BA5C249C&nm=Article+Archives&type=Publishing& mod=Publications%3A%3AArticle&mid=1578600D80804596A222593669321019&tier=4&id=C991DB7EED0841249BF90D7974B EBE49.
- 345 Santa Clara Valley Transportation Authority, "Santa Clara Countywide Bicycle Plan, Chapter 8-3," (October 2000), www.vta.org/projects/bike_plan/Chapter_8_Bicycle_Promotion_and_Education.pdf
- 346 "Most Interesting People 2013," Cleveland Magazine, http://clevelandmagazine.com/ME2/dirmod.asp?sid=E73ABD6180B44874871A9 1F6BA5C249C&nm=Article+Archives&type=Publishing&mod=Publications%3A%3AArticle&mid=1578600D80804596A22259366 9321019&tier=4&id=C991DB7EED0841249BF90D7974BEBE49.
- 347 Carolyn Szczepanski , "Women's Forum Recap: Jenna Burton on Creating Black Bike Culture," *League of American Bicyclist*, March 20, 2013, http://blog.bikeleague.org/content/womens-forum-recap-jenna-burton-creating-black-bike-culture.
- 348 See, e.g., New York City Transportation Alternatives, *www.transalt.org*; BikeWalk Mississippi *www.bikewalkmississippi.org* (winner of Alliance for Walking and Biking 2013 Advocacy Organization of the Year), San Francisco Bike Coalition, *www.sfbike.org*; Bike Texas, *www.biketexas.org* (winner of Alliance for Walking and Biking 2012 Innovation Award).
- 349 University of Florida, "High School Bike 'n 'Ped for Driver Ed Curriculum, *Florida Traffic and Bicycle Safety Education Program* (January 17, 2013), http://legacy.hhp.ufl.edu/safety/driver-curriculum.shtml.
- 350 Minn. Stat. c. 169 § 21(d). https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/?id=169.21; H.B. 2564, 60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wa. 2008). http://apps. leg.wa.gov/documents/billdocs/2007-08/Pdf/Bills/House%20Passed%20Legislature/2564.PL.pdf; See Douglas Shinkle and Anne Teigen, "Encouraging Bicycling and Walking: The State Legislative Role," National Conference of State Legislatures (2008): 52, Section 2, www.bikesbelong.org/assets/documents/uploads/NCSL_Encouraging_Bicycling_Walking_1.pdf.
- 351 Lauren Ober, "How A Minority Biking Group Raises The Profile Of Cycling," *National Public Radio*, July 1, 2013, www.npr.org/blogs/ codeswitch/2013/07/01/197416434/minority-cyclists-black-women-bike.
- 352 Sophie Egan, "Bike Sharing Can Mean Safer Biking," New York Times, June 13, 2013, http://well.blogs.nytimes.com/2013/06/13/bikesharing-can-mean-safer-biking.
- 353 H.B. 2564, 60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wa. 2008), http://apps.leg.wa.gov/documents/billdocs/2007-08/Pdf/Bills/House%20Passed%20 Legislature/2564.PL.pdf.
- 354 See, e.g., California Department of Motor Vehicles, "California Driver Handbook," State of California (2011), www.dmv.ca.gov/pubs/hdbk/ shr_slow_veh.htm; Driver's License Examining Bureau, "Kansas Driving Handbook" State of Kansas (2013): 24, www.ksrevenue.org/pdf/ dlhb.pdf
- 355 Shinkle and Teigen, "Encouraging Bicycling and Walking: The State Legislative Role," 52, Appendices F, G, www.bikesbelong.org/assets/ documents/uploads/NCSL_Encouraging_Bicycling_Walking_1.pdf.
- 356 California Department of Motor Vehicles, "Sample Class C Written Test 5, Question 7," State of California (2011), http://dmv.ca.gov/pubs/ interactive/tdrive/clc6written.htm.
- 357 Meghan Winters, Angie Weddell, and Kay Teschke, "Is Evidence in Practice? A Review of Driver and Cyclist Education Materials with Respect to Cycling Safety Evidence," *Transportation Research Record, Journal of the Transportation Research Board* (2013): 11, http://cyclingincities-spph.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2011/10/WintersEducationTRB2013.pdf.
- 358 Winters, Weddell, and Teschke, "Is Evidence in Practice?" 18, http://cyclingincities-spph.sites.olt.ubc.ca/files/2011/10/ WintersEducationTRB2013.pdf.
- 359 Cheryl Allen-Munley, Janice Daniel, and Sunil Dhar, "Urban Bicycle Route Safety Rating Logistic Model," *Transportation Research Board* (2004): 8–9 www.enhancements.org/download/trb/trb2004/TRB2004-000375.pdf. Marilyn Johnson et al., "Naturalistic Cycling Study: Identifying Risk Factors for On-Road Commuter Cyclists," Annals of Advancement in Automotive Medicine 54 (January 2010): 275–283 at Table 2 and discussion, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3242541.
- 360 San Francisco Bicycle Coalition, "Frequent Driver Education: Making Streets Safer for Everyone," www.sfbike.org/?drivertraining.
- 361 H.B. 1129, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wa. 2011)(enacted), http://apps.leg.wa.gov/documents/billdocs/2011-12/Pdf/Bills/House%20 Passed%20Legislature/1129.PL.pdf.
- 362 See Bike Traffic School, "Community Traffic Safety Coalition of Santa Cruz County," www.sctrafficsafety.org/BikeTrafficSchool.htm.
- 363 See Austin Cycling Association, "Defensive Cycling," www.austincycling.org/education/classes/defensive_cycling; The Center for Cycling Education, "Defensive Cycling," http://thecce.org/defensive-cycling; City of Austin, Texas, Municipal Court, "Deferred Disposition Request," http://austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/Municipal_Court/bicycledd__6-7-13_.pdf.
- 364 See City of Tucson, Arizona, "Diversion Programs," http://cms3.tucsonaz.gov/prosecutor/diversion.

- 365 See Pima County, Arizona, "Bicycle Diversion Program," http://jp.co.pima.az.us/BikeDiversionProgram.htm.
- 366 Rachel Gordon, "Cyclist Enforcement Pledged in S.F. Safety Program," San Francisco Chronicle, September 29, 2012, www.sfgate.com/ bayarea/article/Cyclist-enforcement-pledged-in-S-F-safety-program-3473192.php.
- 367 Howard Lazarus, Director of the Public Works Department for the City of Austin, Texas, Memorandum to Robert Goode, Assistant City Manager, April 8, 2011 (on file with author).
- 368 Handy, Heinen, and Krizek, "Cycling in Small Cities," in *City Cycling*, 281. The United Kingdom has launched a new school based biking education program and is investing substantial government resources in it. United Kingdom, Bikeability, Cycling Proficiency for the 21st Century: Schools" *Department of Transport* (2013), *www.dft.gov.uk/bikeability/schools*.
- 369 N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 115C-81(e1)(1)(m).
- 370 California State Board of Education, "Health Education Content Standards for California Public Schools Kindergarten Through Grade Twelve," (March 2008), www.cde.ca.gov/be/st/ss/documents/healthstandmarO8.pdf; Cal. Educ. Code § 51210.8.; Bicycling Info, "FHWA Good Practices Guide for Bicycle Safety Education," www.bicyclinginfo.org/education/resource/bestguidedoc.html ("[T]he California Department of Education requires bicycle safety and injury prevention education in the schools. BLAST is currently well supported by [Los Angeles Unified School District] teachers and administrators because it addresses this requirement.").
- 371 In Oregon, Alameda County, CA, and New York City, NY, for example, elementary schools partner with non-profits to provide bicycling and bicycle education. See, e.g., J. David Goodman, "In Schools, a Push to Pedal," New York Times, April 30, 2011, http://cityroom.blogs. nytimes.com/2011/04/30/in-schools-a-push-to-pedal; Oregon Bicycle Transportation Alliance, Walk+Bike Education Programs, http://btaoregon.org/get-involved/walkbike-education/#studenteducation.
- 372 See Boulder Valley School District, "BLAST: Bike Lesson and Safety Training," www.bvsd.org/transportation/toschool/blast/Pages/ default.aspx; See Boulder Valley School District, "BLAST: Information for PE Teachers," www.bvsd.org/transportation/toschool/blast/ peTeachers/Pages/default.aspx.
- 373 See Olmsted County Public Health Services, "Bike Safety Rolls into Physical Education Classes," Minnesota Department of Health, www.health.state.mn.us/divs/oshii/docs/cppwolmstedbikeeducation.pdf; see also Mark Peterson, "Thanks to County Grants, Schools Will Offer Bicycling," Stewartville Star, May 9, 2011, http://thinkstewartville.com/main.asp?SectionID=7&SubSectionID=18&Articl eID=4763.
- 374 See also City of Fort Collins, Colorado, "Bicycle Safety Education Plan: Summary," (2011) www.fcgov.com/transportationplanning/pdf/ bsep-summary-doc.pdf.
- 375 Safe Routes, "The Florida Traffic and Bicycle Safety Education Program (FTBSEP)," www.saferoutesinfo.org/program-tools/floridatraffic-and-bicycle-safety-education-program-ftbsep; Bicycle Safety, "Safe Routes for Kids: Bicycle Safety Program Curriculum," www.walknbike.org/bike-safety; Oregon Bicycle Transportation Alliance, Walk+Bike Education and Teacher Training programs, http://btaoregon.org/get-involved/walkbike-education/#more-25146.
- 376 Certain public schools in Olmsted County, MN are including bicycle maintenance in industrial technology classes. See Olmsted County Public Health Services, "Bike Safety in Physical Education Classes," www.health.state.mn.us/divs/oshii/docs/ cppwolmstedbikeeducation.pdf.
- 377 City of Portland, "Portland Bicycle Plan for 2030," Bureau of Transportation (adopted February 11, 2010): 96-97 www.portlandoregon. gov/transportation/article/289122.
- 378 The League of American Cyclists, "Become An Instructor: What's a League Cycling Instuctor?" www.bikeleague.org/content/becomeinstructor.
- 379 See, e.g., Open Streets Project, "About the Project," Alliance for Biking and Walking, http://openstreetsproject.org/about; Pucher and Buehler, "Promoting Cycling for Daily Travel: Conclusions and Lessons from Across the Globe," in City Cycling; Daniel Wood, "On the Rise in American Cities: the Car-free Zone," The Christian Science Monitor, May 2, 2007, www.csmonitor.com/2007/0502/ p01s03-ussc.html. See also City of Madison, "Ride the Drive," www.cityofmadison.com/parks/ridethedrive; City of Austin, "Viva Streets, Austin," www.vivastreetsaustin.org; Alliance, "Benchmarking Report," 124 www.peoplepoweredmovement.org/site/index.php/site/ memberservices/2012_benchmarking_report.
- 380 Sheila Kalas, "Get Heatlhy (sic) with Kentucky's Second Sunday Exercise Program," *Examiner*, March 7, 2010, *www.examiner.com/ article/get-heatlhy-with-kentucky-s-second-sunday-exercise-program*; "Second Sunday Kentucky, 2009 Lexington Event," *www. youtube.com/watch?v=Gf9DXIGOQj4&feature=player_embedded#*
- 381 Wichita, KS for example held a 2-day "better block" event as part of its Bicycle Plan. See Team Better Block, "Wichita Better Block.
- 382 Larry Ehl, "Emerging Trend: Bicycle Friendly Business Districts," *Transportation Issues Daily*, September 8, 2012, *www.transportationissuesdaily.com/emerging-trend-bicycle-friendly-business-districts*.
- 383 April Economides "Bike-Friendly Business Districts," *Transportation Issues Daily*, September 8, 2012, *www.transportationissuesdaily*. *com/emerging-trend-bicycle-friendly-business-districts*.

385 Ehl, "Emerging Trend", www.transportationissuesdaily.com/emerging-trend-bicycle-friendly-business-districts.

- 387 John Del Signore, "NYC's First 'Bike Friendly Business District' Opens In East Village And LES," Gothamist, September 21, 2012, http://gothamist.com/2012/09/21/nycs_first_bike_friendly_business_d.php
- 388 See Ehl, "Emerging Trend," www.transportationissuesdaily.com/emerging-trend-bicycle-friendly-business-districts.
- 389 Safe Routes to School National Partnership, "What is Safe Routes to School? Background and Statistics," www.saferoutespartnership. org/sites/default/files/pdf/What-is-SRST-factsheet-REVISED-06-14-11-w-footnotes.pdf.
- 390 Additional information about SRTS is available from the Safe Routes to School National Partnership, at *www.saferoutespartnership.org*, and the National Center for Safe Routes to School, at *www.saferoutesinfo.org*.
- 391 See Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users. H.R. 3, 109th Cong. (2005) (enacted); Margo Pedroso, "Safe Routes to School: Helping Communities Save Lives and Dollars: Policy Report 2011," Safe Routes to School National Partnership (2011), www.saferoutespartnership.org/media/file/SRTSNP-2011-Policy-Report.pdf. Participating schools are eligible for federal funding for safety and traffic improvements near the school. Id.
- 392 Kelly Tyrell, "Children Who Walk or Bike to School Perform Better on Tests, Studies Find," *The News Journal*, February 19, 2013, www.sussexoutdoors.org/shopnews.asp?type=Children%20Who%20Walk%20or%20Bike%20to%20School%20Perform%20 Better%20on%20Tests,%20Studies%20Find.
- 393 Dann Vinther, "Children Who Walk to School Concentrate Better," Science Nordic, November 30, 2012, http://sciencenordic.com/ children-who-walk-school-concentrate-better.
- 394 See ChangeLab Solutions, "Smart School Siting: How School Locations Can Make Students Healthier & Communities Stronger" National Policy and Legal Analysis Network to Prevent Childhood Obesity (2012), www.changelabsolutions.org/sites/default/files/ Smart_School_Siting_FactSheet_FINAL_%28CLS-20120530%29_20120312_0.pdf; Sara Zimmerman, "Location Matters: What School Siting Means for Children's Health." HealthyCal.org, January 4, 2012, www.healthycal.org/archives/7004.
- 395 The League of American Bicyclists, "Getting Started: National Bike Month Guide," (2013): 4, www.bikeleague.org/sites/bikeleague.org/ files/bikeleague/bikeleague.org/programs/bikemonth/pdf/guide_redesign_2013.pdf.
- 396 Missouri, House Concurrent Resolution No. 35, 94th General Assembly, www.house.mo.gov/billtracking/bills081/biltxt/intro/HCR00351.htm
- 397 See, e.g., City of Fort Worth, Texas, "Bike to Work Day," http://fortworthtexas.gov/bikefw/biketowork.
- 398 See State of New Jersey, "National Bike Month Is About to Roll into Town," Department of Transportation (2011), www.state.nj.us/transportation/about/press/2011/documents/WBN512011-1_NationalBikeMonth.pdf.
- 399 See City of Boulder, Colorado, Green Lifestyle, www.bouldercoloradousa.com/about-boulder/green-lifestyle.
- 400 City of Austin, Texas, "Bike 2 Work," Austin Cycling Association (2013), http://biketoworkaustin.org.
- 401 The League of American Bicyclists, "Getting Started: National Bike Month Guide," (2013): 4, www.bikeleague.org/sites/bikeleague.org/ files/bikeleague/bikeleague.org/programs/bikemonth/pdf/guide_redesign_2013.pdf.
- 402 See Timothy Meinch, "More Law Enforcement Agencies Hopping on Bikes," *Des Moines Register*, June 3, 2013, *www.desmoinesregister*. *com/article/20130603/NEWS01/306030030/More-law-enforcement-agencies-hopping-bikes?nclick_check=1*; Kathleen Vonk, "Training and Policy," *International Police Mountain Bike Association, www.ipmba.org/newsletter-0006-training.htm*.
- 403 "Bicycle Enforcement: Training Tools," International Police Mountain Bike Association (2005), www.ipmba.org/newsletter-0509enforcement.htm.
- 404 City of Collierville, Tennessee, "General Order to Establish a Bicycle Patrol Unit," Collierville Police Department (1999), www.mtas. tennessee.edu/Knowledgebase.nsf/0/397FBD0BE5AC33D2852572EB00552956/\$FILE/Police%20Bike%20Patrol%20Policy.pdf.
- 405 City of El Cerrito, "Bicycle Patrol Program," http://el-cerrito.org/index.aspx?NID=246.
- 406 See City of Anacortes, Washington, "Anacortes Police Bicycle Patrol," www.cityofanacortes.org/police/BicyclePatrol/index.asp.
- 407 See City of Tucson, Arizona, "Bicycle Patrol," http://cms3.tucsonaz.gov/police/bikes.
- 408 City of Rockhill, S.C., www.cityofrockhill.com/index.aspx?page=161; Riverwalk, "Riverwalk is An Active Community Bringing Family Recreation and World Class Competition," www.riverwalkcarolinas.com/cyclingoutdoors/rock-hill-outdoor-center; see also, City of Boulder, Colorado, "Valmont Bike Park," www.bouldercolorado.gov/index.php?option=com_content&id=2410&Itemid=4890.
- 409 Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center (hereinafter, PBIC), "Bike Sharing in the United States: State of the Practice and Guide to Implementation," US Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration (2012): 12, www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf.
- 410 See PBIC, "Bike Sharing," www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf (summary of different bike share business models).

- 411 In Austin, Texas, for example, the 2009 update to the City of Austin Bicycle Master Plan included an action item to launch a bike share program. See City of Austin, TX, "2020 Bicycle Plan Update," *Department of Public Works* (June 2009): XI, *www.austintexas.gov/sites/ default/files/files/Public_Works/2009_bicyclemasterplan.pdf* (at page). In 2011, consistent with this policy, Austin secured a 1.5 million dollar federal grant and the program is set to launch in December 2013 with approximately 400 bicycle and 40 kiosks. See Bettie Cross, "Austin Bike Share Program Rolls Forward," *KEYE TV*, June 19, 2013, *www.keyetv.com/news/features/top-stories/stories/austin-bike-share-program-rolls-forward-9321.shtml?wap=0*.
- 412 Bicycling Info, "List of Municipalities and Institutions with Bike Sharing Programs," www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/Bike_Share_ Programs_4-12-13.pdf. See also Pucher et. al., "Cycling in Megacities: London, Paris, New York, and Tokyo," in City Cycling.
- 413 *Id.* LDA Consulting, "Capital Bikeshare 2012 Member Survey Report: Executive Summary," (May 15, 2013): 3, 8, *http://capitalbikeshare.com/assets/pdf/cabi-2012surveyreport-execsum-5-15-13-revtitle.pdf*.
- 414 New York City Bike Share, "Citi Bike Is Here," May 28, 2013, http://a841-tfpweb.nyc.gov/bikeshare.
- 415 LDA Consulting, "Capital Bikeshare 2012 Member Survey Report: Executive Summary," (May 15, 2013): 3, http://capitalbikeshare.com/ assets/pdf/cabi-2012surveyreport-execsum-5-15-13-revtitle.pdf.
- 416 PBIC, "Bike Sharing," 27, www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf.
- 417 Darren Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access to Public Bikesharing Systems," *Virginia Tech School of Public and International Affairs, Master of Urban and Regional Planning Candidate* (December 22, 2012), *https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/ finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf* (discussing study by Susan Shaheen et al.); see also Julia Bergman, "Inclusivity a Big Hurdle for Bike Share Programs," Axis Philly, May 7, 2013, http://axisphilly.org/article/the-big-hurdle-for-bike-share-programs-inclusivity.
- 418 John Greenfield, "Bike Share, Not White Share: Can Chicago's program achieve diversity?" *Grid Chicago*, November 22, 2012, http://gridchicago.com/2012/bike-share-not-white-share-can-chicagos-program-achieve-diversity.
- 419 PBIC, "Bike Sharing," 27, www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf; Bergman, "Inclusivity for Bike Share Programs," http://axisphilly.org/article/the-big-hurdle-for-bike-share-programs-inclusivity; Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access," 19–20, https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf. For a summary, see Darren Buck, "Bike Sharing Systems Seek to Reach Underrepresented Groups," Greater Greater Washington, January 13, 2013, http://greatergreaterwashington.org/ post/17321/bike-sharing-systems-push-to-reach-underrepresented-groups.
- 420 PBIC, "Bike Sharing," 27, www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf.; see also Capital Bikeshare, "Capital Bikeshare Launches Bank on DC Partnership," December 16, 2011, www.capitalbikeshare.com/news/2011/12/16/1140 (discussing Washington, DC's BankonDC program which provides for a low-cost, non-credit card alternative).
- 421 Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access," 23, 67, https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf.
- 422 Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access," https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf.
- 423 Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access," 19, https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf.
- 424 Bikeshare equity issues are further addressed in Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access," https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress. com/2013/01/finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf.
- 425 Sahra Sulaiman, Streetblog LA, conversation with author (June 28, 2013).
- 426 Buck "Encouraging Equitable Access," 24-25, https://bikepedantic.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/finalcapstonedbuckpdf.pdf.
- 427 PBIC, "Bike Sharing," 14, *www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf*. Lovejoy and Handy, "Developments in Bicycle Equipment and Its Role in Promoting Cycling as a Travel Mode," in *City Cycling*. Three-wheeled bikes can also provide seniors with more stability.
- 428 PBIC, "Bike Sharing," 52, *www.bicyclinginfo.org/promote/bikeshareintheus.pdf*. Bicycle share programs work best when they are implemented in conjunction with encouragement, safety, and education programs, including bicycling safety skills classes, helmet promotions, and awareness campaigns. *Id.* at 27. To date, bike share programs have not required that bicycle riders wear helmets. While helmet use is preferable from a public health standpoint, a mandatory helmet requirement would pose significant logistical and other enforcement difficulties, and may discourage potential riders who either prefer not to wear a helmet or interpret the helmet requirement as a signal that bicycling is an especially dangerous activity to be avoided. Solutions to these obstacles will hopefully emerge in the future. In the meantime, the overall health benefits of such programs appear to outweigh the risks.
- 429 US Department of Transportation, "Exploring Bicycle Options for Federal Lands: Bike Sharing, Rentals and Employee Fleets," *Federal Highway Administration* (January 2012), www.wfl.fhwa.dot.gov/programs/td/publications/documents/bicycle-options.pdf
- 430 Ben Epperson, Knox County Health Department, conversation with author, March 28, 2013.
- 431 Jolinda Marshall, "Last Mile: Bike Share," MetroBlog, April 22, 2011, http://capmetroblog.com/2011/04/22/last-mile-bike-share.
- 432 Argonne National Laboratory, "Bike Share Program and Bike to Work Resources," *Department of Energy* (2013), *https://blogs.anl.gov/bike*. Wilbur Smith Associates, "Berkeley Bicycle Plan," *City of Berkeley, Transportation Division* (1998) *www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/uploadedFiles/Public_Works/Level_3_-_Transportation/berkeley%20bike%20plan.pdf*.
- 433 Tim Harlow, "Bike Sharing Program Looks to Keep Momentum Going," *Star Tribune*, April 8, 2013, *www.startribune.com/local/201853911.html* (internal brackets and attribution omitted).

- 434 Moriah Balingit, "Bike Sharing Could Come to Pittsburgh," Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, March 12, 2013, www.post-gazette.com/stories/ local/neighborhoods-city/bike-sharing-could-come-to-pittsburgh-678940.
- 435 Ben Epperson, Knox County Health Department, conversation with author, March 28, 2013.
- 436 See Kelly Wharton, "Cyber Cyclists Mozilla's Employee Bike Share," Momentum Mag, July 19, 2012. http://momentummag.com/ articles/cyber-cyclists-mozilla-employee-bike-share.
- 437 See Christine Fry, Lisa Chen, and Samantha Graff, *Putting Business to Work for Health*, ChangeLab Solutions, 2012, *www.changelabsolutions.org/sites/default/files/documents/Incentives_FINAL_20120514.pdf*.
- 438 See Jennifer Maloney, "Islip Launches Bike Giveaway Program," Long Island Newsday, September 28, 2010, www.newsday.com/isliplaunches-bike-giveaway-program-1.2322306.
- 439 See, e.g., Bicycling Info, "Chain Reaction: Boston's First Mobile, After School Bike Shop and Training Center," www.bicyclinginfo. org/library/details.cfm?id=4781; "The Hub Opens in Long Beach," Bicycle Retailer, April 8, 2010, www.bicycleretailer.com/opinionanalysis/2010/04/08/hub-opens-long-beach#.UdQoufmkqs4; Oakland, California's "The Bikery," http://thebikery.weebly.com; Emily Vetting, "No Gas Required - Promoting Non-Motorized Transportation in Sheboygan County," The Review, January 11, 2011, www.plymouth-review.com/news/2011-01-11/Opinion/No_gas_required_promoting_nonmotorized_transporta.html, (describing Sheboygan County, WI's "ReBike" program); "Austin's Yellow Bike Project," http://austinyellowbike.org/sp/about.
- 440 Sahra Sulaiman, Streetblog, conversation with author (June 28, 2013).
- 441 "Long Beach Eliminates Bike Registration Law that Dealt Steep Fines," Los Angeles Times, February 9, 2011, http://latimesblogs.latimes. com/lanow/2011/02/long-beach-eliminates-bike-registration-law-that-dealt-steep-fines.html.
- 442 "Iola Repeals Mandatory Bicycle Registration Law," Kansas Cyclist, January 16, 2013, www.kansascyclist.com/news/2013/01/ iola-repeals-mandatory-bicycle-registration-law. Cleveland, Ohio, Ordinance 672-12 (June 8, 2012) (repealing Cleveland, Ohio, Code of Ordinances § 473.11, which required a bicycle license), http://bikecleveland.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Ord.-672-Bicycle-Transportation-Safety.pdf.
- 443 See, e.g., Teresa Masterson, "NJ Lawmaker Pulls Mandatory Bicycle License Plan," NBC10 Philadelphia, January 13, 2011, www.nbcphiladelphia.com/news/local/Mandatory-Bicycle-License-Plates-in-NJ-113445139.html.
- 444 See, e.g., "Bicycle Licensing an Expensive Pain, Does Little Good, Staff Report," Ottawa Citizen, January 13, 2012, http://blogs. ottawacitizen.com/2012/01/13/bicycle-licensing-an-expensive-pain-does-little-good-staff-report (outlining the benefits and challenges of bicycle licensing).
- 445 Examples of national on-line bike registries include Bike Shepherd (*www.bikeshepherd.org*) and the National Bike Registry (*www.nationalbikeregistry.com*).
- 446 See ChangeLab Solutions' "Backing Off Bike Bans: The Legal Risks of Banning Bicycling to School," www.changelabsolutions.org/ publications/bicycling-to-school.
- 447 P. Solomon Banda, "Casino City Bans Riding Bikes Through Town," *NBC News*, June 17, 2010, *www.msnbc.msn.com/id/37768244/ns/ us_news-life/#.UP3pr2f3yJA* (quoting the city manager that the city council "believe their actions are what's best for it[]s citizens in Black Hawk, which are casinos and their patrons.")
- 448 See Jason Blevins, "Bicyclists Want to Derail Black Hawk's Ban," Denver Post, June 15, 2010, www.denverpost.com/frontpage/ ci_15298056, see also "Bicyclists and Tourist Boycott Black Hawk Colorado." Facebook (last visited February 11, 2013), https://www.facebook.com/pages/Bicyclists-and-Tourist-Boycott-Black-Hawk-Colorado/100329136684035.
- 449 Webb et al. v. City of Black Hawk, No. 11SC536, 2013 WL 442882 (Colo. Feb. 4, 2013).
- 450 Banda, "Casino City Bans Riding Bikes," www.msnbc.msn.com/id/37768244/ns/us_news-life/#.UP3pr2f3yJA.
- 451 See generally Pucher and Buehler, ed., City Cycling; see also Handy, Heinen, and Krizek, "Cycling in Small Cities," in City Cycling, 266-67.
- 452 The bicycle plan can also include a history of bicycling in the community. As noted in Chapter One, many American cities once had a vibrant bicycling community that included bicycle social clubs and bicycle racetracks (called velodromes).
- 453 See, e.g., Peter Lagerwey, "Creating a RoadMap for Producing & Implementing a Bicycle Master Plan," *National Center for Bicycling and Walking and Active Living Resource Center* (June 10, 2009), www.bikewalk.org/pdfs/BMP_RoadMap.pdf. The Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center maintains the www.bicyclinginfo.org website, which provides background information and a range of sample plans, and the North Carolina Department of Transportation has produced a "Template for Bicycle and Pedestrian Plans," https://connect. ncdot.gov/municipalities/PlanningGrant/Documents/Full%20Template%20for%20Bicycle%20and%20Pedestrian%20Plans.pdf; Reuben Collins, "Assessing the Current Landscape of Municipal Bicycle Plans," The Grid Pad (June 29, 2012), www.thegridpad.com/ index.php/2012/06/assessing-the-current-landscape-of-municipal-bicycle-plans.
- 454 Association of Pedestrian and Bicycle Professionals, *www.apbp.org*, maintains a directory of consultants. See Association of Pedestrian and Bicycle Professionals, "APBP Consultant & Supplier Directory," *www.bikepedsrtspro.org/index.php?option=com_sobi2&Itemid=59*.

- 455 See, e.g., City of La Crosse, Wisconsin, "Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan" (Fall 2012) (acknowledgments), www.cityoflacrosse.org/ DocumentCenter/View/7152; City of Eugene, Oregon, "Pedestrian and Bicycle Master Plan" (March 2012) (acknowledgments), www.centrallanertsp.org/sites/default/files/Eugene%20PBMP%20Final%20small.pdf; City of Austin, Texas, "2020 Bicycle Plan Update," Department of Public Works (June 2009) (acknowledgments), http://austintexas.gov/sites/default/files/files/ Public_Works/2009_bicyclemasterplan.pdf. See also Bikes Belong Foundation, www.bikesbelong.org/grants.
- 456 For an overview of the assistance provided to the City of Hoboken to develop its Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan, see City of Hoboken, "Bicycle & Pedestrian Plan," www.hobokennj.org/departments/transportation-parking/bikepedplan.
- 457 See, e.g., Todd Litman, "Introduction to Multi-Modal Transportation Planning: Principles and Practices," *Victoria Transport Policy Institute* (December 10, 2012), *www.vtpi.org/multimodal_planning.pdf*; City of Evanston, Illinois, "Multi-Modal Transportation Plan" *T.Y. Lin, Internation, Inc.* (April 2009), *www.cityofevanston.org/pdf/EvanstonMulti-ModalTransportationPlan.pdf*; City of Wadsworth, Ohio, "Multi-Modal Transportation Plan," *URS Corporation* (2009), *www.noaca.org/wadsworthtransplan.pdf*.
- 458 See Angie Schmidt, "Finally Getting Serious About Measuring How Much People Walk and Bike," *DC Streetsblog*, December 13, 2012, http://dc.streetsblog.org/2012/12/13/finally-getting-serious-about-determining-how-many-people-bike-and-walk.
- 459 See also Sherry Ryan and Greg Lindsey, "Counting Bicyclists and Pedestrians to Inform Transportation Planning," Active Living Research, University of California San Diego, Research Brief (February 2013), www.activelivingresearch.org/bikepedcounts. The San Diego Association of Governments operates the largest regional automatic bicycle and pedestrian counting system in the country. The data is used to support building infrastructure. See Tom Fudge, "Counting Bike Trips Could Get More People to Pedal," KPBS News, December 19, 2012, www.kpbs.org/news/2012/dec/19/counting-bike-trips-could-make-them-more-common.
- 460 City of La Crosse, Wisconsin, "Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan" (Fall 2012), www.cityoflacrosse.org/index.aspx?NID=2553.
- 461 County of Sheboygan, Wisconsin, "Sheboygan County Pedestrian & Bicycle Comprehensive Plan 2035," (September 25, 2007), www.sheboygancounty.com/home/showdocument?id=466.
- 462 Massachusetts Department of Transportation, "GreenDOT Implementation Plan," (December 12, 2012) 60-63, www.massdot.state. ma.us/GreenDOT/GreenDOT/ImplementationPlan.aspx.

- 464 Massachusetts Department of Transportation , "GreenDOT Policy Directive, Policy P-10-002," (June 2, 2010): 3, www.massdot.state. ma.us/portals/0/docs/P-10-002.pdf.
- 465 See Bicycling Info, "Sample Bicycle Plans," www.bicyclinginfo.org/develop/sample-plans.cfm.
- 466 Laura Wagner, "Using Health Impact Assessments to Evaluate Bicycle and Pedestrian Plans," *Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center White Paper Series* (January 2013), www.bicyclinginfo.org/library/details.cfm?id=4780.
- 467 Annick Beaudet, Bicycle Program Manager, City of Austin, TX, e-mail message, June 17, 2013 (on file with author). See also City of Austin, Texas, "Imagine Austin: The Way Forward," http://austintexas.gov/imagineaustin.
- 468 For a comprehensive overview of traditional and non-traditional funding sources, see Ebeling, "SSTI Survey Revenue Sources," www.ssti.us/2012/10/ssti-report-on-state-and-local-transportation-revenue-sources-ssti-2012. See also National Governors Association (NGA) Center for Best Practices, "Innovative State Transportation Funding and Financing Policy Options for States," (2008), www.nga.org/files/live/sites/NGA/files/pdf/0901TRANSPORTATIONFUNDING.PDF.
- 469 The most recent legislation, titled the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act ("MAP-21") applies to fiscal years 2013 and 2014. Though MAP-21 significantly cut funding for biking and walking programs from the previous transportation bill, the program continues to provide \$808 million for biking and walking. There are numerous resources that provide detailed information about MAP-21 and how it can fund bicycle friendly projects. See Advocacy Advance, "Navigating MAP-21: The Route to Federal Funding for Your Community," League of American Bicyclists, www.advocacyadvance.org/site_images/content/Navigating_MAP21_toolkit_FINAL_revised_9-23.pdf); Georgia Gann et al., "Making the Most of MAP-21: A Guide to the 2012 Federal Transportation Law And How to Use it for Positive Change in Your Community," Transportation America, http://t4america.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/MAP-21-Handbook-Web.pdf.
- 470 See Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users, Pub. L. No. 109-59, § 1404, 119 Stat. 1143, 1228 (2005); Pedroso, "Safe Routes to School," www.saferoutespartnership.org/media/file/SRTSNP-2011-Policy-Report.pdf.
- 471 US Department of Transportation, "Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21): A Summary of Highway Provisions," Federal Highway Administration (July 17, 2012), www.fhwa.dot.gov/MAP21/summaryinfo.cfm.
- 472 US Department of Transportation, "Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) Guidance," *Federal Highway Administration* (June 10, 2013), www.fhwa.dot.gov/map21/guidance/guidetap.cfm.
- 473 See Advocacy Advance, "Surface Transportation Program: An Advocate's Guide to Process and Participation in Funding Decisions," League of American Bicyclists, www.advocacyadvance.org/site_images/content/STP_flow_chart.pdf.
- 474 Georgia Gann et al., "Making the Most of MAP-21: A Guide to the 2012 Federal Transportation Law And How to Use it for Positive Change in Your Community," *Transportation America*, <u>http://t4america.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/MAP-21-Handbook-Web.pdf</u>. Importantly, MAP-21 requires, for the first time, that states, under the HSIP, collect better data on crashes for all road users, including bicyclists and pedestrians and use the data to prioritize safety projects. *Id.* at 27.

- 475 Advocacy Advance, "Highway Safety Improvement Program," League of American Bicyclists, www.advocacyadvance.org/docs/ highway_safety_improvement_program.pdf
- 476 See US Department of Transportation, "Use of Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) Improvement Program Funds for Bicycle and Pedestrian Projects," *Federal Highway Administration, www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_pedestrian/guidance/cmaqfunds. cfm. See also* Advocacy Advance, "Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality(CMAQ) Improvement Program," *League of American Bicyclists, www.advocacyadvance.org/docs/lab_cmaq.pdf*; Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center, "How Do I Tap Into CMAQ Funding for My Bicycle/Pedestrian Project?" *www.walkinginfo.org/faqs/answer.cfm?id=4274*; "Mayor pushes funds to boost bicycling," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, February 7, 2013, *www.post-gazette.com/stories/local/neighborhoods-city/mayor-pushes-funds-to-boost-bicycling-673749*.
- 477 Furth, "Bicycling Infrastructure for Mass Cycling: A Transatlantic Comparison," in City Cycling, 134.
- 478 625 III. Comp. Stat. 5-2-119(b), 20 III. Comp. Stat. 805/805-420.
- 479 See "Bikeways," New Jersey Department of Transportation (October 4, 2012), www.state.nj.us/transportation/business/localaid/ bikewaysf.shtm.

480 AB 1475; AB 57.

- 481 Advocacy Advance, "About Advocacy Advance," www.advocacyadvance.org/about.
- 482 Advocacy Advance, "Find It Fund It Table, League of American Bicyclists, www.advocacyadvance.org/site_images/content/ Find_It_Fund_It_Chart_Final.pdf.
- 483 San Francisco County Transportation Authority, "Proposition K," www.sfcta.org/content/view/347/198. A summary of the Expenditure Plan for the Proposition K funds is available at: www.sfcta.org/images/stories/Programming/propk/Expenditure_Plan_ Summary_013112.pdf.
- 484 See City of Austin, Texas, "Mopac Bicycle And Pedestrian Bridge Project," *Public Works Department* (June 28, 2012), *www.austintexas. gov/mopac-bicycle-and-pedestrian-bridge* (discussing the Barton Creek Bicycle Bridge Project scheduled for completion in 2015).
- 485 For additional general information and resources, see Ebeling, "SSTI Survey of Revenue Sources," www.ssti.us/2012/10/ssti-report-onstate-and-local-transportation-revenue-sources-ssti-2012. See also Shinkle and Teigen "Encouraging Bicycling and Walking," 13–24, Appendix A, www.bikesbelong.org/assets/documents/uploads/NCSL_Encouraging_Bicycling_Walking_1.pdf. See also Pedestrian and Bicycle Information Center, "Government Funding Sources," www.bicyclinginfo.org/funding/sources-government.cfm. State Departments of Transportation can also be contacted for additional information.
- 486 Bay Area Air Quality Management District, "Transportation Fund for Clear Air," www.baaqmd.gov/Divisions/Strategic-Incentives/ Funding-Sources/TFCA.aspx.
- 487 Oregon Jobs and Transportation Act, ch. 865, Oregon Laws 2009. See also Oregon Department of Transportation, "Jobs and Transportation Act Overview," www.oregon.gov/ODOT/pages/jta_overview.aspx.
- 488 Safe Routes to School, "Fine-Based Mechanisms: Local Models and State Recommendations," www.saferoutespartnership.org/state/ bestpractices/finebasedfunding. See also National Center for Safe Routes to School, "Portland, Oregon: Friendly Competition Creates Enthusiasm," www.saferoutesinfo.org/data-central/success-stories/portland-oregon-friendly-competition-creates-enthusiasm.
- 489 San Francisco County Transportation Authority "Proposition K," www.sfcta.org/content/view/347/198. A summary of the Expenditure Plan for the Proposition K funds is available at: www.sfcta.org/images/stories/Programming/propk/Expenditure_Plan_ Summary_013112.pdf.
- 490 Colorado Springs, Colo., Code §§ 2.11.101 2.11.109 (2013).
- 491 City of Colorado Springs, "Annual Budget: 2013," (October 1, 2012): 2-7, www.springsgov.com/units/budget/2013/Prelim/2013Colorado SpringsBudget-10-01-2013.pdf.
- 492 Ebeling, "SSTI Survey Revenue Sources," 28, www.ssti.us/2012/10/ssti-report-on-state-and-local-transportation-revenuesources-ssti-2012. See also NGA, "Innovative State Transportation Funding," www.nga.org/files/live/sites/NGA/files/ pdf/0901TRANSPORTATIONFUNDING.PDF.
- 493 Ebeling, "SSTI Survey Revenue Sources," 28, www.ssti.us/2012/10/ssti-report-on-state-and-local-transportation-revenue-sourcesssti-2012.
- 494 Ebeling, "SSTI Survey Revenue Sources," 28–29, www.ssti.us/2012/10/ssti-report-on-state-and-local-transportation-revenue-sourcesssti-2012.
- 495 NGA, "Innovative State Transportation Funding," www.nga.org/files/live/sites/NGA/files/pdf/0901TRANSPORTATIONFUNDING.PDF.
- 496 City of Jacksonville, "2030 Mobility Plan," Planning and Development Department (May 2011): 74, www.coj.net/departments/ planning-and-development/docs/community-planning-division/2030-mobility-plan-final-may-2011-as-adopted.aspx. See also, City of Jacksonville, "2030 Mobility Plan (Powerpoint Presentation)," Planning and Development Department (April 2010), www.coj. net/departments/planning-and-development/docs/community-planning-division/2030-mobility-plan-presentation-4-15-10.aspx; Jacksonville, "2030 Mobility Plan," www.coj.net/departments/planning-and-development/docs/community-planning-division/2030mobility-plan-final-may-2011-as-adopted.aspx.

- 498 West Jordan, Utah, City Code § 89-3-1106; Marysville, Wash., Marysville Municipal Code § 19.26.030(5)(2) & (10); Vancouver, Wash., Vancouver Municipal Code § 20.550.050(D).
- 499 Annick Beaudet, Bicycle Program Manager, City of Austin, TX, e-mail message, June 17, 2013 (on file with author).
- 500 See, e.g., Bikes Belong Foundation, "Bikes Belong Grant Program: Connecting Communities, One Bike Project at a Time," www.bikesbelong.org/grants/; Rails to Trails Conservancy, "Acquisition: Financing/Funding," www.railstotrails.org/ourwork/trailbuilding/ toolbox/informationsummaries/funding_financing.html#privat
- 501 City of Austin, Texas, "On-Street Parking Modification Guidelines," *Bicycle Program, Public Works Department,* http://bicycleaustin.info/ref/2007-10-16%20Parking%20Modification%20Guidelines.odt.

This tool was developed with support from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Users of this document should be aware that every funding source has different requirements governing the appropriate use of their funds. Under US law, no federal funds are permitted to be used for lobbying or to influence, directly or indirectly, specific pieces of pending or proposed legislation at the federal, state, or local levels. Organizations should consult appropriate legal counsel to ensure compliance with all rules, regulations, and restriction of any funding sources.

ChangeLab Solutions is a nonprofit organization that provides legal information on matters relating to public health. The legal information in this document does not constitute legal advice or legal representation. For legal advice, readers should consult a lawyer in their state.

© 2013 ChangeLab Solutions

